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PREFACE

This is the forty-ninth volume of issuances (1 — 497) of the Nuclear Regulatory
Commission and its Atomic Safety and Licensing Boards, Administrative
Law Judges, and Office Directors. It covers the period from January 1, 1999, to
June 30, 1999.

Atomic Safety and Licensing Boards are authorized by Section 191 of the
Atomic Energy Act of 1954. These Boards, comprised of three members conduct
adjudicatory hearings on applications to construct and operate nuclear power
plants and related facilities and issue initial decisions which, subject to internal
review and appellate procedures, become the final Commission action with
respect to those applications. Boards are drawn from the Atomic Safety and
Licensing Board Panel, comprised of lawyers, nuclear physicists and engineers,
environmentalists, chemists, and economists. The Atomic Energy Commission
first established Licensing Boards in 1962 and the Panel in 1967.

Beginning in 1969, the Atomic Energy Commission authorized Atomic Safety
and Licensing Appeal Boards to exercise the authority and perform the review
functions which would otherwise have been exercised and performed by the
Commission in facility licensing proceedings. In 1972, that Commission created
an Appeal Panel, from which are drawn the Appeal Boards assigned to each
licensing proceeding. The functions performed by both Appeal Boards and
Licensing Boards were transferred to the Nuclear Regulatory Commission by the
Energy Reorganization Act of 1974. Appeal Boards represent the final level in the
administrative adjudicatory process to which parties may appeal. Parties,
however, are permitted to seek discretionary Commission review of certain board
rulings. The Commission also may decide to review, on its own motion, various
decisions or actions of Appeal Boards.

On June 29, 1990, however, the Commission voted to abolish the Atomic Safety
and Licensing Appeal Panel, and the Panel ceased to exist as of June 30, 1991. In
the future, the Commission itself will review Licensing Board and other
adjudicatory decisions, as a matter of discretion. See 56 Fed. 29 & 403 (1991).

The Commission also has Administrative Law Judges appointed pursuant to
the Administrative Procedure Act, who preside over proceedings as directed by
the Commission.

The hardbound edition of the Nuclear Regulatory Commission Issuances is a
final compilation of the monthly issuances. It includes all of the legal precedents
for the agency within a six-month period. Any opinions, decisions, denials,
memoranda and orders of the Commission inadvertently omitted from the
monthly softbounds and any corrections submitted by the NRC legal staff to the
printed softbound issuances are contained in the hardbound edition. Cross
references in the text and indexes are to the NRCI page numbers which are the
same as the page numbers in this publication.

Issuances are referred to as follows: Commission—CLI, Atomic Safety and
Licensing Boards—LBP, Administrative Law Judges—ALJ, Directors’ Deci-
sions—DD, and Decisions on Petitions for Rulemaking—DPRM.

The summaries and headnotes preceding the opinions reported herein are not
to be deemed a part of those opinions or to have any independent legal
significance.
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Cite as 49 NRC 1 (1999) CLI-99-1

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

COMMISSIONERS:

Shirley Ann Jackson, Chairman
Greta J. Dicus
Nils J. Diaz
Edward McGaffigan, Jr.
Jeffrey S. Merrifield

In the Matter of Docket No. 40-8968-ML

HYDRO RESOURCES, INC.
(2929 Coors Road, Suite 101,
Albuquerque, NM 87120) January 29, 1999

Exercising its sua sponte supervisory authority over adjudications, the Com-
mission reviews and vacates a scheduling order issued by the Presiding Officer
on January 21, 1999, and reaffirmed on January 25, 1999.

RULES OF PRACTICE: SUA SPONTE REVIEW (SCHEDULING
ORDER)

The Commission is loath to supervise filing schedules in matters being han-
dled by licensing boards and presiding officers, but will do so when appropriate.

RULES OF PRACTICE: SCHEDULING

The Commission discourages extensions of deadlines absent extreme circum-
stances, for fear that an accumulation of seemingly benign deadline extensions
will in the end substantially delay the outcome of the case. See Statement of
Policy on Conduct of Adjudicatory Proceedings, CLI-98-12, 48 NRC 18, 21
(1999).



MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

In this Subpart L proceeding, several Intervenors challenge Hydro Resources,
Inc.’s, license to conduct an in situ leach mining project in McKinley County,
New Mexico. The proceeding is complicated. It already has been the subject of
several Commission decisions, including one issued last October that rejected
a petition for review challenging a scheduling order issued by the Presiding
Officer. CLI-98-22, 48 NRC 215 (1998). Today, exercising our inherent
sua sponte supervisory authority over adjudications,! we review another of the
Presiding Officer’s scheduling orders, this one issued on January 21, 1999, and
reaffirmed on January 25. It extends the deadline for Intervenors’ final briefs
from February 1 until March 5. We vacate that scheduling order and require
Intervenors to file their briefs by February 16.

We are loath, of course, to supervise filing schedules in matters being
handled by licensing boards and presiding officers, but we will do so when
appropriate. See Baltimore Gas & Electric Co. (Calvert Cliffs Nuclear Power
Plant, Units 1 and 2), CLI-98-19, 48 NRC 132, 134 (1998). In this longstanding
case, we repeatedly have advised the parties and the Presiding Officer of our
interest in resolving as many issues as possible as soon as possible. Indeed,
our commitment to expedition and efficiency is what persuaded us not to
second guess the Presiding Officer’s decision last September to bifurcate his
consideration of the case between issues of immediate concern and those of
more remote concern:

The Presiding Officer’s decision to concentrate on deciding the most time-critical issues
at the outset should conserve resources and expedite decisions, and thus is consistent with
our guidance calling on presiding officers ‘‘to establish schedules for promptly deciding the
issues before them, with due regard for the complexity of contested issues and the interests
of the parties.”” Statement of Policy on Conduct of Adjudicatory Proceedings, 48 NRC at
20. Our most recent decision in this very proceeding stressed our interest in fair, but speedy,
decisionmaking. See CLI-98-16, 48 NRC 119, 120 (1998).

CLI-98-22,48 NRC at 217.

In the current order, the Presiding Officer inexplicably granted Intervenors
a 5-week extension of briefing time, nearly 3 weeks more than Intervenors
themselves had requested. (Intervenors had asked for a February 16 deadline; the
Presiding Officer established a March 5 deadline.) When the Licensee, Hydro
Resources, filed a motion to reconsider and vigorously opposed the extension
of time, the Presiding Officer issued a one-page order refusing to reconsider
and commenting that ‘‘[i]n light of the complexity of the record, a deadline

! See Statement of Policy on Conduct of Adjudicatory Proceedings, CLI-98-12, 48 NRC 18, 20 (1998).



for Intervenors’ Final Brief prior to March 5, 1999, would not contribute to an
efficient determination of this case.”’ See Order dated Jan. 25, 1999.

We do not question the complexity of this proceeding. It has generated
innumerable issues and hundreds of pages of briefs and affidavits. The Presiding
Officer and the parties face a formidable task in bringing coherence to the many
factual and legal questions posed by the proceeding. That said, however, we
expect the parties and the Presiding Officer to continue to move expeditiously
toward a resolution. It does not advance that goal to stretch out briefing
deadlines well beyond what even the hard-pressed parties themselves need or
request, as the Presiding Officer appears to have done here. In fact, the policy
statement on adjudicatory proceedings that we issued last summer explicitly
discourages extensions of deadlines absent extreme circumstances, for fear
that an accumulation of seemingly benign deadline extensions will in the end
substantially delay the outcome of the case. See CLI-98-12, 48 NRC at 21.
Accordingly, we vacate the Presiding Officer orders of January 21 and January
25 setting a March 5 filing deadline for Intervenors’ next round of briefs, and
establish the deadline for February 16.2 In fairness, we also suggest that the
Presiding Officer look favorably on a 2-week extension of the deadline for
responsive briefs by Hydro Resources and the NRC Staff should those parties
so request.

We have two final points on case management. First, our understanding from
the Presiding Officer’s original decision to divide the case into segments, and
to allow staggered briefing of issues, was that he would issue a series of partial
decisions as he resolved the set of issues presented by each briefing phase. That
continues to be our expectation. A series of partial decisions, rather than one
grand decision at the proceeding’s end, would accommodate efficient appellate
review by the Commission, if it is sought. See 10 C.F.R. § 2.1253.

Second, the Presiding Officer thus far has resolved various threshold con-
troversies before him with admirable dispatch, frequently within a few days of
the parties’ submissions. We anticipate that he will continue to do so, although
we fully recognize the complexity of many of the merits controversies awaiting
decision. See, e.g., Presiding Officer Order dated Jan. 26, 1999 ("’Motions to
reply or to request oral argument should be made promptly,”” because ‘‘[t]he
Presiding Officer is proceeding to prepare analyses and draft decisions’’ and
must ‘allocate time efficiently’”). Our expectation is that the Presiding Officer
will complete his series of merits decisions on all matters related to the Church

2February 16 is the deadline requested by Intervenors in their January 19 motion for an extension of time.
In view of the Presiding Officer’s January 21 decision to establish a March 5 deadline, we cannot now deny
Intervenors’ extension request outright, and thereby leave intact the original February 1 deadline. At this point,
Intervenors undoubtedly are in no position to file adequate pleadings by the original deadline. We caution all
parties in this case, however, to pay heed to the guidance in our policy statement that ordinarily only ‘‘unavoidable
and extreme circumstances’” provide sufficient cause to extend filing deadlines. See CLI-98-12, 48 NRC at 21.



Rock Section 8 property — the first area where Hydro Resources intends to
engage in mining — no later than June 15. If he cannot do so, we ask that
he issue an order stating the reasons why the June 15 date is impracticable and
establishing an alternate final decision date. See generally CLI-98-12, 48 NRC
at 21 (Commission ‘‘strongly encourages presiding officers to issue decisions
within 60 days after the parties file the last pleadings permitted by the board’s
schedule for the proceeding’”).
IT IS SO ORDERED.

For the Commission?

ANNETTE VIETTI-COOK
Secretary of the Commission

Dated at Rockville, Maryland,
this 29th day of January 1999.

3 Commissioners Dicus and Merrifield were not available for the affirmation of this Memorandum and Order.
Had they been present, they would have affirmed the Memorandum and Order.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

OFFICE OF NUCLEAR REACTOR REGULATION

Samuel J. Collins, Director

In the Matter of Docket No. 50-213

CONNECTICUT YANKEE ATOMIC
POWER COMPANY
(Haddam Neck Plant) January 12, 1999

By a petition dated September 11, 1998, submitted by Rosemary Bassilakis
on behalf of the Citizens Awareness Network (Petitioners), Petitioners requested
that (1) the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) immediately revoke or
suspend the Connecticut Yankee Atomic Power Company’s (CYAPCQO’s) oper-
ating license for the Haddam Neck Plant (HNP), (2) an informal public hearing
on the petition be held in the vicinity of the site, and (3) the NRC consider
requiring CYAPCO to conduct decommissioning activities under 10 C.F.R. Part
72. Petitioners alleged that (1) CYAPCO demonstrated incompetence in creating
and maintaining a safe work environment and an effective, well-trained staff;
(2) CYAPCO was not conducting its decommissioning activities in accordance
with its post-shutdown decommissioning activities report (PSDAR) and, there-
fore, posed an undue risk to public health; (3) the problems encountered at the
plant during the summer of 1998 might not have occurred if the requirements
under Part 72 had been applied; and (4) the spent fuel stored on site in the spent
fuel pool (SFP) was the primary risk to public health and safety.

The Director of the Office of Nuclear Reactor Regulation issued a Direc-
tor’s Decision on January 12, 1999, concluding that the petition contained no
information of which the NRC was not already aware and denying Petitioners’
requests for revocation or suspension of the operating license and an informal
public hearing. The Licensee’s actions have been documented in NRC inspec-
tion reports and appropriate enforcement actions have been taken or are being
evaluated. The Director granted Petitioners’ request to consider applying the
requirements of Part 72 to the Connecticut Yankee plant. The NRC’s consid-



eration of the applicability of Part 72 was presented in the Director’s Decision,
which found that Part 72 did not apply to the decommissioning activities un-
der way at the plant. The requirements of 10 C.F.R. Part 50 apply to spent
fuel storage and decommissioning at Connecticut Yankee and provide adequate
protection of public health and safety.

DIRECTOR’S DECISION UNDER 10 C.F.R. § 2.206

I. INTRODUCTION

On September 11, 1998, Ms. Rosemary Bassilakis submitted a petition
pursuant to Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations, section 2.206 (10 C.F.R.
§2.206), on behalf of the Citizens Awareness Network requesting (1) that the
U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) immediately revoke or suspend the
Connecticut Yankee Atomic Power Company’s (CYAPCQO’s) operating license
for the Haddam Neck Plant (HNP), (2) an informal public hearing on the petition
be held in the vicinity of the site, and (3) that the NRC consider requiring
CYAPCO to conduct decommissioning activities under 10 C.F.R. Part 72.

In support of their requests, the Petitioners state that (1) CYAPCO demon-
strates incompetence in creating and maintaining a safe work environment and an
effective, well-trained staff; (2) CYAPCO is not conducting its decommission-
ing activities in accordance with its post-shutdown decommissioning activities
report (PSDAR) and, therefore, poses an undue risk to public health; (3) the
problems encountered at the plant during the summer of 1998 might not have
occurred if the requirements under Part 72 had been applied; and (4) the spent
fuel stored on site in the spent fuel pool (SFP) is the primary risk to public
health and safety.

II. BACKGROUND

CYAPCO submitted written certifications of permanent cessation of opera-
tions of HNP and permanent removal of fuel from the HNP reactor vessel on
December 5, 1996. Upon the docketing of these documents, in accordance with
10 C.F.R. §50.82(a)(2), CYAPCO was no longer authorized to operate the re-
actor or to place fuel into the reactor vessel. CYAPCO submitted its PSDAR on
August 22, 1997, which, among other items, described its schedule and com-
mitments for decommissioning HNP. The Licensee chose the DECON option
for the plant.

The Licensee plans to keep its spent fuel stored in the SFP until such time
as the Department of Energy takes possession of it. Systems supporting the



SFP are being modified to operate independently of the rest of the site so that
decommissioning activities will have no impact on the SFP.

On March 4, 1997, the NRC issued a confirmatory action letter to document
the Licensee’s commitments to improve its radiological controls program. Sub-
sequently, on May 5, 1998, the NRC determined that CYAPCO had met its
commitments to make those improvements.

The Petitioners state that since May 5, 1998, a series of incidents that occurred
at HNP raises questions regarding the ability of CYAPCO to protect worker
and public health and safety and the environment. The incidents noted by the
Petitioners and a brief statement of NRC’s enforcement actions taken to date
are listed below:

1. On June 20, 1998, 800 gallons of radioactive liquid, containing approxi-
mately 2200 microcuries total activity (excluding tritium and noble gases), were
inadvertently released into the Connecticut River from the HNP waste test tank
(WTT). The Licensee did not report the release for 2 days.

This event is discussed in Inspection Report 50-213/98-03, which was issued
on August 21, 1998. The release was within regulatory limits. However, the
event resulted in a Severity Level IV violation because of the Licensee’s failure
to declare an Unusual Event for an unplanned liquid discharge in which the total
activity exceeds 1000 microcuries (excluding tritium and noble gases). The event
also contributed to a Severity Level IV violation for inadequate configuration
control in that a valve required to be closed was open.

2. On July 7, 1998, 350 gallons of demineralized water were inadvertently
spilled, spraying workers in the spent fuel building.

This event is discussed in Inspection Report 50-213/98-03, which was issued
on August 21, 1998. The workers involved were neither contaminated nor
injured. However, the event contributed to a Severity Level IV violation for
inadequate configuration control in that valves red-tagged shut and verified as
closed were found open.

3. On July 27, 1998, approximately 1000 gallons of reactor coolant system
(RCS) decontamination solution were spilled inside the plant.

This event is mentioned in Inspection Report 50-213/98-03, which was issued
on August 21, 1998, as an example of inadequate configuration control in that a
valve required to be full open was found less than full open, which contributed to
pressure transients and vibrations that resulted in the spill. The partially closed
valve contributed to a Severity Level IV violation for inadequate configuration
control.

The event is discussed in detail in Inspection Report 50-213/98-04, which
was issued on October 29, 1998. There was no release of radioactive water to
the environment. However, the report found that the Licensee did not perform
walkdown inspections or visual leak checks in the plant’s pipe trenches during
leak testing of the systems in preparation for the RCS decontamination. In



addition, the report found that the Licensee failed to adequately address potential
transient conditions in the letdown system equipment. The NRC identified
these deficiencies as apparent violations in that corrective actions to address
weaknesses in configuration control were inadequate. The need for enforcement
action related to this event is being evaluated by the NRC.

4. On August 11, 1998, the SFP demineralizer retention element and filter
failed, allowing contaminated resin beads to enter plant piping.

This event is discussed in Inspection Report 50-213/98-04, which was
issued on October 29, 1998. The failures were caused by a combination of
increased flow and corrosion due to operating conditions created by the RCS
decontamination procedure. The contaminated resin beads increased radiation
levels in the pipe trench and containment, areas not readily accessible to workers.
The NRC identified this event as an apparent violation in that the Licensee’s
technical evaluations and procedural controls failed to ensure that contaminated
resin remained inside the demineralizer tank.

The final disposition of the apparent violations identified in items 3 and 4
above will be taken in accordance with the NRC’s enforcement policy. The
NRC is currently evaluating the events and the need for enforcement action.
The results of the evaluation will be made available to the public.

The series of events during the summer of 1998 prompted the NRC to conduct
a number of conference calls and management meetings with the Licensee.
Conference calls were made to Licensee management on July 8 and 15, 1998.
During the calls, the Licensee described the results of its preliminary root-cause
analyses of the events of June 20 and July 7, 1998, and presented the corrective
actions it took to ensure that no similar events would occur during the RCS
decontamination procedure. The Licensee documented the commitments it made
during those calls in a letter dated July 16, 1998. As a result of the July 27 event,
a management meeting was held at the plant site on August 3, 1998, to discuss
additional corrective actions taken by the Licensee. These commitments were
documented by the Licensee in a letter dated August 12, 1998. The Regional
Administrator for NRC Region I met with Licensee management on August 20,
1998, to discuss concerns raised by the Licensee’s performance. On Septem-
ber 3-4, 1998, Region I and Headquarters personnel conducted interviews at
the site with thirty Licensee managers, supervisors, and workers to obtain
information on organizational and management issues associated with the events
during the RCS decontamination.

The Petitioners state that CY APCO never finished its root-cause analysis for
the incident on June 20, 1998, before commencing similar work. By letter dated
July 16, 1998, CYAPCO committed to completing a root-cause analysis by July
27, 1998, but did not commit to limit or prohibit similar work until the analysis
was completed. Inspection Report 50-213/98-03 stated that the Licensee’s
preliminary analysis of the June 20 event found that the root cause was accidental



bumping of a cross-connect valve, which allowed partial discharge of the *“A’’
WTT while the ‘B> WTT was being discharged. Both tanks had been properly
prepared for release; however, they were intended to be released one at a time.
The Licensee suspended WTT discharges until a number of corrective actions,
such as installation of a locking device on the cross-connect valve, were taken
to prevent recurrence of a similar event. After the preliminary corrective actions
were taken, the Licensee removed the prohibition on WTT discharges. The final
root-cause analysis was issued by CYAPCO as an internal document and was
approved by the HNP Unit Director on July 29, 1998. However, there was no
requirement to place the analysis on the docket.

The Petitioners also state that, as of the time of their September 11, 1998
petition, they had not received a response to their letter dated July 7, 1998, to
NRC Chairman Jackson, in which they requested that NRC delay the start of
the RCS chemical decontamination. The NRC Staff issued a response to the
Petitioners in a letter dated August 31, 1998. The response was docketed on
September 8, 1998, under accession number 9809080105.

III. DISCUSSION OF PETITIONERS’ REQUESTS

The Petitioners’ first request is to revoke or suspend the HNP operating
license. The Petitioners’ basis for the request is that CYAPCO continues to
demonstrate incompetence in creating and maintaining a safe work environment
and an effective, well-trained staff.

The Petitioners present the series of events outlined in Section II, ‘‘Back-
ground,’’ as evidence to support their basis.

The NRC considers the series of events that occurred during the summer of
1998 to have been challenges to the Licensee’s ability to maintain a safe work
environment. As noted in Section II, NRC has taken enforcement action in
response to the events. The enforcement actions are based on the Commission’s
regulations, which place certain requirements on a licensee. To place a licensee
under the authority of the regulations, the Commission issues a license with
appropriate conditions. As a result, the facility operating license becomes a
mechanism through which the Commission holds a licensee to its regulatory
responsibilities. Revoking or suspending the HNP license would not relieve the
Licensee of its responsibilities but could impede the NRC’s ability to enforce
regulatory requirements.

The events previously outlined did not result in a radiological release to the
environment above regulatory limits, did not cause radiation exposure above
regulatory limits, and did not cause injury to workers or the public. In addition,
the permanently shutdown and defueled condition of the plant substantially
reduces the risk to public health and safety. In light of these facts, the



NRC believes that revoking or suspending the HNP license is not necessary
or appropriate. The NRC’s enforcement policy provides objective criteria for
responding to licensee actions and is adequate to require CYAPCO to take
appropriate corrective actions in response to the events outlined. Therefore, the
request to revoke or suspend the HNP operating license is denied.

The Petitioners’ second request is to hold an informal public hearing in the
vicinity of the site. The Petitioners’ basis for the request is that CYAPCO is not
conducting its decommissioning activities in accordance with its PSDAR and,
therefore, poses an undue risk to the public.

With regard to the Petitioners’ request for an informal public hearing, the Staff
reviewed the PSDAR and found that CYAPCO has followed the sequence of
activities included in the PSDAR as Figure 1, ‘°‘CY Decommissioning Sched-
ule.”” Additionally, in its PSDAR, CYAPCO committed to controlling radiation
exposure to offsite individuals to levels less than both the Environmental Pro-
tection Agency’s Protective Action Guidelines and NRC’s regulations. Both
radiation exposures to individuals and effluents to the environment due to de-
commissioning activities have been within regulatory limits. On the basis of
these facts, the Staff finds that there is no undue risk to public health and safety.
The Staff also determined that the Petitioners neither provided new information
that raised the potential for a significant safety issue (SSI) nor presented a new
SSI or new information on a previously evaluated SSI. Therefore, the criteria
for an informal public hearing on a petition submitted under the provisions of
10 C.F.R. §2.206, contained in Part III(c) of Management Directive 8.11, are
not satisfied and the Petitioners’ request for an informal public hearing has been
denied.

The Petitioners’ third request is for the NRC Staff to consider applying the
requirements of Part 72, ‘‘Licensing Requirements for the Independent Storage
of Spent Nuclear Fuel and High-Level Radioactive Waste,”” to decommissioning
activities at HNP. The Petitioners present two bases for this request. First, the
problems encountered during the decommissioning activities in the summer of
1998 might not have occurred if Part 72 had been applied at HNP. Second, the
spent fuel stored in the SFP is the primary risk to public health and safety.

The problems encountered by the Licensee during the summer of 1998 have
been examined by the NRC. As illustrated in Section II, the problems were not
due to a lack of regulatory requirements. Therefore, the Staff believes that the
requirements of Part 72, which address activities associated with an independent
spent fuel storage installation (ISFSI), would not have been applicable to the
decommissioning activities under way at HNP during the summer of 1998.

The second basis for the request concerns the safe storage of spent fuel at
HNP. The Staff’s consideration of applying the requirements of Part 72 at HNP
is presented in Section IV, below. Therefore, the third request is granted.
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IV. APPLICATION OF 10 C.F.R. PART 72 AT HNP

The Staff reviewed the requirements of Part 72 and compared them with
the requirements of 10 C.F.R. Part 50, ‘‘Domestic Licensing of Production and
Utilization Facilities,”” which currently apply to HNP. The scope of Part 72,
as stated in 10 C.F.R. §72.2, is limited to the receipt, transfer, packaging, and
possession of power reactor spent fuel and other radioactive materials associated
with spent fuel storage. As a result, decommissioning activities under Part
72 would apply only to the portion of the Part 50 site licensed as an ISFSI.
However, the Licensee has not applied for a Part 72 license to establish the SFP
as an ISFSI. Furthermore, the Licensee does not intend to decommission the
SFP until after the Department of Energy takes possession of the spent fuel. In
light of these facts, Part 72 does not apply to HNP and, even if CYAPCO held
a Part 72 license, the decommissioning provisions of that part would not apply
to the decommissioning activities currently under way at the facility. Because
the HNP facility consists of contaminated and activated structures, systems,
and components associated with a permanently defueled reactor as well as the
SFP, the limited scope of Part 72 is not sufficient to cover the full range of
decommissioning activities at a power reactor facility such as HNP.

In contrast, the scope of Part 50 applies to HNP and covers all the structures,
systems, and components of a power reactor facility, including the SFP. Part
50 contains specific provisions for decommissioning power reactors in section
50.82, as well as other applicable sections. It follows that the decommissioning
of HNP must proceed under Part 50, at least until such time as the decommis-
sioning activities at HNP fall completely within the scope of Part 72 and the
Licensee applies for and obtains a Part 72 license. As of now, the activities at
HNP extend beyond the scope of Part 72, and Part 50 would continue to apply
even if a licensed ISFSI were established at the site.

After considering the applicability of the regulations noted above, the Staff
concludes that Part 72 does not apply to HNP at this time because the Licensee
does not possess an ISFSI licensed under Part 72 and many of the decommis-
sioning activities to be performed cannot be accommodated within the scope of
Part 72.

V. DECISION

For the reasons stated herein, the petition is denied in part and granted in
part. The requests to revoke or suspend the HNP operating license and to
hold an informal public hearing in the vicinity of the site are denied. The
request to consider application of the requirements of 10 C.F.R. Part 72 to HNP
is granted. The Staff’s evaluation of the applicability of Part 72 at HNP is
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presented in Section IV; however, the Staff finds that Part 72 does not apply to
the decommissioning activities now under way at the plant.

The Decision and the documents cited in the Decision are available for public
inspection in the Commission’s Public Document Room, the Gelman Building,
2120 L Street, NW, Washington, D.C., and at the Local Public Document Room
for HNP at the Russell Library, 123 Broad Street, Middletown, Connecticut.

In accordance with 10 C.F.R. §2.206(c), a copy of this Decision will be
filed with the Secretary of the Commission for the Commission’s review. As
provided for by this regulation, the Decision will constitute the final action of the
Commission 25 days after issuance, unless the Commission, on its own motion,
institutes a review of the Decision within that time.

FOR THE NUCLEAR
REGULATORY COMMISSION

Samuel J. Collins, Director
Office of Nuclear Reactor
Regulation

Dated at Rockville, Maryland,
this 12th day of January 1999.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

OFFICE OF NUCLEAR MATERIAL SAFETY AND SAFEGUARDS

Carl J. Paperiello, Director

In the Matter of Docket No. 40-3453
(License No. SUA-917)

ATLAS CORPORATION
(370 Seventeenth Street, Suite 3050,
Denver, CO 80202) January 20, 1999

On August 2, 1988, Atlas Corporation (Atlas) submitted an application for a
license amendment to revise its site reclamation plan for uranium mill tailings
at its site near Moab, Utah. On April 4, 1994, notice of Receipt of Application
and notice of opportunity for hearing on the application were published in the
Federal Register. 59 Fed. Reg. 16,665 (1994). On July 13, 1998, the State filed
its petition stating that if the petition is found to be untimely that it be treated
as a 10 C.F.R. 2.206 petition in accordance with 10 C.F.R. § 2.1205(/)(2). The
petition was filed by Denise Chancellor, Assistant Attorney General, on behalf
of the State. By Memorandum and Order dated August 13, 1998, the ASLB
determined that the petition was inexcusably late and would be treated as a
petition under section 2.206 in accordance with 10 C.F.R. 2.1205(/)(2). On
October 22, 1998, notice of receipt of the petition was published in the Federal
Register. 63 Fed. Reg. 56,667 (1998).

In its petition the State asserted that if Atlas were to proceed with its
reclamation plan as approved by the Nuclear Regulatory Commission, it would
be in violation of 10 C.F.R. Part 40, Appendix A. The petition was referred to the
Director of the Office of Nuclear Material Safety and Safeguards. As provided
by section 2.206 and discussed in the Federal Register notice, appropriate action
was taken on this petition. The Staff reviewed the specific assertions made by
the State and concluded that the petition should be denied. The basis for the
Staff’s conclusions are detailed in this Director’s Decision.
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DIRECTOR’S DECISION UNDER 10 C.F.R. § 2.206

I. INTRODUCTION

On August 2, 1988, Atlas Corporation (Atlas or Licensee) submitted an
application for a license amendment to revise its site reclamation plan for
uranium mill tailings at its site in Moab, Utah. On April 4, 1994, notice of
Receipt of Application and notice of Opportunity for Hearing on the application
were published in the Federal Register. 59 Fed. Reg. 16,665 (1994). On July
13, 1998, the State of Utah (State or Utah) filed the State’s Request for Hearing
and Petition for Leave to Intervene (petition). By Memorandum and Order dated
August 13, 1998, the Atomic Safety and Licensing Board determined that the
petition was inexcusably late and would be treated as a petition under 10 C.F.R.
§2.206, in accordance with 10 C.F.R. § 2.1205(])(2).

In its petition, the State asserts that if Atlas were to proceed with its
reclamation plan as approved by the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
(NRC), it would not meet the requirements of 10 C.F.R. Part 40, Appendix
A. More specifically, the State asserts that the rock apron design (armoring the
side slope and toe of the tailings pile) does not provide reasonable assurance
against engineering failure at the Atlas Uranium Tailings Site, and thus does not
satisfy Appendix A. As bases for its assertion it is stated that the unpredictability
of flood events, erosion, and vegetation growth along the river banks makes
computation of the probability of river migration extremely difficult and that,
therefore, conservatism should be built into how the tailings pile is armored.
The State, furthermore, references an April 2, 1998 memorandum from its
Department of Environmental Quality, Division of Radiation Control (DRC),
wherein it is stated that: (1) there are two different conceptual designs for
the Atlas tailings pile apron — one presented by Atlas and accepted by NRC,
and the second presented by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (ACE); (2)
assumptions and inputs to the conceptual models result in the size, gradation,
and volume of rock necessary to protect the tailings pile from erosion by the
Colorado River; (3) the DRC staff has concluded that the ACE approach is more
protective of the tailings pile side slopes; and (4) the DRC staff disagrees with
the NRC conclusion that the Atlas design provides the necessary protection of
the tailings pile in the event of river migration. A letter acknowledging receipt
of the petition and its status for consideration pursuant to section 2.206 was sent
to the State on September 26, 1998.
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II. BACKGROUND

In 1997, the NRC Staff issued NUREG-1532, ‘‘Final Technical Evaluation
Report for the Proposed Revised Reclamation Plan for the Atlas Corporation
Moab Mill”’ (TER), presenting its evaluation of technical issues related to Atlas
Corporation’s proposed reclamation plan for the uranium mill tailings pile.
Among the issues considered was the ability of the proposed erosion protection
design to prevent erosion from various flooding events over long periods of time.
One of the features of the erosion protection design evaluated in the TER was
the ability of the self-launching rock apron to prevent erosion of the tailings if
the Colorado River were to migrate to the pile.

In the TER, the Staff concluded that the rock apron provided adequate
protection for the reclaimed tailings pile, in the unlikely event that the Colorado
River migrated several hundred feet and reached the toe of the pile. The
adequacy of the apron design was questioned by the State and the Grand County
Council (GCC). In addition, the GCC funded a report developed by the ACE
that indicated that the rock apron had not been designed properly. The GCC also
solicited the opinions of vegetation and geomorphic experts and provided those
opinions to the State. These reports, questions, and comments were transmitted
to the NRC Staff by the State by letters dated November 10, 1997, and January
9, 1998.

Because the 1997 TER only summarized the NRC Staff review of the
rock apron, a supplemental report (SR) was developed to address in detail
the questions and concerns raised by the DRC. The SR addressed specific
aspects of the Staff review and provided a detailed technical basis for the Staff’s
conclusions on the adequacy of the rock apron. The SR also addressed issues
raised by the GCC and the ACE. Specific topics that were addressed included:
(1) potential for erosion and migration of the Colorado River; (2) riprap size
needed for the side slopes to protect from overland or overtopping flows; (3)
riprap size needed to protect the side slope from velocities in the river; (4)
rock volume needed; (5) river velocities; (6) vegetation/tamarisk growth and the
effects on river flow velocities; (7) ACE design procedures, including specific
discussions of computations and analytical methods; (8) potential for cohesive
soils to affect the performance of the rock apron; (9) reasonable assurance
requirements, NRC Staff review procedures, and other regulatory requirements;
(10) post-licensing monitoring and maintenance; and (11) other conservatisms
in the design. Each of these factors was discussed in a degree of detail that was
not provided in the TER. In addition, specific contentions and questions raised
by the GCC, ACE, and/or DRC were addressed.
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III. DISCUSSION

As discussed in the TER, the Staff considers that an adequate design has
been provided for the rock apron to be placed at the toe of the Atlas tailings
pile side slope near the Colorado River. This conclusion is based on many
factors, including evaluation of design details that are very site-specific.

For the Atlas site, the design of the rock apron is affected by three principal
factors: (1) the velocity or shear stress that is used in various analytical
methods to determine the rock size necessary to resist erosive forces; (2) the
analytical methods that are used to determine rock size, layer thickness, and
rock volume; and (3) the estimated scour depth that is used to determine volume
of rock needed in the apron. For each of these factors, there may be several
acceptable methods for estimating and calculating the parameters. For example,
a designer could assume various combinations of values for velocity, shear stress,
radius of curvature, or other inputs to a design method and arrive at different
estimates of rock size and rock volume. Also, each parameter requires input
data, based to a great extent on the assumed configuration of the river and other
assumptions related to expected river velocities.

It should also be emphasized that there are many procedures for determining
the rock sizes necessary to resist erosion. Over the years, various government
agencies and individuals have developed procedures that best suit their needs,
given the degree of conservatism necessary, the risk to public health and safety,
and other factors, such as cost. Use of any specific one of those procedures,
including the ACE procedure, for determining rock size, is not necessarily
““correct’”” or required. It should be recognized that different methods are
used by different organizations and agencies. ACE’s special need to protect
embankments, where erosion or failure could immediately jeopardize many lives
behind those structures, is not necessarily the needs of designers to provide
reasonable assurance of tailings stability, or to meet the requirements of 10
C.F.R. Part 40, Appendix A.

The Staff considers it important to use input parameter values that can be
reasonably expected to affect the rock apron (if the river were to migrate), not
values that are based on very conservative assumptions. For many situations
where streambank erosion is imminent, a bank configuration can be easily
determined, based on observed conditions. However, in this case, the main
river channel is hundreds of feet away and not threatening the tailings pile,
and the rock apron must be designed for some future unknown configuration
of the river. Therefore, the Staff assumed that the river would retain its
principal characteristics, even though it had migrated. Recognizing that exact
characteristics would be difficult to predict, the Staff assumed that the river
would retain the same width, depth, radius of curvature, and velocity. It is
also possible that the river would migrate and develop characteristics such as
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increased width, decreased depth, decreased velocity, and increased radius of
curvature; such assumptions would result in lesser rock apron designs being
protective of the pile.

In making assumptions such as those discussed above, the Staff is required
by 10 C.F.R. Part 40, Appendix A, to have reasonable assurance of tailings
stability. The Staff is not required to make a determination with absolute
certainty. Therefore, given the fact that river migration to the pile in itself
is unlikely, the Staff is required only to assume a reasonable configuration, not
necessarily an extreme configuration that maximizes every design parameter or
input to a riprap design method. Recognizing that a considerable amount of
judgment is necessary to predict design conditions at this site , such as river
configuration or river velocity, it is not the position of the NRC Staff to assume
the most critical value for every input parameter that is used in every calculation.
Reasonable assurance only requires that input parameters be selected within a
reasonably conservative range of values of the parameter.

It should be emphasized that the Staff does not consider the ACE analyses or
design method to be incorrect or inappropriate. Rather, the Staff considered that
the input parameters selected for use in the analyses were overly conservative
for this specific application and do not represent conditions that can reasonably
be expected to occur if the river were to migrate to the rock apron. In the SR,
the Staff provided many reasons to support its conclusion that the Licensee’s
design was adequate and provided extensive discussion to show that the ACE
report overestimates the riprap sizes and quantity of rock required for the rock
apron to provide reasonable assurance of tailings stability. In summary, based on
independent analyses of the Licensee’s proposal and the information provided
the DRC and ACE, the Staff concludes that Atlas proposes to use a volume and
size of rock that is larger than the volume and size computed by the Staff.

Each of the assertions made by the State in the petition have been addressed
previously by the Staff. The Staff provided its initial findings in its TER and
provided further details of the Staff analysis in its supplemental report that
was transmitted to the State by letter dated February 26, 1998. The Staff has
provided detailed technical bases for its conclusion that the design of the rock
apron meets the requirements of 10 C.F.R. Part 40, Appendix A.

The State was offered an opportunity to provide additional information to
further address its assertions. The State indicated that no additional information
would be provided for Staff review or consideration.

Each of the State’s assertions is addressed in the following discussions. Each
assertion is stated and a brief summary of the Staff’s analysis is provided. If
additional details are needed, they may be found in the Staff’s SR.
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Assertion 1. The unpredictability of flood events, erosion, and vegetation
growth along the river banks makes computation of the probability of
river migration very difficult, and therefore conservatism should be built
into the tailings pile design.

The Staff agrees that the computation of the probability of river migration
is difficult. However, the Staff has concluded that the potential for migration
of the Colorado River to the tailings pile is very low and has provided several
bases supporting that conclusion. The Staff has also concluded that adequate
conservatism has been provided by the apron design to demonstrate that Part 40
requirements have been met and has provided detailed analyses and technical
bases supporting that conclusion.

First, the Staff examined aerial photographs of the Colorado River in this
area, taken over a period of about 47 years. Those photographs verified that
very little erosion has occurred over that period of time.

Second, the Staff reviewed a report prepared by expert geomorphologists
that addressed the river migration issue. In that report, it was concluded that
river migration was unlikely and that lateral accretion, rather than erosion, has
occurred in some areas near the pile. Those expert geomorphologists also
examined aerial photographs and concluded that: ‘‘Review of available historical
photographs indicates that the right bank . . . has remained remarkably fixed
spatially.”” (Emphasis added.)

Third, the Staff has visited the site several times and has determined that
only some minor erosion of the river banks has occurred and that this can be
attributed to sloughing, rather than erosion from river velocities. In fact, it was
this minor erosion that led the Staff to question the original conclusion of the
Licensee that the river would not erode.

Fourth, despite the information available on channel stability, a conservative
approach was taken by Atlas in its reclamation plan by assuming that the
Colorado River would migrate to the tailings pile and by designing the erosion
protection apron to account for that event. This approach eliminated the need
for Atlas to conduct further detailed analyses of river migration and provided a
design that exceeds the reasonable assurance requirements specified in Part 40,
Appendix A.

Fifth, the Staff examined the effects of increased vegetation growth on the
erosion potential of the Colorado River. The Staff performed independent
calculations and concluded that the potentially increased density of vegetation
and tamarisks in the floodplains of the river will not significantly affect river
velocities. Staff computations indicate that the maximum velocity will be only
slightly increased in the river channel near the tailings pile. Based on Staff
experience with vegetated floodplains and the widespread use of vegetation to
stabilize channel banks, it is also likely that increased vegetation density of the
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river will increase the erosion resistance of the channel banks and floodplain
area near the tailings pile.

Assertion 2. There are two different conceptual designs: one presented
by Atlas and accepted by the Staff; and the second presented by the ACE.

The Staff has recognized for some time that there are two designs and that
the designs are different. In the SR, the Staff addressed the ACE design and
provided a detailed analysis of the ACE method and the use of various input
parameters to the ACE method. The Staff performed a detailed review of
the analyses, provided in the ACE report, that were used to assess the rock
requirements for the apron. The Staff evaluated input parameters related to
computation of scour depths, river velocities, increases in river velocities at
channel bends, and factors of safety. The Staff also examined the technical basis
for the development of the ACE procedure, including the supporting laboratory
data. The Staff’s analysis of the ACE report is also discussed in Assertion 3,
below.

Assertion 3. Assumptions and inputs to the conceptual models result in
differences in the size, gradation, and volume of rock necessary to protect
the tailings pile from erosion by the Colorado River.

The Staff has recognized that differences in input parameters can significantly
affect the size and volume of rock required for the rock apron. Extensive
discussion of the ACE report and the ACE design method were provided in the
SR.

Based on its review of the ACE report, the Staff concluded that the design
parameters selected for use in the ACE calculations of rock size were very
conservative and did not reflect conditions that are likely to occur at the rock
apron if the river migrated to the tailings pile. Velocities, radii of curvature,
and scour depths were based on conditions that currently exist upstream, but do
not exist in the vicinity of the apron. Velocities that would affect the apron will
likely be smaller, and radii of curvature greater, than those that currently exist
upstream of the site. In addition, the methods used by ACE to determine design
velocities, increases in velocities in bends, and scour depths are conservative
and incorporate large factors of safety that may not be necessary to provide
reasonable assurance that Appendix A requirements are met. The Staff, however,
concluded that if reasonable and likely, values of channel velocity and channel
curvature are used in the ACE method, the rock apron design proposed by Atlas
is acceptable, even if all the other ACE safety factors are taken into account.
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Assertion 4. The DRC staff has concluded that the ACE approach is
more protective of the tailings pile side slope.

The Staff agrees that the ACE design is more conservative than the design
approved and would protect the pile under more severe conditions if such
conditions were to occur. Use of the ACE approach to determine rock size
and volume results in larger quantity of larger rock. However, the Staff has
concluded that the design proposed by Atlas is acceptable and that more and
larger rock is not required to meet the requirements of Appendix A.

In the SR, the Staff provided an extensive discussion of how the reasonable
assurance requirements are met by the proposed design. Further discussion was
also provided on the use of standard review plans and design procedures that
reflect an approach to tailings management that incorporates an appropriate level
of safety.

Of considerable importance in the NRC Staff’s assessment of Atlas’ proposed
design of the rock apron is the concept of ‘‘reasonable assurance.”” NRC
regulations require (Part 40, Appendix A, Criterion 6) ‘‘a design which provides
reasonable assurance of control of radiological hazards to . . . be effective for
1000 years. . . .”” This requirement comes directly from U.S. Environmental
Protection Agency (EPA) requirements in 40 C.F.R. Part 192. These standards
do not require absolute nor even near certainty.

Several reasons can be offered to justify the appropriateness of a ‘‘reasonable
assurance’’ requirement, rather than a more conservative requirement. Of
primary importance is that exposure to uranium mill tailings do not pose an
immediate acute risk to the health and safety of individuals. Rather, the risk
posed by tailings is from continual exposure to low levels of radioactivity and
is a long-term cumulative risk. If control of tailings was lost (for example, if
an earthquake beyond the design basis were to damage the cover and expose
tailings), actions could be taken to repair the damage, with little likelihood of
endangering individuals.

Additionally, uranium mill tailings disposal sites will be under perpetual
government custodial care. If the features providing control of the tailings were
damaged or compromised in the future, the government custodian could assess
the situation and provide repairs. Although NRC standards require that the
design for control of radiological hazards not rely on maintenance, the concept
of ‘‘reasonable assurance’’ does not preclude contemplation of government
custodian actions in unusual or unlikely situations.

Finally, the rock apron does not have to withstand a single, severe event
that could occur without warning at any time. This is unlike the situation in
designing protection from earthquakes or severe precipitation. For those events,
the protective design may not be tested for decades or centuries and then, in
a very short time, have to perform with a design event. If the Colorado River
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were to migrate toward the tailings pile, it would occur over decades or centuries.
There would be ample time to determine whether the assumptions used in the
design of the rock apron (e.g., the scour depth, river curvature, river velocity)
were correct or appropriate.

In summary, NRC regulations and EPA standards do not require the degree of
certainty about the potential future threats to the rock apron that would require
an extremely conservative design, but rather ‘‘reasonable assurance’ that the
design will protect the tailings pile.

Assertion 5. The DRC disagrees with the NRC conclusion that the Atlas
design provides the necessary protection of the tailings pile. DRC asserts
that the apron design does not meet the requirements of 10 C.F.R. Part
40, Appendix A.

As discussed in the TER and SR, the Staff performed detailed evaluations of
the proposed design. Based on those evaluations, the Staff concludes that: (1)
a conservative approach was taken by Atlas in its reclamation plan by assuming
that the Colorado River would migrate to the tailings pile and by designing
the erosion protection apron to account for that event; (2) the rock size of 11
inches proposed by Atlas for the rock apron is greater than the rock size of
about 2.4 inches required to resist velocities produced by the Colorado River
on the collapsed rock apron, based on the most conservative calculated channel
velocity and considering the effects of channel curvature and increased shear
forces on the outside of channel bends; (3) the volume of rock provided for
the apron is acceptable; (4) the maximum river velocity that should be used
for the design of the rock apron for reasonable assurance is approximately 5.2
feet per second (ft/s), rather than the 6.9 ft/s used by ACE; (5) the potentially
increased density of vegetation and tamarisks in the floodplains of the river will
not significantly affect river velocities in the channel; (6) the design parameters
selected for use in the ACE calculations of rock size are very conservative
and are not likely to reflect conditions that will exist at the rock apron, if the
river were to migrate to the pile in the future; (7) cohesive soils that could
adversely affect the performance of the apron are not significantly present; (8)
the requirement of reasonable assurance of site stability for a period of 200-1000
years is met by the proposed apron design; (9) a post-licensing monitoring and
maintenance program will be implemented for this by the long-term custodian
and will help to ensure that requirements are continuously met and to ensure
that any unexpected problems occurring at the site will be promptly detected
and mitigated; (10) the current design includes an over-designed volume of 5.3-
inch rock on the side slope of the tailings pile that would be available to also
launch into any gaps formed in the launched 11-inch rock; (11) the riprap for
the side slopes is designed for a precipitation intensity approaching the world
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record rainfall intensity; and (12) the riprap layer thickness exceeds the design
criteria routinely accepted by the Staff; and (13) the rock sizes that will actually
be constructed will likely exceed the sizes proposed by Atlas.

IV. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The NRC Staff has reviewed the concerns and issues raised in the State’s
petition and has concluded that the rock apron design for the Atlas reclamation
plan complies with 10 C.F.R. Part 40, Appendix A. For the reasons discussed
above, no basis exists for taking any action in response to the petition. Accordingly,
no action pursuant to section 2.206 is being taken.

FOR THE NUCLEAR
REGULATORY COMMISSION

Carl J. Paperiello, Director
Office of Nuclear Material Safety
and Safeguards

Dated at Rockville, Maryland,
this 20th day of January 1999.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

COMMISSIONERS:

Shirley Ann Jackson, Chairman
Greta J. Dicus
Nils J. Diaz
Edward McGaffigan, Jr.
Jeffrey S. Merrifield

In the Matter of Docket No. 50-289

GENERAL PUBLIC UTILITIES
NUCLEAR CORPORATION, et al.
(Three Mile Island Nuclear Station,
Unit 1) February 11, 1999

In this license transfer application involving the Three Mile Island Nuclear
Station, Unit 1, the Commission rejects an intervention petition on the ground
that it has failed to satisfy the requirements set forth in Subpart M for interven-
tion.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

This proceeding involves a license transfer application involving the Three
Mile Island Nuclear Station, Unit 1. The plant’s operator (General Public
Utilities Nuclear Corporation, or ‘‘GPU’’) and owners (Metropolitan Edison
Company, Jersey Central Power & Light Company and Pennsylvania Electric
Company) collectively seek the Commission’s permission to transfer GPU’s
facility operating license to AmerGen Energy Company (AmerGen).

On January 11, 1999, Mr. Camille ‘‘Bud’’ George of the Pennsylvania State
House of Representatives submitted a letter asking us to ‘‘ensure that a federal
hearing is held’’ on this application and ‘‘to ensure that Pennsylvanians are not
put at risk by this facility.”” On January 22nd, Mr. George’s office informed the
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Commission’s Office of the Secretary ("’SECY’’) by telephone that Mr. George
had intended his letter to be both an intervention petition and a hearing request.
SECY responded that Mr. George had not satisfied the regulatory provisions
governing requests for intervention and hearing in a Subpart M license transfer
proceeding. See 63 Fed. Reg. 66,721 (Dec. 3, 1998), fo be codified at 10 C.F.R.
Part 2, Subpart M. Immediately following the phone call, SECY mailed Mr.
George’s office a copy of Subpart M.

GPU and AmerGen, in their answers opposing Mr. George’s intervention,
argued that the procedural failures specified above were fatal to his requests.
Mr. George filed no reply to those answers but, on February 11th, submitted a
second letter which he says ‘‘amend[s], clarif[ies] and [restate[s]’’ the content of
his first letter.! We agree with GPU and AmerGen that Mr. George has failed
to satisfy the requirements set forth in Subpart M for intervention. Nothing in
Mr. George’s most recent correspondence convinces us otherwise. We therefore
deny Mr. George’s requests and dismiss this proceeding. The NRC Staff, of
course, will review the license transfer application to ensure that all regulatory
requirements are met and that the public health and safety are protected.?

IT IS SO ORDERED.

For the Commission

ANNETTE L. VIETTI-COOK
Secretary of the Commission

Dated at Rockville, Maryland,
this 11th day of February 1999.

' Mr. George’s second letter does not purport to be a reply pursuant to 10 C.F.R. §2.1307(b). However, even
construing it as such, the filing would still fail as being untimely and failing to reply (or refer) to GPU’s and
AmerGen’s Answers.

2In our December 21st Federal Register Notice, we indicated that intervention petitions and hearing requests
must be filed by January 11th, but that, as an alternative to requests for hearing and petitions to intervene, persons
were also permitted to submit written comments to the Commission by January 20, 1999, regarding the license
transfer application. The Commission has received one comment, postmarked January 15th, from H.E. Williams,
Jr. We have referred this comment, as well as Mr. George’s two letters, to the NRC Staff for its consideration.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

COMMISSIONERS:

Shirley Ann Jackson, Chairman
Greta J. Dicus
Nils J. Diaz
Edward McGaffigan, Jr.
Jeffrey S. Merrifield

In the Matter of Docket No. 40-8968-ML

HYDRO RESOURCES, INC.
(2929 Coors Road, Suite 101,
Albuquerque, NM 87120) February 11, 1999

The Commission reviewed a petition from several Intervenors for interlocu-
tory review of a Presiding Officer’s Memorandum and Order denying requests to
adjust schedules for various motions in the proceeding and to extend a deadline
for written submissions. The Commission grants the petition insofar as it seeks
an extension of the submission deadline and gives the Intervenors additional
time. In all other respects, the petition is denied and the Commission does not
alter the balance of the Presiding Officer’s order.

RULES OF PRACTICE: TIME LIMITS FOR FILING

The Commission does not ordinarily review interlocutory orders denying
extensions of time, but may do so in specific cases as an exercise of its general
supervisory jurisdiction over agency adjudications.

RULES OF PRACTICE: TIME LIMITS FOR FILING

The Presiding Officer possesses considerable authority to adjust general
deadlines and procedures set out in the Commission’s rules.
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MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

On February 4, 1999, several Intervenors filed a petition for the Commis-
sion’s interlocutory review of the Presiding Officer’s Memorandum and Order
(Procedural Issues) issued earlier on the same day. In particular, the Presiding
Officer denied (1) a request to adjust the schedule for motions for leave to reply
and/or to request oral presentations, and (2) a request to extend the February 16
filing deadline for the next round of written submissions. Hydro Resources, Inc.
(HRI), has responded to the Intervenors’ petition and urges the Commission to
deny it.

We ordinarily do not review interlocutory orders denying extensions of time,
but we do so here as an exercise of our general supervisory jurisdiction over
agency adjudications. See Baltimore Gas & Electric Co. (Calvert Cliffs Nuclear
Power Plant, Units 1 and 2), CLI-98-19, 48 NRC 132, 134 (1998). The
Presiding Officer’s ruling of February 4 is consistent with the Commission’s
frequently expressed intention that this proceeding move to completion in an
expeditious manner. In a recent decision in this case, issued on January
29 (CLI-99-1, 49 NRC 1 (1999)), the Commission — acting sua sponte
— vacated an earlier scheduling order from the Presiding Officer setting a
March 5 briefing deadline and instead required the Intervenors to file their briefs
by February 16. Nevertheless, it appears that, in this instance, the deadline set
by the Commission’s order may have unduly disrupted the expectations of the
Intervenors given their reliance on the earlier scheduling order. As such, the
Commission is extending the filing deadline for Intervenors’ briefs to February
19, 1999.

Our decision today to relax the deadline by no means suggests any dissat-
isfaction with the Presiding Officer’s handling of the matter. In light of the
Commission’s earlier direction, the Presiding Officer understandably refused to
extend the February 16 deadline. We urge the Presiding Officer to continue his
effort to move this proceeding forward expeditiously. Finally, as we have noted
elsewhere (see Calvert Cliffs, 48 NRC at 134), the Presiding Officer possesses
considerable authority to adjust general deadlines and procedures set out in our
rules and we expect him to continue to exercise that authority if appropriate and
consistent with our directives to resolve this case promptly.

For the foregoing reasons, we grant the petition insofar as it seeks an ex-
tension to the February 16 filing deadline and give the Intervenors additional
time, until February 19, 1999. In all other respects, the petition is denied and the
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Commission does not alter the balance of the Presiding Officer’s February 4
order.
IT IS SO ORDERED.

For the Commission

ANNETTE L. VIETTI-COOK
Secretary of the Commission

Dated at Rockville, Maryland,
this 11th day of February 1999.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

ATOMIC SAFETY AND LICENSING BOARD PANEL

Before Administrative Judges:

Peter B. Bloch, Presiding Officer
Thomas D. Murphy, Special Assistant

In the Matter of Docket No. 40-8968-ML
(ASLBP No. 95-706-01-ML)

(Re: Leach Mining

and Milling License)

HYDRO RESOURCES, INC.
(2929 Coors Road, Suite 101,
Albuquerque, NM 87120) February 3, 1999

Relief was denied concerning liquid waste disposal issues. The Presiding
Officer determined that the licensing standard that must be met by Applicant
is that there is adequate protection of public health and safety and adequate
consideration of environmental issues related to waste disposal, both during
operations and cleanup. 10 C.F.R. §40.32(c) and (d). He concluded that
Intervenors had incorrectly relied on 10 C.F.R. §40.31(h) and on 10 C.F.R.
Part 40, Appendix A, which apply to mill tailings facilities ‘‘at sites formerly
associated with such milling.”’

INJECTION MINING OR IN SITU URANIUM SOLUTION MINING

Section 40.31(h) and 10 C.F.R. Part 40, Appendix A, apply to mill tailings
facilities ‘‘at sites formerly associated with such milling.”” They do not apply
to injection mining for uranium, although Criteria 2 and 5A apply. Criterion 7
does not apply.
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INJECTION MINING OR IN SITU URANIUM SOLUTION MINING

This Decision includes a detailed description of an injection mining project.

PARTIAL INITIAL DECISION
(Waste Disposal Issues)

This Decision determines the merits of the Written Presentations on Liquid
Waste Disposal Issues filed on November 9, 1998, by Eastern Navajo Diné
Against Uranium Mining (ENDAUM), the Southwest Research and Information
Center (SRIC), Grace Sam, and Marilyn Morris (Intervenors).!

I have concluded that Intervenors’ request for relief should be denied.
Intervenors erroneously rested a substantial portion of their argument on 10
C.FR. §40.31(h) and on 10 C.F.R. Part 40, Appendix A, which apply to mill
tailings facilities ‘‘at sites formerly associated with such milling.”” Although
portions of Appendix A do apply to injection mining, Intervenors are incorrect
in their assumption that the appendix is generally applicable to this project.

For reasons that will be discussed below, I have concluded that the licensing
standard that must be met by HRI is that there is adequate protection of public
health and safety and adequate consideration of environmental issues related
to waste disposal, both during operations and cleanup. 10 C.F.R. §40.32(c)
and (d); National Environmental Policy Act of 1969, 42 U.S.C. §§4321 et
seq. (NEPA). HRI’s waste products are far less hazardous than mill tailings
and its precautions for the treatment and disposition of wastes are adequate.
Intervenors have not raised any issues on which HRI has not carried its burden
of demonstrating adequate protection of public health and safety and adequate
consideration of environmental issues.

I. BACKGROUND: DESCRIPTION OF THE HRI PROJECT

HRI has applied for and received a materials license to conduct in situ leach
(ISL) mining on Sections 8 and 17 in Church Rock, New Mexico, and on
two sites in Crownpoint, New Mexico, ‘‘Unit 1°° and ‘‘Crownpoint.”’? HRI’s

lHydro Resources, Inc. (HRI), filed its ‘‘Response to Intervenors’ November 9, 1998 Briefs in Opposition to
Application for a Materials License with Respect to Liquid Waste Disposal Issues’” on December 9, 1998 (HRI
Response). The Staff of the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (Staff) filed its ‘‘Response to Intervenor Presentations
on Liquid Waste Disposal Issues’’ on December 16, 1998 (Staff Response).

2HRI has been granted a license (SUA-1508, January 5, 1998) (License) to conduct ISL mining. It submitted
its initial application on April 13, 1988, and proposed to mine on Section 8 in Church Rock. Hearing

(Continued)
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application proposes processing the uranium extracted from each site at its
Crownpoint processing facility.?

Solution mining produces different types of effluents that could be released to
the environment: (1) gaseous emissions and airborne particulates resulting from
the injection of groundwater enriched with dissolved oxygen and bicarbonate
ions (‘‘lixiviant’”) and from the drying of yellowcake, and (2) liquid waste asso-
ciated with well field processing and aquifer restoration. ‘‘Final Environmental
Impact Statement: To Construct and Operate the Crownpoint Uranium Solution
Mining Project,”” NUREG-1508 (February 1997) (FEIS) at 2-5, 6, 14 and 16.
This Decision deals only with liquid effluents.

Some liquid waste occurs because HRI will inject lixiviant into rock forma-
tions in which recoverable quantities of uranium oxide have been identified. The
lixiviant will cause the uranium oxide to be dissolved. By operating ‘‘produc-
tion wells’’ near the injection sites, HRI will withdraw somewhat more water
from the formation than it has injected into it. This causes a ‘‘negative pres-
sure’’ that causes the pregnant (i.e., uranium rich) lixiviant to flow toward the
production wells, where it is pumped to the surface. Aboveground, the pregnant
lixiviant is subject to three treatments. One removes the uranium oxide through
ion exchange (using IX resin). Another ensures that radon gas will be kept un-
der pressure so that the lixiviant may be safely reinjected into the underground
formations without being discharged to the atmosphere. Still another treatment
removes 99% of the radium from the production bleed, which would be subse-
quently treated and then disposed of by ‘‘an NRC-approved disposal method.”’
FEIS at 2-16.

After the uranium oxide is removed from the pregnant lixiviant through ion
exchange, the ion exchange resin is subject to a chemical process, called elution
or ‘‘stripping,”” which uses a chloride salt to replace the uranium oxide that was
bound to the resin. The solution containing the uranium oxide is then dewatered,
filtered, and dried in a vacuum drier to produce uranium oxide concentrate or
yellowcake. The moisture from the drying chamber is filtered and condensed,
reducing emissions almost to zero. FEIS at 2-9 to 2-12.

The production bleed contains radium, 99% of which is removed from the
process wastewater. Because 1% of the radium remains in the production bleed,
retention ponds at injection mining sites are necessary. These ponds are designed

Record Accession Number (ACN) 8805200339, Application for Materials License (April 13, 1988). HRI
later amended the application to include processing in Crownpoint and mining at Section 17, Unit 1 and
Crownpoint. Consolidated Operations Plan, Rev. 2.0 (‘‘COP Rev. 2.0’"), at 2, Hearing Record ACN 9708210179
(August 15, 1997). See also Hearing Record ACNs 8805200339 (Application for Materials License, April 13,
1988), 9509080065 (Environmental Assessment of Unit 1, January 6, 1992), 9211399381 (forwarding documents,
including Crownpoint project technical report, July 31, 1992), and 9211300077 (Requests NE quarter of Section
17 be included in Churchrock mining project, September 28, 1992).

3COP Rev. 2.0 at 2. See also Hearing Record ACN 8811040138 (HRI changes location of the proposed Central
Processing Facility) (October 12, 1988).
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to promote evaporation and to control the byproduct material contained in the
production bleed. See FEIS, §2.1.1.5, at 2-12. During any injection mining
operations, HRI would be required to inspect the retention ponds, measure the
storage space left in the ponds (typically referenced as the ‘‘pond freeboard’’),
and check for evidence of any pond leaks. See id.; see also HRI License
Condition 10.5. The retention ponds will have double synthetic liners to prevent
any leaks. See FEIS §2.1.1.5, at 2-12; see also §2.3 of HRI’s COP, at 29,
providing a further description of the liners to be used.

At the end of injection mining (also called ISL mining) operations, the
radium-contaminated sludge at the bottom of the retention pond and any other
leftover byproduct material, will be transported off site for disposal at a licensed
facility. See FEIS §2.1.2.3, at 2-16 to 2-17. Injection mining does not produce
any mill tailings. See Affidavit of Christopher A. McKenney, attached as Staff
Exhibit 10 to ‘‘NRC Staff’s Response to Motion for Stay, Request for Prior
Hearing, and Request for Temporary Stay’’ 930. Indeed, no permanent onsite
byproduct waste disposal is authorized by HRI’s license. See HRI License
Condition 9.6.

HRI claims that this process is low risk. It asserts that there have been 25
years of ISL uranium mining in the United States with ‘‘no significant impacts
to human health or the environment.”’* It asks that the Presiding Officer attach
significance to the failure of Intervenors to cite any adverse incidents.

II. APPLICABLE LAW

A. NRC Regulations

The principal regulatory standards governing this application for a license
are 10 C.F.R. §40.32(c) and (d), which mandate protection of the public health
and safety. Generally speaking, a license may be granted if, ‘“The applicant’s
proposed equipment, facilities and procedures are adequate to protect health and
minimize danger to life or property.”” For Intervenors to challenge successfully
the HRI license, they must establish that HRI has failed to demonstrate the
adequacy of its proposed equipment, facilities, and procedures.

1. Reliance on 10 C.F.R. §40.31(h) and Part 40, Appendix A
The Intervenors erroneously rely on section 40.31(h), which refers generally

to the provisions of Part 40, Appendix A, ‘‘Criteria Relating to the Operation
of Uranium Mills and the Disposition of Tailings or Wastes Produced by the

4HRI Response at 2 nn.9 & 10.
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Extraction or Concentration of Source Material from Ores Processed Primarily
for Their Source Material Content’” (Appendix A). As we shall see, below,
these regulatory provisions generally are not relevant to the inadequacy of HRI’s
license application. See SRIC Disposal Brief at 9-12; Morris Disposal Brief at
2-4.

On its face, section 40.31(h) states that it applies *‘at sites formerly associated
with such [uranium or thorium] milling.”” Intervenors do not present any
argument that explains why they believe the section applies to the HRI license
even though the HRI site is not ‘‘formerly associated with such milling.”” The
language of the section simply does not apply to the HRI site. The legislative
history also strongly suggests that section 40.31(h) and Part 40, Appendix A,
were designed to address the problems related to mill tailings and not problems
related to injection mining. See Hydro Resources’ Response at 9-16; Staff
Response at 5-21. The history of section 40.31(h) demonstrates that it does not
apply to injection mining license applicants, and in implementing the general
requirements of 10 C.F.R. §40.32 instead, the Staff properly applies only those
Appendix A criteria that apply to injection mining.

Similarly, Intervenors have argued that Part 40, Appendix A is generally
applicable to ISL mining. It is not. The principal purpose of Appendix A
relates to “‘sites formerly associated with such [uranium or thorium] milling.”’
Hence, the criteria of Appendix A do not apply wholesale to the HRI license.
Specific criteria within Appendix A are applicable to this license only when
they explicitly apply to ISL mining.

2. Applicability of Part 40, Appendix A Criteria

Criterion 2 is the only one of the Appendix A criteria that references ISL
mining.> The Criterion SA provisions also are applicable to HRI’s proposed
operations because ISL mining operations generally use surface impoundments,
and because such operations produce ‘‘byproduct material.”> See 10 C.F.R.
§40.4, “‘Byproduct Material’’ definition; see also Staff’s December 1997 SER
at 29 (recognizing applicability of Criterion SA provisions to HRI’s proposed
operations). The detailed basis for the Appendix A criteria, promulgated in
1980, are set forth in a Generic Environmental Impact Statement (GEIS). 45 Fed.
Reg. 65,521, 65,529 col. 1 (Oct. 3, 1980). The GEIS focused on the impacts of

3 Criterion 2, which the Intervenors do not discuss, states in full as follows:

To avoid proliferation of small waste disposal sites and thereby reduce perpetual surveillance obligations,
byproduct material from in situ extraction operations, such as residues from solution evaporation or
contaminated control processes, and wastes from small remote above ground extraction operations must
be disposed of at existing large mill tailings disposal sites; unless, considering the nature of the wastes,
such as their volume and specific activity, and the costs and environmental impacts of transporting the
wastes to a large disposal site, such offsite disposal is demonstrated to be impracticable or the advantages
of onsite burial clearly outweigh the benefits of reducing the perpetual surveillance obligations.
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conventional uranium milling operations, while giving limited consideration to
the impacts of nonconventional uranium recovery processes such as ISL mining.
See GEIS § 1.2, ““Scope of Statement,’” at 1-1 to 1-2.°

Intervenors have focused their attention on Criterion 7. However, Criterion
7A explains that the purpose of the required detection monitoring program is to
detect ‘‘leakage of hazardous constituents from the disposal area.”” (Emphasis
added.) I infer that this requirement applies to mill tailings, which are left in
a ‘‘disposal area’” and not to ISL mining. The definition of ‘‘disposal area,”’
found in the beginning of Criterion 6, refers to an area of a site put aside
for controlled, long-term storage of waste after a project is completed. That
criterion is inapplicable here because there will not be any waste byproduct
material permanently disposed of on this site.

Staff correctly states, at 19 of the Staff Response:

In arguing the applicability of Criterion 7A, Ms. Sam and Ms. Morris cite the 1995 “‘Staff
Technical Position on Effluent Disposal at Licensed Uranium Recovery Facilities”” (Effluent
STP). See Morris Disposal Brief, at 4 n.1, 10, and 10 n.6. The Effluent STP provides a
general guide to the NRC staff in reviewing waste disposal proposals at both uranium mills
and ISL facilities. See Effluent STP, at 1. As a result, its wording is necessarily broad.
Consistent with its status as a general guidance document, the wording of the applicable
regulations controls for purposes of legal enforcement. See id., at 2.

In license proceedings, guidance documents provide ‘‘guidance’” but it is the
agency’s regulations, promulgated after notice and comment, that control. 10
C.F.R. §2.1239(a).

Intervenors have argued that HRI’s license application is deficient because it
does not specify in detail the arrangements for surface impoundments. I reject
this argument. HRI complied with these regulations when it stated in the COP
2.0 that:

all CUP surface impoundments will be equipped with two impermeable synthetic membrane
liners: an inner 30 mil Hypalon liner, or equivalent, and an outer liner 36 mils thick made
of Hypalon, or equivalent (I mil = 0.001 inch). A space 4 to 5 inches thick between the two
liners will contain sand, or some other (granular) porous medium, and a drainage network
of open piping, forming an underdrain leak detection system. The (inner) liner will provide
secondary containment for any leakage that may occur.

NRC recognized HRI’s commitment in this regard in the SER:

HRI has committed to using a double-lined, impermeable synthetic membrane for its waste
retention ponds in accordance with 10 C.F.R. Part 40, Appendix A requirements. The liners

1n October 1980, section 40.31(h) and Part 40, Appendix A were promulgated in final form. See 45 Fed.
Reg. at 65,528 col.2, 65,529 col. At 65,529, the 1980 Statement of Considerations erroneously refers to ‘‘a new
paragraph (g)’” being added to 10 C.F.R. § 40.31. The error is corrected at 46 Fed. Reg. 13,497 (Feb. 23, 1981).
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will be separated by 4-5 inches of sand or equivalent medium, and a drainage network of
open piping which forms an underdrain leak detection system. The inner liner will provide
secondary containment for any leakage that may occur. HRI states that it will conduct daily
inspections for leakage, and that fluid found in the leak detection system will be cause for
immediate corrective action, including notification of the NRC.

SER at 30. In addition the Staff has imposed License Condition 10.26, requiring
NRC acceptance of the adequacy of waste retention ponds prior to lixiviant
injection. License SUA-1508 at 8. Intervenors have not persuaded me that
these specifications are deficient.

3. Applicability of Part 20

On pages 29-37 of their brief, ENDAUM and SRIC claim that HRI has failed
to provide specific information and analyses in the license application required
by 10 C.F.R. §20.2002 for licensing waste disposal by land application, surface
discharge, or deep-well injection ‘‘as HRI is already contemplating using these
alternative methods in some form.”” ENDAUM and SRIC Phase I Brief at 29-30.7
As the SER points out, with respect to restoration water, ‘‘[c]urrently, HRI would
be limited to using either surface discharge (with appropriate State or Federal
permits/licenses), brine concentration, waste retention ponds, or a combination
of these three options to dispose of [restoration]® waste water.”” SER at 26.
HRI has not submitted an application to the Commission for deep-well injection,
surface water discharge, or land application. Accordingly, it need not satisfy the
section 20.2002 requirements at this time.

III. NATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY ACT (NEPA)

A. Analysis

As the Staff argues, the FEIS has not been brought seriously into question
by the arguments of the Intervenors. Page 30 of the Staff Response declares:

The 1997 FEIS contains over 250 pages of analysis, not including appendices. Even if
all of the criticisms offered by ENDAUM and SRIC regarding the FEIS (see SRIC Disposal
Brief, at 38-53) were valid (which, as discussed below, they are not), their arguments would
fall far short of establishing that the NRC failed to take the ‘‘hard look’ required by the
National Environmental Policy Act of 1969, 42 U.S.C. §§ 4321 et seq. (NEPA).

7ENDAUM and SRIC do not take issue with HRI’s use of evaporation as they admit that it is authorized by
10 C.F.R. Part 40, Appendix A. See ENDAUM and SRIC Phase I Brief at 29 n.14.

8 Although the SER states ‘‘process’” water here, clearly, the Staff intended to refer to ‘‘restoration’” water. There
are no plans for process water to be surface discharged.
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Indeed, I have reviewed the FEIS carefully and I am impressed by its attention
to technical detail and its thoughtful consideration of environmental risks.
Intervenors have failed to demonstrate any significant deficiencies.

I am also convinced by the Staff’s arguments, at 30-37, that Intervenors have
made a variety of errors in characterizing the FEIS. These errors include:

e Mischaracterizing the FEIS’s production bleed estimate, which consistently states
that the bleed is 1% or 40 g.p.m. of water which is not returned to the aquifer.
See FEIS, §4.3.1, at 4-26. In agreement with the FEIS, COP Figures 3.1-2 fn
3.1-1 both show a 40 g.p.m. production bleed for various options of waste water
treatment.

e SRIC and ENDAUM, citing page 2-20 of the FEIS, state that 150-250 g.p.m. of
water ‘‘would be withdrawn during groundwater sweep’’, and that after treatment,
““all those gallons would be re-injected [in]to the aquifer.”” SRIC Disposal Brief, at
46. This misunderstanding may have been derived from FEIS pages 4-58 to 4-60,
estimating consumptive water volumes for each of the proposed ISL mining sites
singly, and in combination. At page 2-20, the 150 to 250 g.p.m. flow is represented
as an average 200 g.p.m. flow in Figure 2.7. Neither the FEIS text on page 2-20, or
Figure 2.7, states that restoration would result in reinjection of all withdrawn water.
Rather, the text on page 2-20 states that the permeate (clean water produced by
the reverse osmosis treatment option) would be reinjected into the aquifer. Figure
2.7 shows restoration flows for various restoration options, and shows that a 200
g.p.m. restoration flow would produce 150 g.p.m. of clean water (permeate), and
50 g.p.m. of waste water.

e ENDAUM and SRIC state that the FEIS does not discuss evaporation ponds in
terms of soil impact from ground disturbance. See SRIC Disposal Brief, at 48.
However, impacts to soils from evaporation pond construction are described on
pages 4-6 to 4-14 of the FEIS, along with estimates of disturbed acreage for various
alternatives.

e ENDAUM and SRIC incorrectly state that evaporation ponds are left out of the
FEIS discussion on how ground water must be protected from the effects of pond
leakage. Compare SRIC Disposal Brief, at 48 with FEIS pages 4-25 to 4-26. See
also HRI License Condition 10.5 (providing additional safeguards).

e SRIC and ENDAUM erroneously state that evaporation ponds may overflow. This
is a misconception, as HRI License Condition 10.5 requires that enough space be
left within each pond container (freeboard requirement) so that if a leak occurs in
a pond, there will be enough space in other ponds so that the contents of the leaky
pond can be transferred to other ponds to prevent further leakage.

e SRIC and ENDAUM incorrectly state that the FEIS only considered impacts for the
80 acres in Section 17 that might be used for land application disposal of liquid
waste. However, as was stated on FEIS page 4-11, the NRC Staff assumed that
land application at the Church Rock site could occur on any of the four sections
but that no more that 640 acres would be affected. See also HRI License Condition
11.8, which requires advance approval for land application; FEIS pages 4-7 and
4-10to 11.
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e ENDAUM and SRIC are incorrect in their concern about the significance of the
omission of manganese, molybdenum, and selenium from HRI’s water quality data.
These elements have been measured and are either absent or are present only in
insignificant amounts. See Table 29-1 of HRI’s response to RAI 29 (pregnant
lixiviant data); see also HRI’s December 9, 1998 filing, at 51.

e Contrary to SRIC and ENDAUM’s arguments, the FEIS gave adequate considera-
tion to impacts on water fowl. See FEIS §4.7.3, at 4-91 to 4-92.

Intervenors’ also presented overtopping concerns pertaining to rainfall, wind
and wave action, and operator error. It is difficult to imagine how maximum
rains in McKinley County, New Mexico, could result in overtopping, as the Prob-
able Maximum Precipitation (PMP) is 8.9 inches. In any event, in accordance
with License Condition 10.26(d), prior to injecting lixiviant at Churchrock, HRI
must receive NRC acceptance that the waste retention ponds are designed to
accommodate the Probable Maximum Flood. Further, wind and wave action are
covered by License Condition 10.26, which requires HRI to comply with NRC
guidance which sets requirements with respect to these factors. Intervenors also
have not sustained their concern that operator error may cause overfilling of
the ponds. HRI is committed to conduct operations so that pond freeboard is
maintained and it has adopted proper Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs),
as stated in the COP Rev. 2 §9.16 and as required by License Condition 9.8.
COP Rev. 2 §9.16, at 153-54; License Condition 9.8.

Order

For all the foregoing reasons and upon consideration of the entire record in
this matter, it is, this 3d day of February 1999, ORDERED that:

1. Eastern Navajo Diné Against Uranium Mining, the Southwest Research
and Information Center, Grace Sam, and Marilyn Morris are denied relief with
respect to their area of concern related to waste disposal issues.

2. This Decision is reviewable under 10 C.F.R. §2.1253, pursuant to the
procedures set forth in 10 C.F.R. §§2.786 and 2.763. The petition for review
must be filed within 15 days of the service of this Decision.

Peter B. Bloch, Presiding Officer
ADMINISTRATIVE JUDGE

Rockville, Maryland
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

ATOMIC SAFETY AND LICENSING BOARD

Before Administrative Judges:

Thomas S. Moore, Chairman
Thomas D. Murphy
Dr. Peter S. Lam

In the Matter of Docket No. 30-34318-EA
(ASLBP No. 99-759-01-EA)

SPECIAL TESTING LABORATORIES,
INC.
(Bethel, Connecticut) February 3, 1999

ORDER

The NRC Staff and Special Testing Laboratories, Inc. (STL) by its Director,
Richard A. Speciale, have filed a joint motion to terminate this proceeding initi-
ated by the Staff’s December 23, 1998 immediately effective order suspending
STL’s material license. The Board’s January 8, 1998 Memorandum and Order
sets forth the course of the parties’ settlement negotiations in this proceeding. It
suffices to note that the parties have now agreed upon an immediately effective
confirmatory order modifying STL’s material license and rescinding the earlier
Staff enforcement order.

The issuance of the confirmatory order settles the disputed issues between
STL and the Staff. Although at this stage of the proceeding the record is
necessarily limited, the terms of the confirmatory order clearly appear to be in
the public interest and reasonable in light of the conduct charged in the original
enforcement order. Because the parties agreed to the confirmatory order before
the Board entered an order establishing a hearing date, however, a motion to
terminate the proceeding is the appropriate vehicle to close the proceeding.
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Compare 10 C.F.R. §2.203. Accordingly, the joint motion to terminate the
proceeding is granted and the proceeding is terminated.
It is so ORDERED.

THE ATOMIC SAFETY AND
LICENSING BOARD

Thomas S. Moore, Chairman
ADMINISTRATIVE JUDGE

Thomas D. Murphy
ADMINISTRATIVE JUDGE

Peter S. Lam
ADMINISTRATIVE JUDGE

Rockville, Maryland
February 3, 1999
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Cite as 49 NRC 40 (1999) LBP-99-3

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

ATOMIC SAFETY AND LICENSING BOARD

Before Administrative Judges:

G. Paul Bollwerk, lll, Chairman
Dr. Jerry R. Kline
Dr. Peter S. Lam

In the Matter of Docket No. 72-22-ISFSI
(ASLBP No. 97-732-02-ISFSI)

PRIVATE FUEL STORAGE, L.L.C.
(Independent Spent Fuel Storage
Installation) February 3, 1999

In this proceeding concerning the application of Private Fuel Storage, L.L.C.,
(PFS) under 10 C.F.R. Part 72 to construct and operate an independent spent fuel
storage installation (ISFSI), the Licensing Board grants a late-filed intervention
petition concerning a revised proposal to construct a rail spur that would be
used to transport spent fuel shipping casks to the PFS facility.

RULES OF PRACTICE: INTERVENTION PETITION (PLEADING
REQUIREMENTS)

Absent some demonstration that separate consideration is required, a showing
regarding the 10 C.F.R. §2.714(a)(1) criteria would be equally applicable to a
late-filed intervention petition and any concurrently filed contentions.
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RULES OF PRACTICE: INTERVENTION PETITIONS(S) (GOOD
CAUSE FOR LATE FILING)

The first late-filing factor under section 2.714(a)(1) — good cause for filing
late — is also the most important in the five-factor balance. See LBP-98-7, 47
NRC 142, 173 (1998).

RULES OF PRACTICE: INTERVENTION PETITION(S)
(TIMELINESS)

Even though there is no Federal Register notice of an amendment application,
the fact the amendment was placed in a local public document room (LPDR)
created for a facility provides an enhanced opportunity for access to licensing
information that should be taken into account in analyzing the timeliness of an
intervention petition. It is reasonable to expect that, from time to time, those
in the area of the facility who may have an interest in the proceeding, would
visit the LPDR to check on its status. At the same time, nonparty status to
a proceeding is a pertinent factor in assessing the frequency of such visits. A
nonparty would not be expected to visit the LPDR as often as a party given the
need to travel to the LPDR in order to see the files. With this in mind, one
LPDR trip a month by a nonparty to monitor a proceeding seems reasonable.

RULES OF PRACTICE: NONTIMELY INTERVENTION
PETITION(S) (BALANCING OF 10 C.F.R. § 2.714(a)(1) CRITERIA)

Even with a finding that the first, and most important, section 2.714(a)(1)
late-filing factor — good cause for late-filing — weighs in a petitioner’s favor,
the other four factors must be considered to arrive at an assessment of the overall
balance that accrues.

RULES OF PRACTICE: NONTIMELY INTERVENTION
PETITION(S) (OTHER MEANS AND OTHER PARTIES TO PROTECT
INTERVENORS’ INTEREST)

Although winning United States Department of the Interior Bureau of Land
Management (BLM) permission to use federal land to construct a rail spur
involves a public process during which there is an opportunity for participation
in an administrative hearing, there is a significant question about the degree
to which this alternative forum might otherwise afford ‘‘a full hearing,”” see
Detroit Edison Co. (Enrico Fermi Atomic Power Plant, Unit 2), ALAB-707, 16
NRC 1760, 1767 n.6 (1982), such that the second section 2.714(a)(1) factor —
availability of other means to protect petitioner’s interests — would constitute
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a substantial negative ingredient in the overall balance. When the NRC is
the ‘‘lead agency’’ that will prepare an environmental impact statement (ELS)
relative to a proposal to use federal land for a rail spur, BLM will act only in
a cooperating role, providing comments on NRC’s preliminary, draft, and final
EIS, but not preparing its own EIS. Because any National Environmental Policy
Act (NEPA) responsibilities relative to the rail spur have been assumed by the
NRC, it is problematic whether the issue of NEPA compliance can (or should)
be contested as part of any BLM review process, neutralizing any negative
element this factor might bring to the balance. Compare Public Service Co. of
New Hampshire (Seabrook Station, Units 1 and 2), CLI-78-1, 7 NRC 1, 26-
27 (1978) (in NEPA analysis, NRC will not relitigate issues delegated to the
Environmental Protection Agency).

RULES OF PRACTICE: NONTIMELY INTERVENTION
PETITION(S) (OTHER MEANS AND OTHER PARTIES TO PROTECT
INTERVENORS’ INTEREST)

The fourth section 2.714(a)(1) factor — extent of representation of peti-
tioner’s interests by existing parties — clearly weighs in favor of a petitioner
when no other party has raised a similar issue or even been successful in hav-
ing a contention dealing with the same general subject matter admitted in the
proceeding.

RULES OF PRACTICE: NONTIMELY INTERVENTION
PETITION(S) (ASSISTANCE IN SOUND RECORD DEVELOPMENT)

When a petitioner identifies three of the witnesses it may utilize in the
proceeding and, in the context of the affidavits supporting its petition and
contentions, provides an outline of the testimony of one of those individuals, this
affords at least some minimal support for acceptance of its petition under factor
three — extent to which petitioner’s participation may lead to development of
a strong record. See LBP-98-29, 48 NRC at 294 n.5.

RULES OF PRACTICE: NONTIMELY INTERVENTION
PETITION(S) (DELAY)

Any broadening of the proceeding by the entry of new issues is offset to
a considerable degree by the fact that admission is unlikely to result in any
protracted delay because the case is still in its informal discovery phase, so
that section 2.714(a)(1) factor five — broadening the issues or delaying the
proceeding — is, at worst, a neutral element in the balance.
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RULES OF PRACTICE: STANDING TO INTERVENE (NEPA)

In the NEPA context agency consideration of an action that would alter
assertedly pristine public land without a discussion of alternatives seemingly
would constitute a sufficiently direct and concrete injury to an intervenor’s
legitimate interests under NEPA to provide standing to contest that action.

RULES OF PRACTICE: STANDING TO INTERVENE
(REDRESSABILITY)

Argument that intervenor has failed to demonstrate a favorable decision likely
will redress its injury, and so establish its standing, because even if land use
application is rejected, BLM could grant a separate proposal for the land to some
other entity misapplies the redressability standard. What intervenor seeks to gain
from its challenge is to preclude the danger it perceives the applicant’s proposal
poses to the land in question. If, as a result of agency NEPA consideration of the
applicant’s proposal in this proceeding, the proposal is implemented in a way
that is not inconsistent with the petitioner’s asserted interest in the land, then
the intervenor has won all it can expect from this proceeding and its potential
injury has been redressed.

RULES OF PRACTICE: STANDING TO INTERVENE (FACTUAL
REPRESENTATION)

While an affidavit indicating that an individual had ‘‘frequently visited, used,
and enjoyed’’ an area and planned to do so ‘‘frequently in the future,”” could
have been more specific about the number of times the individual traversed and
otherwise used (and plans to use) the land in question, adoption of the term
““frequently’’ in this context demonstrates that individual’s bond with the area
is sufficiently concrete to establish his standing and, consequently, that of the
organization he has authorized to represent his interests.

RULES OF PRACTICE: STANDING TO INTERVENE (FACTUAL
REPRESENTATION)

Precision regarding a standing showing that is based on actual physical
contact (i.e., hiking, camping, etc.) with the object of the purported injury
is of less concern than for a standing showing based on distance from the object
in question (i.e., reside ‘‘x’’ miles from the facility). An ongoing presence
via physical contact can be adequately conveyed with a general term such as

““frequently.”” General references regarding distance, however, will usually be
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inadequate to establish the requisite concreteness. See Atlas Corp. (Moab, Utah
Facility), LBP-97-9, 45 NRC 414, 426-27, aff’d, CLI-97-8, 46 NRC 21 (1997).

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

(Granting Late-Filed Intervention Petition)

In LBP-98-29, 48 NRC 286 (1998), we denied requests by Intervenor State
of Utah (State), Confederated Tribes of the Goshute Reservation (Confederated
Tribes), and Ohngo Gaudadeh Devia (OGD) to admit late-filed contentions
relating to the August 28, 1998 license application amendment of Private Fuel
Storage, L.L.C. (PFS). The application amendment in question moves some
17 miles west the rail line that PFS proposes to construct to bring loaded
spent fuel shipping casks from the Union Pacific mainline south to its planned
10 C.F.R. Part 72 independent spent fuel storage installation (ISFSI) located
on the reservation of the Skull Valley Band of Goshute Indians (Skull Valley
Band). Besides spawning these Intervenors’ late-filed contention requests, that
application also was the catalyst for the late-filed petition to intervene and
supporting contentions of the Southern Utah Wilderness Alliance (SUWA) that
is pending before the Licensing Board.

For the reasons set forth below, we grant the SUWA intervention petition and
accord it party status, finding that (1) a balancing of the late-filing criteria in
10 C.F.R. § 2.714(a)(1) supports entertaining the petition and the accompanying
contentions; (2) SUWA has established its representational standing to intervene;
and (3) SUWA has proffered one litigable contention.

I. BACKGROUND

The circumstances surrounding the August 1998 license application amend-
ment that makes the so-called Low Junction rail spur the PFS preferred rail
transportation scheme are described in LBP-98-29, 48 NRC at 289. In a
November 18, 1998 hearing request, Petitioner SUWA sought to intervene in
this proceeding, either as of right or as a discretionary intervenor, to challenge
that amendment. See [SUWA] Request for Hearing and Petition to Intervene
(Nov. 18, 1998) [hereinafter SUWA Petition]. In its petition, SUWA describes
itself as a nonprofit organization dedicated to identifying and protecting the
“‘wilderness character’’ of roadless areas under the jurisdiction of the United
States Department of the Interior’s Bureau of Land Management (BLM) until
such time as Congress has an opportunity to designate those areas as wilderness
under the Wilderness Act of 1964, 16 U.S.C. §§1131-1136, and the Federal
Land Policy and Management Act of 1976 (FLPMA), 43 U.S.C. §§ 1701-1784.
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Id. at 2-3. According to SUWA, in conjunction with an ongoing BLM rein-
ventory of Utah wilderness areas, SUWA has conducted its own inventory of
potential wilderness areas and has determined that the North Cedar Mountains
area, through which a 3-mile portion of the Low Junction rail spur runs, should
be designated as a potential wilderness area. In this vein, SUWA submitted
two contentions, SUWA A and SUWA B, that assert a PFS failure to consider
adequately the wilderness character of the North Cedar Mountains area in and
near the Low Junction rail corridor in assessing the impacts of, and a possi-
ble range of alternatives to, the PFS proposal in violation of the Wilderness
Act, FLPMA, and the National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 (NEPA). See
[SUWA] Contentions Regarding [PFS] Facility License Application (The Low
Rail Spur) (Nov. 18, 1998) [hereinafter SUWA Contentions]. In its petition,
SUWA also addressed the standards in 10 C.F.R. § 2.714(a)(1) that govern late
intervention, asserting its petition meets those late-filing standards.

Responses to these SUWA filings were submitted by Intervenor State, Appli-
cant PFS, and the NRC Staff. The State supported intervention, asserting SUWA
had met the standards for late-filed intervention and had provided admissible
contentions. See [State] Response to Request for Hearing, Petition to Intervene
and Contentions of [SUWA] (Dec. 1, 1998) [hereinafter State Response]. PFS
and the Staff, on the other hand, both asserted the SUWA petition should be
denied in that (1) the SUWA hearing request did not merit admission under the
section 2.714(a)(1) late-filing standards; (2) SUWA had failed to establish its
standing as of right; (3) SUWA had not made a case for permitting discretionary
intervention; and (4) SUWA had failed to provide an admissible contention. See
Applicant’s Answer to Petition to Intervene and Contentions of [SUWA] (Dec.
1, 1998) [hereinafter PFS Response]; NRC Staff’s Response to [SUWA] Request
for Hearing, Petition to Intervene, and Contentions Regarding [PFS] License
Application (The Low Rail Spur) (Dec. 1, 1998) [hereinafter Staff Response].
In a reply to the PFS and Staff responses, SUWA declared that (1) it did meet
the section 2.714(a)(1) standards for late filing so as to warrant admission of its
intervention petition and the accompanying contentions; (2) it should be admit-
ted as party to the proceeding because it had established its standing as of right
and as a matter of discretion; and (3) its contentions were admissible. See Reply
of [SUWA] to Staff and Applicant Responses to SUWA’s Petition to Intervene,
Request for Hearing and Contentions (Dec. 8, 1998) [hereinafter SUWA Reply].
Thereafter, during a December 11, 1998 videoconference, the Board entertained
arguments from SUWA, the State, PFS, the Skull Valley Band, and the Staff
concerning the SUWA petition and its contentions. See Tr. at 1050-165.
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II. ANALYSIS

A. Standards Governing Late-Filed Intervention Petitions, Standing, and
Late-Filed Contentions

At this juncture, to gain admission as a party to this proceeding, SUWA must
clear the following hurdles: (1) establish that its intervention petition and the
accompanying contentions should be accepted even though late-filed; (2) show
that it has established its standing to intervene, either (a) as of right, or (b) as
a matter of discretion; and (3) show that its contentions meet the standards for
admissibility. In prior decisions in this proceeding, we have outlined the various
standards that govern these assorted aspects of our consideration of the admission
of SUWA’s petition and contentions. Among these are (1) the five criteria of 10
C.F.R. § 2.714(a)(1) that govern the admission of late-filed intervention petitions
and contentions;' see LBP-98-7, 47 NRC 142, 167 (late intervention), 182-83
(late-filed contentions), aff’d, CLI-98-13, 48 NRC 26 (1998); LBP-98-29, 48
NRC at 291 (late-filed contentions); (2) the requirements to establish standing as
of right or discretionary standing, see LBP-98-7, 47 NRC at 167-68; and (3) the
standards for admission of contentions, see id. at 178-81; LBP-98-13, 47 NRC
360, 365 (1998). We deal with these admission guideposts first as they apply
to the SUWA intervention petition and then with respect to the accompanying
contentions.

B. SUWA Intervention Petition
1. Late-Filing Criteria

DiscussioN: SUWA Petition at 9-11; State Response at 13; PFS Response
at 15-17; Staff Response at 4-7; SUWA Reply at 2-5; Tr. at 1050-54, 1060-63,
1070-75, 1091-94, 1105-09.

RULING: As we have noted before, see LBP-98-7, 47 NRC at 173, the first
late-filing factor — good cause for filing late — is also the most important in the
balance. In this instance, SUWA declares that it first found out about the Low
Junction rail corridor application amendment the second week of October 1998
and filed its petition and contentions some 6 weeks later. See SUWA Reply at
3; see also Tr. at 1105-08. According to SUWA, it had good cause for taking 6
weeks of preparation before filing because of the time needed (1) to familiarize
itself with the NRC regulatory process and the amendment, including generating
maps to compare the Low Junction rail corridor with the areas in which it has an

! Absent some demonstration that separate consideration is required, a showing regarding the 10 C.F.R.
§2.714(a)(1) criteria would be equally applicable to a late-filed intervention petition and any concurrently filed
contentions.
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interest as potential wilderness areas; (2) to retain an expert for use in analyzing
the revision and preparing the necessary support for its contentions; (3) to retain
a volunteer attorney; and (4) to consummate its internal processes to authorize
the preparation and filing of a petition and accompanying exhibits. See SUWA
Reply at 3.

The State agrees with SUWA’s assertion. See State Response at 3. Both
PEFS and the Staff do not, albeit for somewhat different reasons. PFS asserts
the 6-week period is too long given the nature of the amendment. See Tr. at
1061. The Staff’s disagreement, on the other hand, is based not on the claimed
6-week preparation period, which it indicates would be reasonable under the
circumstances, but rather on the basis that SUWA, as an organization generally
interested in Utah areas such as that around the proposed PFS site, should have
been more vigilant in learning of the amendment because (1) in early July 1998
PFS placed a letter in the docket of this proceeding indicating it planned to
file the Low Junction corridor amendment in late summer or early fall 1998;
and (2) the amendment was placed in the local public document room for this
proceeding in early September 1998. See Tr. at 1071-72.

We agree with the Staff that, under the circumstances here, the approximately
45-day period SUWA used to prepare its intervention petition, while perhaps
approaching the outer boundary of ‘‘good cause,”” was not unreasonable. We
do not agree, however, with the Staff’s assessment of SUWA’s vigilance in
discovering the PFS application amendment. Although there was not a Federal
Register notice of the amendment application, the fact the amendment was
placed in a local public document room (LPDR) created in Salt Lake City, Utah,
for the PFS facility provides an enhanced opportunity for access to licensing
information that should be taken into account in analyzing the timeliness of
SUWA'’s intervention petition. It is reasonable to expect that, from time to
time, those in the area who may have an interest in the proceeding, including
SUWA, would visit the LPDR to check on its status. At the same time, the fact
SUWA is not a party to this proceeding is a pertinent factor in assessing the
frequency of such visits. By way of contrast, we would not expect a nonparty to
visit the LPDR as often as a party given the need to travel to the LPDR, which
is located in Salt Lake City on the University of Utah campus, in order to see
the files. With this in mind, one LPDR trip a month by a nonparty to monitor
this proceeding seems reasonable.?

Considering the circumstances here against this backdrop, although the July
1998 letter apparently was placed in the LPDR, it seemingly was not sufficiently

2In this regard, we note that by the end of 1999 the agency hopes to implement a paperless document control
system under which electronic versions of publically available licensing documents would be placed on the agency’s
Internet Web site within a short time after the documents are received. How such a system might affect the timing
analysis above, at least for those with Internet access, is a question we need not resolve here.
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specific to prompt an intervention petition or contentions, particularly when it
referenced the fact an actual amendment would be filed later. The August 1998
amendment itself thus is the appropriate trigger point for any intervention or
contentions regarding the Low Junction rail corridor. Further, although the Staff
declares the amendment was placed in the LPDR in early September, see Tr. at
1071, it has not provided a specific date. We thus will presume the August 28,
1998 amendment reached the LPDR within 2 weeks, or by the second week of
September 1998. Further, we think it reasonable to count the 30 days within
which SUWA would be expected to make an LPDR trip, and thus learn about the
amendment, from the date the document is placed in the LPDR, or the second
week of October 1998. As it turns out, this is the same time frame in which
SUWA asserts it received notice of the amendment, albeit not from the LPDR,
and began its 6-week period of petition preparation.

Consequently, taking into account both when SUWA learned of the amend-
ment and the period it took to prepare and to file its hearing request, we conclude
SUWA has demonstrated the requisite good cause for its late-filing.

Having found the first, and most important, late-filing factor weighs in
SUWA'’s favor, we nonetheless must consider the other four factors to arrive
at an assessment of the overall balance that accrues. Relative to factor two —
availability of other means to protect the petitioner’s interests — we do not
find the PFS and Staff assertions regarding a legislative remedy and the right to
comment on any NRC draft environmental impact statement (EIS) particularly
compelling as alternative fora to protect SUWA’s interests. See PFS Response
at 16; Staff Response at 5. PFS, however, has suggested that SUWA does
have another administrative arena, the BLM, within which to seek a protected
wilderness designation for the portion of the Low Junction rail corridor about
which it is concerned. Indeed, PFS apparently must win BLM permission to use
the federal land upon which the Low Junction rail spur would be constructed,
a public process during which there is an opportunity for participation in an
administrative hearing. See Applicant’s Reply to [State] Response to NRC Staff
Lead Agency Filing (Jan. 5, 1999) at 3-5.

There is, however, a significant question about the degree to which this
alternative forum might otherwise afford ‘‘a full hearing,”” see Detroit Edison
Co. (Enrico Fermi Atomic Power Plant, Unit 2), ALAB-707, 16 NRC 1760,
1767 n.6 (1982), such that this factor would constitute a substantial negative
ingredient in the overall balance. As the Staff has made clear, NRC is the ‘lead
agency’’ that will prepare the EIS relative to the PFS proposal to use federal
land for the Low Junction rail spur. The BLM will act only in a cooperating
role, providing comments on NRC’s preliminary, draft, and final EIS, but not
preparing its own NEPA statement. See Letter from Sherwin E. Turk, NRC
Staff Counsel, to the Licensing Board (Dec. 16, 1998) at 1-2. Given that any
NEPA responsibilities relative to the Low Junction rail corridor have, in the first
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instance, been assumed by the NRC, it is problematic the degree to which the
issue of NEPA compliance, a focus of the SUWA contentions, will be a matter
that can (or should) be contested as part of any Department of the Interior review
process, neutralizing any negative element this factor might bring to the balance.
Compare Public Service Co. of New Hampshire (Seabrook Station, Units 1 and
2), CLI-78-1, 7 NRC 1, 26-27 (1978) (in NEPA analysis, NRC will not relitigate
issues delegated to the Environmental Protection Agency).

On the other hand, as the Staff notes, see Staff Response at 6, the fourth factor
— extent of representation of petitioner’s interests by existing parties — clearly
weighs in favor of SUWA because no other party has raised a wilderness issue
or, in fact, been successful in having a Low Junction rail corridor contention
admitted in this proceeding. Thus, at best, the second and fourth factors negate
each other in the balance.

As to factors three and five, which carry more weight among the four section
2.174(a)(1) non-good cause considerations, they are marginally positive (or at
least not negative) elements in the balance. SUWA does identify three of the
witnesses it may utilize and, in the context of the affidavits supporting the SUWA
petition and contentions, provides an outline of the testimony of one of those
individuals, Dr. Jim Catlin, thereby affording at least some minimal support
for acceptance of its petition under factor three — extent to which petitioner’s
participation may lead to development of a strong record. See LBP-98-29, 48
NRC at 294 n.5. At the same time, any broadening of the proceeding by the
entry of SUWA with its new ‘‘wilderness’ issues is offset to a considerable
degree by the fact that admission is unlikely to result in any protracted delay
because this case still is in its informal discovery phase, so that factor five
— broadening the issues or delaying the proceeding — is, at worst, a neutral
element in the balance.

Accordingly, with good cause for lateness having been shown and the other
four factors providing little, if any, counterweight, we conclude that a balancing
of the five section 2.714(a)(1) factors favors entertaining the SUWA petition and
the accompanying contentions despite their late filing.

2. Standing

DiscussioN: SUWA Petition at 12-15; PFS Response at 5-14; Staff Re-
sponse at 10-18; SUWA Reply at 6-11; Tr. at 1053-58, 1063-69, 1076-85,
1110-31.

RULING: Having gotten over the ‘‘late-filing’’ barrier, SUWA still must
establish its standing to intervene. As presented by the parties, the dispute
regarding standing centers on whether (1) SUWA as an organization has standing
to intervene; and (2) SUWA has standing through its representation of the
interests of one or more of its members. We see no need to address the first
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controversy, because, as we explain below, SUWA has fulfilled the qualifications
for representational standing relative to its member, Dr. Jim Catlin.

Of the four showings required by an organization wishing to establish
standing as the representative of its members’ interests, see CLI-98-13, 48 NRC
at 30-31, only one — whether one or more of its members would otherwise
have standing to sue in his or her own right — is at issue here.? Further, relative
to the three elements at play in this determination of Dr. Catlin’s standing as
the represented individual, see id. at 31, we consider only the first and third —
injury in fact and redressability — to be in serious question.*

Regarding Dr. Catlin’s injury in fact, both the PFS and the Staff assert that he
has failed to establish that his injury is sufficiently concrete and particularized.
Both declare the asserted injury involved is not sufficiently concrete because it
does not involve a specific, tangible environmental harm. See PFS Response at
8-11, 13; Staff Response at 12. Additionally, both challenge the sufficiency of
Dr. Catlin’s affidavit describing the injury to his personal interests, which states:

I have a personal interest in and have frequently visited, used and enjoyed the natural
resources of the North Cedar Mountains and benches, including the section of this area
that will be traversed by the proposed rail spur, for many health, recreational, scientific,
spiritual, educational, aesthetic, and other purposes and will do so frequently in the future. I
have visited these areas, including the exact tract of land within the North Cedar Mountains
area that will be traversed by the proposed rail spur, and have developed an ongoing and
deep bond with the land and its wilderness character which I will continue to cultivate in
the future. I frequently enjoyed and will, in the future with some frequency, enjoy hiking,
camping, birdwatching, study, contemplation, solitude, photography, and other activities in
and around the North Cedar Mountains roadless area, including the exact tract of land —
the bench of the North Cedar Mountains — over which the proposed rail spur will traverse.
I will be personally harmed and my health, recreational, scientific, spiritual, educational,
aesthetic, informational, and other interests will be directly affected and irreparably harmed
by a decision to allow construction and operation of the Low Rail Spur and by other agency
actions which may impact the North Cedar Mountains, including the exact tract of land —
the bench of the North Cedar Mountains — over which the proposed rail spur will traverse.

SUWA Reply, Second Declaration of Jim Catlin for Petitioner [SUWA] (Dec.
8, 1998) at 4-5. According to PFS and the Staff, Dr. Catlin’s use of the word
““frequently’’ to describe his past and future contacts with the Low Junction rail

3 Relative to representational standing, neither PFS nor the Staff has contested whether (1) the interests SUWA
seeks to protect are germane to its purpose; (2) the claim asserted or relief requested requires an individual member
to participate in the organization’s adjudicatory challenge; or (3) the organization has demonstrated that at least
one of its members upon which its standing rests has authorized it to represent his or her interests. See PFS
Response at 11-13; Staff Response at 12-15; Tr. at 1063-69, 1078-81. We likewise do not see these elements as
negating SUWA’s representational standing.

4 As the Staff notes, the causation element relative to Dr. Catlin’s purported injury in fact appears to have been
met. See Staff Response at 13-14.
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corridor is insufficiently particularized to establish the requisite concreteness for
his asserted injury in fact. See Tr. at 1066-67, 1078-79.

Relative to the PFS and Staff assertions about the concreteness of any
purported environmental-related injury, we find the decision of the United
States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit in Idaho Conservation League
v. Mumma, 956 F.2d 1508 (9th Cir. 1992), instructive.’ Initially, we note the
court’s admonition that when ‘‘Congress is the source of the purportedly violated
legal obligation, we look to the statute to define the injury.”’ Id. at 1514. In this
instance, SUWA in its contentions has based its claims on alleged violations of
the Wilderness Act, FLPMA, and NEPA. As the Mumma court suggests, NEPA
provides a procedural protection for potential intervenors by imposing an agency
duty to consider all reasonable alternatives before making a decision affecting
the environment. In this NEPA context, even without the Wilderness Act or
FLPMA, agency consideration of an action that would alter assertedly pristine
public land without a discussion of alternatives seemingly would constitute a
sufficiently direct and concrete injury to an intervenor’s legitimate interests
under NEPA to provide standing to contest that action. Consequently, with the
provisions of the Wilderness Act and FLPMA, which make it clear maintaining
wilderness, and by implication the option to obtain a wilderness designation
that results in such preservation, has more than nominal value, see 16 U.S.C.
§ 1131(c) (wilderness defined as land ‘‘which is protected and managed so as to
preserve its natural conditions’’), agency action without sufficient consideration
of alternatives that would preserve any designation potential is equally injurious
to an intervenor’s NEPA procedural interests so as to provide standing.¢

As is specifically alleged in contention SUWA B, it is this NEPA interest
in considering alternatives that Dr. Catlin and, as his representative, SUWA
clearly want to protect. Accordingly, there is a concrete injury in fact in a proposal

5 As PFS noted, see Tr. at 1116-17, at least one other federal circuit has declined to follow the Mumma decision.
See Sierra Club v. Robertson, 28 F.3d 753, 759-60 (8th Cir. 1994). It did so, however, based on the fact the
matter under scrutiny in Mumma was a proposed resource management plan, as opposed to a site-specific action.
See id. at 760. Here, of course, we are concerned with a proposed site-specific action.

Both PFS and the Staff maintain that the fact BLM previously declined to designate the area in question as
potential ‘‘wilderness’’ area for further consideration by Congress renders speculative any SUWA injury in losing
the opportunity to have the land designated for protection. See PFS Response at 9; Staff Response at 12. As we
have noted, however, in the context of NEPA, even absent the FLPMA statutory scheme, there would be a need
to consider the natural state of the land and the alternatives, if any, that would be available to preserve that status.
This is particularly so in an instance when that natural state will be irrevocably changed by the proposed project.
Compare PFS Response, Exh. 3, at 17 (Utah BLM Statewide Wilderness Final EIS) (impact of not designating
Cedar Mountains wilderness area is area would not receive protection, but in foreseeable future no development
anticipated that would affect wilderness values).

In this regard, the Staff also questions the sufficiency of SUWA’s interest in light of the fact the proposed rail
spur would only go through 3 miles of the several thousand acre area identified by SUWA as wilderness. See Staff
Response at 5 n.6; see also PFS Response at 10. While this fact may influence the consideration of alternatives,
it is not disqualifying relative to SUWA’s standing.
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to take such an action without an adequate consideration of alternatives that
accrues to SUWA as it acts as Dr. Catlin’s representative.

Because, as the Staff concedes, there is a chain of causation by which approval
of the PFS application will result in at least a small portion of the Low Junction
rail spur corridor becoming ineligible for protected ‘‘wilderness’’ designation
under the Wilderness Act and FLPMA (at least as long as the rail line is in
existence), see Staff Response at 14, this leaves only the matter of redressability,
which can be promptly disposed of. The Staff makes the argument that SUWA
has failed to demonstrate that a favorable decision likely will redress its injury,
and so establish its standing, because even if PFS’s application is rejected, the
BLM could grant a separate proposal for the land to some other lessee. To
adopt this reading, however, would misapply the redressability standard. What
SUWA seeks to gain from this challenge is to preclude the danger the PFS
proposal poses for the wilderness designation of the land in question. If, as a
result of agency NEPA consideration of the PFS Low Junction rail spur in this
proceeding, the PFS proposal is implemented in a way that is not inconsistent
with SUWA’s asserted interest in the land, then SUWA has won all it can expect
from this proceeding and its potential injury has been redressed. We thus find
the redressability requirement is not a bar to SUWA’s representational standing.

Finally, we do not find convincing the PFS and Staff assertion that Dr. Catlin
has not shown sufficient contacts with the Low Junction rail corridor to establish
a personal injury. Dr. Catlin, as was noted above, indicated in his affidavit that
he had ‘‘frequently visited, used, and enjoyed’’ the area and planned to do so
“‘frequently in the future.”” As used in this context, the root term ‘‘frequent’’ is
defined in the dictionary as meaning ‘‘habitual’’ or ‘‘persistent.”” Webster’s Third
New International Dictionary 909 (unabr. 1976). While Dr. Catlin could have
been more specific about the number of times he has traversed and otherwise
used (and plans to use) the Low rail corridor lands in question,’ his adoption of
the term ‘‘frequently’” in this context demonstrates that his bond with the area
is sufficiently concrete to establish his standing and, consequently, that of his
representative SUWA.

"In this connection, we are considerably less concerned about precision regarding a standing showing that is
based on actual physical contact (i.e., hiking, camping, etc.) with the object of the purported injury, in this case
the Low Junction rail corridor, than we would be for a standing showing based on distance from the object in
question (i.e., reside ‘‘x’’ miles from the facility). An ongoing presence via physical contact can be adequately
conveyed with a general term such as ‘‘frequently.”” General references regarding distance, however, will usually
be inadequate to establish the requisite concreteness. See Atlas Corp. (Moab, Utah Facility), LBP-97-9, 45 NRC
414, 426-27, aff’d, CLI-97-8, 46 NRC 21 (1997).
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Because we find that SUWA has established it has representational standing
as of right, we need not reach the question of whether it should be admitted as
a matter of discretion.®

C. SUWA Contentions
SUWA A

CONTENTION: The License Application Amendment fails to consider adequately the
impacts of the Low Corridor Rail Spur and the associated fire buffer zone on the wilderness
character and the potential wilderness designation of a tract of roadless Bureau of Land
Management (BLM) land — the North Cedar Mountains — which it crosses. SUWA has
determined, after significant analysis, that the North Cedar Mountains qualifies for and should
be designated as wilderness under the Wilderness Act of 1964 and therefore should be
preserved in its current natural state until the United States Congress has an opportunity to
evaluate the land for wilderness designation.

DiscussioN: SUWA Contentions at 2-5; PFS Response at 18-23; Staff
Response at 20-24; SUWA Reply at 11-14; Tr. at 1132-33, 1136-41, 1143-48,
1151-54, 1155-56.

RULING: Inadmissible in that this contention and its supporting bases lack
adequate factual or expert opinion support; and/or fail properly to challenge the
PFS application, as amended.

SUWA B

CONTENTION: The License Application Amendment fails to develop and analyze a
meaningful range of alternatives to the Low Corridor Rail Spur and the associated fire buffer
zone that will preserve the wilderness character and the potential wilderness designation of
a tract of roadless Bureau of Land Management (BLM) land — the North Cedar Mountains
— which it crosses.

DiscussioN: SUWA Contentions at 5-6; PFS Response at 23-25; Staff
Response at 24-25; SUWA Reply at 14-15; Tr. at 1133-35, 1141-43, 1148-51,
1154-55.

RULING: As it seeks to explore the question of alignment alternatives to
the proposed placement of the Low Junction rail spur, admissible in that the
contention and its supporting basis are sufficient to establish a genuine dispute
adequate to warrant further inquiry.

Swe note, however, that given SUWA’s showing of its strong, persistent concern for the local environment,
SUWA would be a much stronger candidate for discretionary standing than petitioner Scientists for Secure Waste
Storage, a group we earlier dismissed from this proceeding for having failed to establish its standing as of right
or its eligibility for discretionary standing. See LBP-98-7, 47 NRC at 175-78.
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III. CONCLUSION

For the reasons given above, we find that Petitioner SUWA has established
(1) its intervention petition should be entertained under a balancing of the late-
filing criteria set forth in 10 C.F.R. §2.714(a)(1); (2) it has representational
standing as of right; and (3) it has proffered an admissible contention — SUWA
B. Accordingly, SUWA is admitted as a party to this proceeding.

For the foregoing reasons, it is, this third day of February 1999, ORDERED,

1. The November 18, 1998 SUWA hearing request/intervention petition is
granted and SUWA is admitted as a party to this proceeding.

2. SUWA contention SUWA A is rejected as inadmissible for litigation in
this proceeding.

3. SUWA contention SUWA B is admitted for litigation in this proceeding
and shall be considered as a Group III contention under the general schedule
for this proceeding, as revised on December 28, 1998.

4. In accordance with the provisions of 10 C.F.R. §2.714a(a), as it rules
upon an intervention petition, this Memorandum and Order may be appealed to
the Commission within 10 days after it is served.

THE ATOMIC SAFETY AND
LICENSING BOARD?

G. Paul Bollwerk, III
ADMINISTRATIVE JUDGE

Jerry R. Kline
ADMINISTRATIVE JUDGE

Peter S. Lam
ADMINISTRATIVE JUDGE

Rockville, Maryland
February 3, 1999

9 Copies of this Memorandum and Order were sent this date by Internet e-mail transmission to counsel for (1) the
Applicant PFS; (2) Intervenors Skull Valley Band, OGD, Confederated Tribes, Castle Rock Land and Livestock,
L.C./Skull Valley Company, Ltd., and the State; (3) Petitioner SUWA; and (4) the Staff.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

ATOMIC SAFETY AND LICENSING BOARD

Before Administrative Judges:

Charles Bechhoefer, Chairman
Dr. Jerry R. Kline
Dr. Peter S. Lam

In the Matter of Docket No. I1A 97-068
(ASLBP No. 97-731-01-EA)

(Order Superseding Order

Prohibiting Involvement in

NRC-Licensed Activities

(Effective Immediately))

AHARON BEN-HAIM, Ph.D.
(Upper Montclair, New Jersey) February 8, 1999

The Atomic Safety and Licensing Board affirms, with modifications, an
immediately effective Staff enforcement order, sustaining most of the substantive
assertions of the order but reducing the proposed suspension from NRC-licensed
activities from 5 years to 3 years and retaining other ancillary relief sought by
the Staff, such as reporting requirements for future involvement in NRC-licensed
activities.

ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS: UNLICENSED INDIVIDUALS

Under 10 C.F.R. §30.10, any contractor to a licensee, including a supplier or
consultant, who knowingly provides to any licensee information or other things,
may not engage in deliberate misconduct that causes or would have caused, if
not detected, the licensee to be in violation of any NRC rule, regulation, order,
or license condition.
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ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS: DELIBERATE MISCONDUCT

Deliberate misconduct means an intentional act or omission that the person
knows would cause a licensee to be in violation of any NRC rule, regulation,
order, or license condition. Deliberate is the same as intentional and does not
include careless disregard.

REGULATIONS: CONTROL OF RADIOACTIVE MATERIAL

NRC regulations under 10 C.F.R. Part 35 require a byproduct materials
licensee to appoint both a Radiation Safety Officer (RSO) and an Authorized
User, each with defined duties and responsibilities. An RSO or Authorized User
may delegate the authority to carry out those duties and responsibilities but not
the responsibility for ensuring that they are carried out.

REGULATIONS: CONTROL OF RADIOACTIVE MATERIAL

A licensee must apply for and receive a license amendment before it changes
RSO:s.

REGULATIONS: CONTROL OF RADIOACTIVE MATERIAL

NRC regulations under 10 C.F.R. Part 35 require that a byproduct material
licensee retain a record of the measurement of each dosage, including prescribed
dosage, of a photon-emitting radionuclide prior to medical use. Part 35 further
requires a written directive, or explicit prescription, any time a dose of I-131
exceeding 30 microcuries is to be administered to a patient; or for any therapeutic
administration of a radiopharmaceutical. These activities must be performed by
an Authorized User or designee.

ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS: UNLICENSED INDIVIDUALS
(SANCTIONS); DELIBERATE MISCONDUCT (SANCTIONS)

The Enforcement Policy, NUREG-1600, is NRC’s policy for exercising its
authority to take action to enforce its regulatory requirements. The particular
sanction is determined on a case-by-case basis and involves discretion, based on
specified factors that do not necessarily carry equal weight. Willful violations
are of particular concern.
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INITIAL DECISION
(Affirming Enforcement Order, with Modifications)

Opinion (Including Findings of Fact)

This proceeding involves the challenge of Aharon Ben-Haim, Ph.D., to the
August 27, 1997 “‘Order Superseding Order Prohibiting Involvement in NRC-
Licensed Activities (Effective Immediately)’” (Order), issued by the Staff of
the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (Staff). 62 Fed. Reg. 47,224 (Sept. 8,
1997). The Order prohibits Dr. Ben-Haim from any involvement in NRC-
licensed activities for 5 years from July 31, 1997. Id. at 47,225. It also imposes
various ancillary relief, including reporting requirements for future permitted
activities.

For the reasons described herein, we sustain most of the substantive assertions
of the Staff’s Order. In particular, we conclude that Dr. Ben-Haim deliberately
caused the Licensee, Newark Medical Associates (NMA), to be in violation of
several of the Commission’s requirements. We also conclude that the proposed
5-year prohibition against Dr. Ben-Haim is more severe than is warranted, taking
into account all the facts and circumstances before us. We accordingly are
modestly adjusting the length of the suspension, although retaining the other
aspects of relief included in the Order.

I. BACKGROUND AND INTRODUCTION

The Staff’s August 27, 1997 Order superseded in its entirety an order issued
to Dr. Ben-Haim on July 31, 1997. See ‘‘Order Prohibiting Involvement in
NRC-Licensed Activities (Effective Immediately) Pending Further Order,”” 62
Fed. Reg. 43,360 (Aug. 13, 1997). On August 19, 1997, Dr. Ben-Haim filed an
answer to the initial order in which he requested a hearing and sought rescission
of the immediate effectiveness of the order. Letter from Dr. Aharon Ben-Haim to
Edward Jordan, Deputy Executive Director for Regulatory Effectiveness, dated
August 19, 1997. On September 8, 1997, the Staff responded to Dr. Ben-Haim’s
answer to the initial order, treating it as applicable to the Superseding Order.
““NRC Staff’s Response to Request to Set Aside Immediate Effectiveness of
Order Superseding Order Prohibiting Involvement in NRC-Licensed Activities,’’
dated September 8, 1997.

On August 25, 1997, this Atomic Safety and Licensing Board (Board) was
established to preside in this proceeding. 62 Fed. Reg. 46,381 (Sept. 2, 1997).
On September 11, 1997, we issued a ‘‘Memorandum and Order (Granting
Request for Hearing and Scheduling Prehearing Conference),”” in which we
granted Dr. Ben-Haim’s request for a hearing and scheduled a prehearing
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conference to hear oral argument on the rescission of the immediate effectiveness
of the Order and to establish hearing schedules. On September 15, 1997, we
issued a Notice of Hearing. 62 Fed. Reg. 49,260 (Sept. 19, 1997).

At the September 18, 1997 prehearing conference, we orally ruled to uphold
the immediate effectiveness of the Order, based on the criteria set forth in
10 C.F.R. §2.202(c)(2)(i). Tr. 36. This ruling was memorialized by our
Prehearing Conference Order (Denying Rescission and Establishing Schedules),
dated September 25, 1997, LBP-97-15, 46 NRC 60.

On September 30, 1997, the Staff filed ‘“NRC Staff’s Motion for Delay of
Proceeding’’ at the request of the United States Department of Justice (DOJ). The
Staff’s motion for a 120-day delay of the proceeding was based on the pendency
of a criminal investigation concerning allegations of possible violations of
federal criminal law by Newark Medical Associates (NMA), its owners and
employees, including its consultant, Dr. Ben-Haim. The Staff’s motion was
supported by an affidavit from an Assistant United States Attorney in the
United States Attorney’s Office for the District of New Jersey. By letter dated
October 15, 1997, Dr. Ben-Haim offered no opposition to the Staff’s motion.
By Memorandum and Order (Staff’s Motion for Delay of Proceeding), dated
October 22, 1997, LBP-97-18, 46 NRC 234, we granted the Staff’s motion,
staying the proceeding for 120 days, until January 28, 1998, and setting forth
procedural requirements for further extension of the stay.

On January 28, 1998, the Staff informed the Board that it would not seek to
extend the stay, based on DOJ’s advice that, although a related investigation was
still continuing, it was not in the best interest of the government to extend the
delay.! On March 2, 1998, after seeking a proposed schedule from the parties,
we issued a ‘‘Memorandum and Order (Schedules for Proceeding),”” in which we
established a discovery and a hearing schedule. In accordance with that schedule,
litigation went forward, with the filing of interrogatories and document requests,
and deposition discovery. Prior to the hearing, by Notice of Evidentiary Hearing
dated April 20, 1998, 63 Fed. Reg. 20,434 (Apr. 24, 1998), we set forth a number
of technical hearing requirements, including the prefiling of lists of witnesses
and documents to be utilized and the statements of qualifications of the parties’
expert witnesses. Prior to the hearing, we also held several telephone prehearing
conferences with the parties.

To assist the Board in developing an adequate record at the hearing, the
Licensing Board, pursuant to 10 C.F.R. §2.722(a)(1), appointed Administrative
Judge Harry Rein, who has expertise as a medical doctor, as its Special Assistant,
to serve as a technical interrogator. 63 Fed. Reg. 18,458 (Apr. 15, 1998). The

'on April 23, 1998, the Staff informed the Board, as well as Dr. Ben-Haim, that DOJ declined prosecution
in the matter of Newark Medical Associates. The DOJ had directly informed Dr. Ben-Haim that he was not an
investigative ‘‘target’’ by letter dated March 20, 1998. Exh. BH-12.
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evidentiary hearing was held in Newark, New Jersey, from May 27, 1998, to
May 29, 1998. Following the public hearing, on June 4, 1998, the Board issued a
‘“Memorandum and Order (Telephone Conference, 6/3/98; Proposed Findings),”’
in which, to accommodate the schedule of Dr. Ben-Haim, we established August
14, 1998, as the date by which the Staff would file its proposed findings; August
31, 1998 (later extended until September 8, 1998, at Dr. Ben-Haim’s request),
as the date by which Dr. Ben-Haim’s findings must be filed; and September 11,
1998 (later extended to September 21, 1998, to accommodate Dr. Ben-Haim’s
extension), as the date for the Staff to file its reply findings. All proposed
findings were timely filed.

II. FINDINGS OF FACT

A. Introduction

In setting forth our findings of fact in this proceeding, we must note first that
Dr. Ben-Haim did not submit a conventional type of proposed findings, setting
forth matters of record tending to prove his claims. Instead, he admitted three
of the facts on which the Staff’s proposed violations were founded. He further
accepted ‘‘responsibility for his wrongdoing.”” He assured the Commission that
“‘he will conduct license activities safely in the future’” and expressed thanks
to the NRC Staff for its professional handling of his case. He expressed his
apology to Dr. Magdy Elamir, President of NMA, for having caused NMA to
be in violation of NRC regulations. Finally, he sought to have his proposed
findings considered as ‘‘a showing of cause to relax the order against’’ him.
(The proposed findings were not signed.)

The Staff in its reply notes that Dr. Ben-Haim in his proposed findings does
not dispute any of the findings set forth by the Staff. In these circumstances, we
could, except with respect to the relief sought, adopt all of the Staff’s Proposed
Findings. The Staff further claims that Dr. Ben-Haim provides no support for
his request that the penalty be relaxed (NRC Staff’s Findings in Response to
Dr. Ben-Haim’s Proposed Findings, dated September 16, 1998, at 2).

Because of the nature of Dr. Ben-Haim’s Proposed Findings, we are adopting
many of the Staff’s Proposed Findings, subject to editing. But our obligation,
of course, is to consider the entire record and not merely the content of various
parties’ proposed findings. See 10 C.F.R. §2.760(c) and, in particular, (c)(1).
Our findings reflect these requirements.
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B. The Staff’s Order

The violations upon which the Superseding Order are based are set forth as
follows (62 Fed. Reg. at 47,225):

10 CFR 30.10(a)(1), (c)(1) and (c)(2) require, in part, that any contractor of a licensee
not engage in deliberate misconduct that causes or, but for detection, would have caused,
a licensee to be in violation of any rule, regulation, or order, or any term, condition,
or limitation of any license issued by the Commission; or any requirement, procedure,
instruction, contract, purchase order or policy of a licensee.

1. 10 CFR 35.21 requires that a licensee appoint a Radiation Safety Officer responsible
for implementing the radiation safety program; and requires that the licensee, through the
Radiation Safety Officer, ensure that radiation safety activities are being performed in
accordance with approved procedures and regulatory requirements in the daily operation
of the licensee’s byproduct material program.

10 CFR 35.13 requires that a licensee apply for and receive a license amendment before it
changes Radiation Safety Officers.

Byproduct Material License No. 29-30282-01, Condition 12, dated September 25, 1996 states
that the Radiation Safety Officer for this License is Gerard W. Moskowitz, M.D.

During the period from November 1996 through February 6, 1997, Dr. Ben-Haim caused
Newark Medical Associates to be in violation of the requirements in Section III.A.1 above
by performing the functions of the Radiation Safety Officer (RSO), even though he knew
that: (1) the RSO named on the license application and, subsequently, on the license, was
Gerard Moskowitz, M.D., and (2) he, Dr. Ben-Haim, was not the RSO named on the license
application or the license.

2. 10 CFR 35.11(a) and (b) permit an individual to use licensed material for medical use
only in accordance with a specific license issued by the Commission or under the supervision
of an authorized user as provided in 10 CFR 35.25.

10 CFR 35.53(c)(3) requires, in part, that the licensee retain a record of the measurement of
each dosage of a photon-emitting radionuclide prior to medical use to include, among other
things, the prescribed dosage. Pursuant to 10 CFR 35.2: ‘‘Prescribed dosage’” means the
quantity of radiopharmaceutical activity as documented in a written directive or diagnostic
clinical procedures manual or in any appropriate record in accordance with the directions
of the authorized user; ‘‘Written directive’’ means an order in writing for a specific patient
dated and signed by an authorized user; ‘‘Diagnostic clinical procedures manual’’ means a
collection of written procedures that includes, among other things, where each diagnostic
procedure has been approved by the authorized user and the radiopharmaceutical, dosage,
and route of administration; and ‘‘Authorized user’’ means a physician, dentist, or podiatrist
who is (1) Board certified by at least one of the boards listed in Paragraph (a) of 10 CFR
Part 35, sections 35.910, 35.920, 35.930, 35.940, 35.950, or 35.960, (2) identified as an
authorized user on a Commission or Agreement State license that authorizes the medical
use of byproduct material, or (3) identified as an authorized user on a permit issued by a
Commission or Agreement State specific license of broad scope that is authorized to permit
the medical use of byproduct material.
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Byproduct Material License No. 29-30282-01, dated September 25, 1996, states in Condition
13, that licensed material is only authorized for use by, or under the supervision of, Gerard
W. Moskowitz, M.D.

Byproduct Material License No. 29-30282-01, dated September 25, 1996, requires in part,
in Condition 14, that the licensee conduct its program in accordance with the statements,
representations, and procedures contained in the Application dated February 21, 1996. This
application, which was prepared by Dr. Ben-Haim, requires, in Item 10.6, ‘‘Ordering and
Receiving’’, that the licensee follow procedures in Appendix K to Regulatory Guide 10.8,
Revision 2. The procedures in Appendix K require, in part, that the Radiation Safety Officer
or a designee must authorize each order for radioactive materials and ensure that the requested
materials and quantities are authorized by the license for use by the requesting authorized
user.

During the period from November 1996 through February 6, 1997, Aharon Ben-Haim, who
is not a physician, caused Newark Medical Associates to be in violation of the requirements
in Section III.A.2 above by prescribing, in writing, the radiopharmaceuticals and dosages to
be ordered and administered to patients by technologists for bone scans and cardiac images
(which are medical uses), even though he knew that: (1) he was not an authorized user
nor under the supervision of an authorized user; (2) he had prepared the Newark Medical
Associates license application to specify the name of Gerard Moskowitz as the sole physician
authorized user and Radiation Safety Officer; (3) Gerard Moskowitz, as the sole physician
user named on the license, was the only individual who could prescribe a radiopharmaceutical
and dosage for a technologist to administer to a patient; and (4) Gerard Moskowitz, as the
Radiation Safety Officer named on the license, was the only individual who could authorize,
or delegate to a technologist the authority to authorize, each order of byproduct material for
medical use.

C. Witnesses

At the request of Dr. Ben-Haim, the parties were not required to use prefiled
direct testimony of their witnesses but were permitted to present oral direct
testimony. Both of them did so (although the Staff elected to file prepared
testimony for one of its witnesses, Mr. R. Joseph DelMedico, ff. Tr. 659, and
Dr. Ben-Haim elected to have his own prepared statement bound into the record
as if read, ff. Tr. 786). All parties were required to prefile the statements
of qualifications for each of their expert witnesses. Memorandum and Order
(Schedules for Proceeding), dated March 2, 1998; Memorandum and Order
(Telephone Conference, May 12, 1998), dated May 13, 1998.

In support of its Order, the Staff presented the testimony of nine individuals:
(1) Richard Gibson, Jr., the NRC Staff inspector who had conducted an
inspection of NMA in January 1997 (Qualifications, ff. Tr. 73); (2) John D.
Kinneman, Chief of Nuclear Materials Safety Branch 2, Region I (Qualifications,
ff. Tr. 75); (3) Dr. Barry Siegel, Professor of Radiology and Medicine/Director,

2 Citations to transcripts of the evidentiary hearing reflect corrected versions of those transcripts.
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Division of Nuclear Medicine, Mallinckrodt Institute of Radiology, Washington
University School of Medicine (Qualifications, ff. Tr. 358); (4) Ernest P.
Wilson, Senior Special Agent, Office of Investigations, Region I (Qualifications,
ff. Tr. 516); (5) William J. Davis, Special Agent, Office of Investigations,
Region I (Qualifications, ff. Tr. 540); (6) Dr. Gerard W. Moskowitz, the
individual listed on NMA'’s license as the Radiation Safety Officer (RSO)
and Authorized User (Qualifications, ff. Tr. 215); (7) Lubica Smoligova, an
MRI technologist who ordered radiopharmaceuticals for NMA; (8) Marina
Geylikman, a nuclear medical technologist who performed bone scans for
NMA; and (9) R. Joseph DelMedico, Senior Enforcement Specialist, Office of
Enforcement (OE) (Qualifications, ff. Tr. 659).

Dr. Ben-Haim presented himself as a witness (Qualifications, B-H Exhs.
5-11). In addition, witnesses Marina Geylikman, Lubica Smoligova, and Dr.
Moskowitz had been designated as witnesses for both Dr. Ben-Haim and the
Staff. See Memorandum and Order (Telephone Conference, May 12, 1998),
dated May 13, 1998, at 3.

D. The Licensee, Newark Medical Associates

As of the date of hearing in this matter, Newark Medical Associates (NMA)
was the holder of an NRC byproduct materials license issued on September 25,
1996. Tr. 77 (Gibson); Staff Exh. 1 (NRC Materials License No. 29-30282-01).3
The license authorized the possession and use of byproduct material for imaging
and localization procedures conducted at NMA’s facility located at 810 Broad
Street, Newark, New Jersey 07102. Staff Exh. 1.

NMA'’s President, Dr. Magdy Elamir, signed NMA’s February 21, 1996
application for its NRC license. Staff Exh. 2 (NRC Form 313, Application for
Material License, dated February 21, 1996); Tr. 80 (Gibson). The license listed
Gerard W. Moskowitz, M.D., as both the RSO and the Authorized User. Staff
Exh. 1, 9912, 13; Tr. 78 (Gibson).

E. The NRC Inspection and Subsequent Licensing Actions

Mr. Richard Gibson conducted an inspection of NMA in Newark, New Jersey,
in early 1997. It was an initial inspection of a new licensee. Tr. 77 (Gibson).
The purpose of the inspection was to assess the Licensee’s compliance with the
regulations and with the license conditions. Tr. 85 (Gibson). See also Staff Exh.
10 (Inspection Report No. 030-34086/97-001, dated September 5, 1997).

3 As part of the settlement of a companion case, Dr. Magdy Elamir, President of NMA, agreed that NMA would
relinquish and surrender its byproduct materials license to the NRC. Magdy Elamir, M.D. (Newark, New Jersey),
LBP-98-25, 48 NRC 226 (1998).
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Prior to the January 29, 1997 inspection, Mr. Gibson contacted the Licensee
and spoke with Dr. Elamir. Mr. Gibson informed Dr. Elamir that he would be
conducting an initial inspection and would like to meet with him or the RSO,
Dr. Moskowitz. Dr. Ben-Haim met inspector Gibson at the facility, and neither
Dr. Elamir nor Dr. Moskowitz was there. Dr. Ben-Haim advised Mr. Gibson
that the Licensee normally conducts work on Saturdays and that Dr. Elamir had
asked him to meet with Mr. Gibson at the inspection (which took place on a
Wednesday). Tr. 86-87 (Gibson).

Following the inspection, Mr. Gibson telephoned Dr. Moskowitz and in-
formed him about the inspection. Mr. Gibson reported that Dr. Moskowitz
advised that he was not aware that he was listed as the RSO and Authorized
User for NMA; that he was never at that facility; that he had not performed any
of the responsibilities of the RSO; and that he had not given his consent to be
the RSO and Authorized User for NMA. Tr. 87-88 (Gibson).

A Confirmatory Action Letter (CAL) was issued to NMA on February
6, 1997, following Mr. Gibson’s conversation with Dr. Moskowitz. The
CAL documents NMA’s agreement to immediately discontinue activities with
byproduct material until such time as an amendment was filed and granted
naming a new RSO and Authorized User. Tr. 89 (Gibson); Staff Exh. 4.
The CAL also provided that Dr. Ben-Haim, NMA’s consultant, would audit
all aspects of the radiation safety program to determine compliance with NRC
requirements and conditions of the license. Tr. 96 (Gibson); Staff Exh. 4.

Dr. Ben-Haim responded to the CAL by letter on February 14, 1997, stating
that he performed an audit of the setup and operations at NMA. Dr. Ben-Haim,
in the letter, further stated that twenty-seven patients had received bone scans,
that only Tc-99m MDP single doses of 25 mCi had been ordered for bone scans,
and that the date of the first delivery was October 19, 1996. Tr. 96 (Gibson);
Staff Exh. 5.

On February 6, 1997, the same day as the CAL had been issued, NMA
submitted a license amendment application to change the RSO and Authorized
User on the license from Dr. Moskowitz to Dr. Romolo Maurizi. NMA also
sought to add Dr. Ricardo Baldonado as an additional Authorized User. Tr. 96-
97 (Gibson); Staff Exh. 6. On February 7, 1997, the Staff issued an amended
license (Materials License Amendment No. 01), listing Dr. Maurizi as RSO and
Authorized User. Tr. 101-02 (Gibson); Staff Exh. 7.4

“The license amendment did not list Dr. Baldonado as an additional Authorized User inasmuch as Dr. Baldonado
was a medical doctor who already was an Authorized User at another facility and could act in that capacity at
any facility, so long as the facility license listed at least one Authorized User of its own. Tr. 103 (Kinneman).
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F. The OI Investigation

Special Agent Ernest P. Wilson, as part of his duties, conducted an investi-
gation of NMA that originated from an allegation concerning the identification
of the RSO and Authorized User at NMA. The case was initiated on February
11, 1997, and the Report of Investigation (OI Report) was issued on July 23,
1997. Tr. 517 (Wilson); Staff Exh. 8 (OI Report, ‘‘Newark Medical Associates,
P.A.: False Statement in License Application Concerning the Identification of
the RSO and Authorized User,”” dated July 23, 1997). Special Agent William
J. Davis assisted in the investigation. Tr. 519 (Wilson), 541 (Davis).

As part of the investigation, many documents were reviewed and individuals
interviewed, including Dr. Ben-Haim, Ms. Geylikman, Dr. Moskowitz, and Ms.
Smoligova. Tr. 517-19 (Wilson). In the OI Report, which included thirty
exhibits, OI concluded that Dr. Elamir and Dr. Ben-Haim both deliberately
provided false information to the NRC in NMA’s license application and that,
after the license issued, NMA operated in deliberate violation of its license. Tr.
522, 537 (Wilson); Staff Exh. 8, at 23.

G. The August 27, 1997 Order

The Staff’s Order asserted that from November 1996 through February 6,
1997, Dr. Ben-Haim, in his role as contractor-consultant to the Licensee, NMA,
aided and assisted the Licensee in continuing to conduct NRC-licensed activities
even though NMA did not employ the Authorized User or the RSO named in
the license application and on the NRC license, and the named individual did
not serve in these capacities. 62 Fed. Reg. 47,224 (Sept. 8, 1997). The Order
stated that Dr. Ben-Haim’s actions constituted violations of 10 C.F.R. §30.10,
“‘Deliberate misconduct.”’ Id. at 47,225.

The Order provides that Dr. Ben-Haim violated 10 C.F.R. §30.10 by two
types of conduct: First, Dr. Ben-Haim caused NMA to be in violation of the
Commission’s requirements by performing the functions of the RSO even though
he knew that the RSO on the license application and the license was not Dr. Ben-
Haim but, rather, Dr. Gerard Moskowitz (hereinafter, RSO Violation). Second,
Dr. Ben-Haim caused NMA to be in violation of the Commission’s requirements
by prescribing, in writing, the radiopharmaceuticals and dosages to be ordered
and administered to patients by technologists for medical uses even though
he knew that only Dr. Moskowitz could authorize or delegate the authority to
authorize the ordering of byproduct material for medical uses (Authorized User
Violation). The Order also provides that Dr. Ben-Haim caused NMA to be in
violation of Appendix K of the license, which sets forth requirements regarding
the ordering of radiopharmaceuticals. Id.
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As a result of these actions, the Staff concluded that Dr. Ben-Haim deliber-
ately caused the Licensee to be in violation of NRC requirements. The Staff did
not believe that, if Dr. Ben-Haim were permitted to be involved in NRC-licensed
activities, reasonable assurance would exist that licensed activities could be con-
ducted in compliance with the Commission’s requirements and that the health
and safety of the public would be protected. Therefore, the Order concluded
that public health, safety, and interest required that Dr. Ben-Haim be prohibited
from any involvement in NRC-licensed activities for 5 years. Id.

The Order further provides that the prohibition is applicable to Dr. Ben-Haim
as an officer, employee, contractor, consultant, or other agent of a licensee and
includes, but is not limited to: (1) any use of NRC-licensed materials; (2)
supervising licensed activities, including (but not limited to) hiring of individuals
engaged in licensed activities or directing or managing individuals engaged in
licensed activities; (3) any involvement in radiation safety activities including
(but not limited to) functions of an RSO; and (4) development of license
applications, procedures and policies to meet license requirements, providing
training to meet license requirements, and providing professional services to
meet license requirements. 62 Fed. Reg. at 47,225-26.

The Order, among other things, additionally requires Dr. Ben-Haim to notify
the NRC within 20 days of engaging in NRC-licensed activities following his
5-year prohibition of the name of the NRC or agreement-state licensee and
location where licensed activities will be performed. This notification period
runs for 5 years following Dr. Ben-Haim’s resumption of licensed activities. Id.
at 47,226.

H. Common Factual Findings

Several factual findings are common to both of the categories of alleged
violations. Principal among these are: (1) Dr. Ben-Haim was a consultant to
NMA; (2) Dr. Ben-Haim prepared the license application; (3) Dr. Moskowitz
never performed the role of RSO or Authorized User at NMA; and (4) Dr. Ben-
Haim knew Dr. Moskowitz was not performing the role of RSO or Authorized
User at NMA. The Board, therefore, addresses these findings first.

1. Dr. Ben-Haim was a consultant to NMA. He testified that he was an
outside consultant to NMA (Tr. 787, 790), that he had known Dr. Elamir for
about a week before becoming a consultant for NMA, and that he had far greater
knowledge about nuclear materials than Dr. Elamir. Tr. 850-51.

Dr. Ben-Haim wrote a proposal to Dr. Elamir for his services on February
15, 1996, and delivered it to Dr. Elamir in person. The proposal stated that
“‘[w]e offer to obtain on your behalf in the shortest possible time your State and
Federal Material Licenses’” (with the term ‘‘we’’ referring to Dr. Ben-Haim). Tr.
821 (Ben-Haim); Staff Exh. 8, Ol Exh. 7 at 1.
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The proposal also provided that ‘‘we will install your Hot Laboratory and
establish the necessary Radiation Health procedures.”” Tr. 821 (Ben-Haim); Staff
Exh. 8, OI Exh. 7 at 1. Dr. Ben-Haim verified that the proposal stated that ‘‘we
will prepare for State and NRC inspections,”” and ‘‘[w]e will assure continuous
monitoring of the Laboratory in compliance with the regulations of the Nuclear
Regulatory Commission.”” Tr. 822; Staff Exh. 8, OI Exh. 7 at 1.

The proposal also provides that:

We will train your staff, assist you in staffing requirements, perform all equipment tests,
such as Dose Calibrator constancy, accuracy, and linearity, assure that proper procedures are
used in the handling of radioactive material, etc.

Staff Exh. 8, OI Exh. 7 at 1; Tr. 822 (Ben-Haim). Significantly, the proposal
did not offer to obtain the services of an RSO or Authorized User for NMA but
only to ‘‘assist you in staffing requirements.”’

On February 20, 1996, Dr. Ben-Haim and Dr. Elamir entered into a contract
that provided, among other things, for Dr. Ben-Haim to supervise the NMA staff
“‘in all aspects related to the safe use of radioisotopes’’ and to prepare NMA’s
NRC license. Staff Exh. 8, OI Exh. 7 at 2.

Based on the foregoing evidence, we find that Dr. Ben-Haim was NMA'’s
consultant for the preparation of NMA’s materials license and for ensuring
the safe use of radioactive material and compliance with the Commission’s
requirements. We also find that Dr. Ben-Haim held himself out to be well
versed in the Commission’s requirements and that he knew specifically that Dr.
Elamir did not have extensive knowledge in this area. Indeed, Dr. Ben-Haim’s
knowledge of the safe use of radioactive materials and understanding of the
Commission’s requirements were instrumental in his securing the consultantship
with NMA.

2. Dr. Ben-Haim prepared the NRC license application for NMA. Tr. 820,
823 (Ben-Haim); see Staff Exh. S-2. He testified that he is familiar with Form
313, Application for Materials License, that it is a one-page form, and that
he filled out such a form for NMA. He also indicated that he prepared the
supplemental pages that go with the form. Tr. 823-24 (Ben-Haim).

Dr. Ben-Haim acknowledged that the RSO and Authorized User in the license
application was Dr. Moskowitz and only Dr. Moskowitz. Tr. 826. See Staff Exh.
2. Dr. Ben-Haim’s testimony in this regard is consistent with that of Special
Agent Wilson, who testified that Dr. Ben-Haim told the OI investigators that
he prepared the application and all the correspondence and required paperwork
that needed to be submitted to the NRC. Tr. 527 (Wilson); see also Staff Exh.
8, OI Exh. 22 (interview of Dr. Ben-Haim). We reiterate that, as we previously
found, the license issued to NMA to possess byproduct material provided that
the RSO and Authorized User was Gerard W. Moskowitz, M.D. Staff Exh. 1.
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Dr. Ben-Haim was experienced in preparing NRC materials license appli-
cations. He testified that he had experience with the NRC’s regulations and
considers them important in his consultant work; that he had experience in
preparing NRC license applications; that he prepared five or so license applica-
tions before preparing NMA’s application; and that he knows what needs to go
into an NRC license application. Tr. 820-22 (Ben-Haim). He further testified
that he makes it a practice to know the regulations and knew a licensee must
have an RSO and an Authorized User. Tr. 823 (Ben-Haim).

Dr. Ben-Haim knew he could not be NMA’s RSO. On May 3, 1995, NRC
Region I sent a letter to Dr. Ben-Haim, owner of Servicing Imaging Systems
International, in response to an application for a byproduct materials license. Tr.
281 (Kinneman); Staff Exh. 11. The letter stated that the submitted qualifications
of Dr. Ben-Haim did not appear to satisfy the regulatory requirements at 10
C.F.R. §35.900 for him to be an RSO. The letter concludes: ‘‘Please submit
evidence that Dr. Ben-Haim has completed the required training and experience.
If Dr. Ben-Haim has not, we recommend that you withdraw your request and
reapply at a later date when a sufficient number of hours has been obtained.”
Tr. 282 (Kinneman), Staff Exh. 11.

Mr. Kinneman testified that the Staff searched for files to assess whether Dr.
Ben-Haim had provided additional information and could not find any. As a
result of the search, the Staff concluded that Dr. Ben-Haim had not submitted
information that indicated that he meets the RSO requirements of 10 C.F.R.
§35.900. Tr. 284-85 (Kinneman).

Based on the foregoing evidence, we find that Dr. Ben-Haim was experienced
in preparing NRC license applications and prepared NMA’s license application,
including the supplemental information. The application provided that the RSO
and Authorized User was Dr. Moskowitz and the license, which was based
on the application, so specified. It is clear that Dr. Ben-Haim knew that Dr.
Moskowitz was NMA’s only named RSO and Authorized User. Further, Dr.
Ben-Haim knew that he could not be NMA’s RSO because the NRC had found
his 1995 application to be an RSO to be deficient.

3. Dr. Moskowitz never performed the role of RSO or Authorized User at
NMA. He testified that he did not know anything about NMA until February 6,
1997, when Mr. Gibson contacted him and he became aware that his name had
been used in NMA'’s license application and subsequently on the license. Tr.
216, 223-24, 257 (Moskowitz); see Tr. 88 (Gibson). Dr. Moskowitz asserted
that he was very concerned when contacted by Mr. Gibson and, in fact, that
he was ‘‘horrified about the whole thing.”” Tr. 225. “‘It’s like someone taking
my medical license, putting it on their wall, practicing medicine with my name
and my license . . . .”” Tr. 224-25 (Moskowitz). When asked whether he ever
delegated to Dr. Ben-Haim the duties of RSO and Authorized User at NMA,
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Dr. Moskowitz stated, ‘‘I never delegated that kind of responsibility to anyone.’’
Tr. 217.
In response to questions posed by Dr. Ben-Haim, Dr. Moskowitz asserted:

I was never invited to come see your facility, I was never told where your facility was, . . .
I was never shown a full-fledged application that was submitted to the NRC. I was never
told that you had received a license. I was never invited to come over. Tr. 226.

At no time have you ever notified me . . . that I did not appear. You never invited me, you
never sent me a letter stating that I was in any way associated with the medical facility. Tr.
259.

Dr. Moskowitz’s testimony in this regard is supported by all the witnesses
that testified on this subject, except Dr. Ben-Haim. Mr. Wilson conducted two
interviews of Dr. Moskowitz (on March 6 and April 22, 1997) as part of the
OI investigation. Tr. 521-23 (Wilson). At the first interview, conducted in Dr.
Moskowitz’s office at the University of Medicine and Dentistry of New Jersey
(UMDNYJ), Dr. Moskowitz told Mr. Wilson that he had absolutely no affiliation
with NMA, did not know Dr. Elamir, had never been to NMA, and did not
have anything to do with NMA at all. Tr. 523. Dr. Moskowitz also provided a
sworn statement to OI, which became part of Exhibit 15 to the OI report. Tr.
524 (Wilson). See Staff Exh. 8, OI Exh. 15. Dr. Moskowitz’s sworn statement
provides, in pertinent part:

I have absolutely no affiliation to Newark Medical Associates (NMA), Newark, NJ, and
never have. I never met Dr. Magdy Elamir, M.D., any technicians that work at NMA, or any
consultants to NMA. I have never visited the NMA for any purpose and, to my recollection,
was never aware that NMA or Dr. Elamir had used my name as an RSO or Authorized User
(AU) on the NRC license application or the license itself, since the issue was made known
to me by Mr. Gibson of the NRC on or about 2/6/97.

Staff Exh. 8, OI Exh. 15 at 3.

Ms. Smoligova had been employed as an MRI technician for Dr. Elamir at
Newark Open MRI from June 1996 and ordered radiopharmaceuticals for NMA.
Tr. 124-25 (Smoligova). She testified that she did not know who Dr. Moskowitz
was, that she never heard of Dr. Moskowitz, and that she never saw him. Further,
that she did not know who the RSO and Authorized User for NMA were. Tr.
126. See also Tr. 535, 619 (Wilson); Staff Exh. 8, OI Exh. 27.

Ms. Geylikman worked as a nuclear medical technologist at NMA on
Saturdays. Tr. 176; see Staff Exh. 8, OI Exh. 26. She testified that she never
met Dr. Moskowitz and did not know who the Authorized User for NMA was.
Tr. 178. She had heard Dr. Ben-Haim mention Dr. Moskowitz’s name but did
not remember anything that he said about Dr. Moskowitz or the purpose for
which his name was mentioned. Tr. 186-87.
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Ms. Geylikman’s testimony in this regard differs somewhat from that of Spe-
cial Agent Wilson. Mr. Wilson interviewed Ms. Geylikman at Harlem Hospital
in the Nuclear Medicine Department. He asked her about Dr. Moskowitz, and
she replied that she did not know who Dr. Moskowitz was and further stated
that she knew the name but only because of the NRC inspection. Tr. 531, 532
(Wilson).

When Ms. Geylikman was asked whether she told OI that she only knew of
Dr. Moskowitz as a result of NRC’s inspection, she stated, ‘‘It might be, I just
don’t remember right now. But then I start to think and maybe I heard his name
before, just once, like this.”” Tr. 184-85. The Board considers that regardless
of whether Ms. Geylikman heard Dr. Moskowitz’s name mentioned prior to the
NRC inspection, it is clear that she did not see him at NMA or consider him to
be NMA’s RSO or Authorized User.

Based on the foregoing evidence, we find that Dr. Moskowitz did not perform
the role of RSO or Authorized User at NMA. Further, we find that Dr. Moskowitz
did not delegate the duties of the RSO or Authorized User to Dr. Ben-Haim or
any other person.

4. Dr. Ben-Haim knew Dr. Moskowitz was not performing the role of
RSO or Authorized User. The Staff argued that Dr. Ben-Haim knew that Dr.
Moskowitz was not performing the role of RSO or Authorized User because at no
time did Dr. Ben-Haim see Dr. Moskowitz at NMA or have any communication
with Dr. Moskowitz. Further, the Staff argued that Dr. Ben-Haim was aware
that an essential record at NMA had not been reviewed by Dr. Moskowitz. Dr.
Ben-Haim argued in defense that he met with Dr. Moskowitz at UMDNI prior
to listing him on NMA'’s license application, that he was candid at the NRC
inspection, and that Dr. Elamir provided assurances to him regarding Dr. Ben-
Haim’s expressed concerns that Dr. Moskowitz had not been to NMA.

Concerning a meeting with Dr. Moskowitz, Dr. Ben-Haim testified that he
saw Dr. Moskowitz on February 16, 1996, at UMDNJ, and that Dr. Moskowitz
gave him his curriculum vitae (CV) and other papers in order to be included
in NMA’s license application as the Authorized User and RSO. Ben-Haim, ff.
Tr. 786, at 1; Tr. 797, 809 (Ben-Haim). Dr. Ben-Haim testified that he phoned
Dr. Moskowitz using the phone number provided by Dr. Elamir, spoke with Dr.
Moskowitz, and made an appointment for February 16, 1996, at 10:30 a.m. in
his office in the Nuclear Medicine Laboratory H141, at UMDNJ. Ben-Haim, ff.
Tr. 786, at 1; Tr. 788 (Ben-Haim). Dr. Ben-Haim testified that ‘‘there was no
other purpose to my visit than to receive from Dr. Moskowitz these papers.’’
Ben-Haim, ff. Tr. 786, at 1; Tr. 789, 797. Dr. Ben-Haim testified that receipt of
Dr. Moskowitz’s papers is ‘‘a proof of his consent’’ to being named as the RSO
and Authorized User in NMA’s application for a materials license. Ben-Haim,
ff. Tr. 786, at 5. Dr. Ben-Haim indicated that no other person participated in the
meeting, although an unidentified individual may have been present. Tr. 828.
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Dr. Ben-Haim admitted that Dr. Moskowitz did not specifically say that he
wanted to be included in the application as the Authorized User and RSO. Tr.
795, 829-30. ‘‘He didn’t say, ‘I will be the RSO.” . . . We were talking about
scans and he said, ‘I’'m going to read the bone scans.” >’ Tr. 795. Dr. Ben-Haim
testified that he equated the reader of the scans with the Authorized User. Tr.
854. However, when asked, ‘‘Other than handing you the CV, did he imply in
any way, by words or body language, ‘Yes, I will be the RSO’?”” Dr. Ben-Haim
answered, ‘‘No.”” Tr. 854.

Dr. Ben-Haim testified regarding his March 7, 1997 interview with OI, in
which the agents questioned him about his meeting with Dr. Moskowitz. At that
interview, Dr. Ben-Haim could not remember the date of his meeting with Dr.
Moskowitz. Ben-Haim, ff. Tr. 786, at 3. When asked if he had an appointment
book, Dr. Ben-Haim stated that he took out his diary and came back to the two
inspectors. He looked through the book in their presence and saw the entry on
February 16, 1996. Ben-Haim, ff. Tr. 786, at 3; Tr. 800. See also Ben-Haim
Exh. 1 (excerpt from Dr. Ben-Haim’s diary). Dr. Ben-Haim, however, could
not recall if anybody saw him write the note. Tr. 830.

Dr. Ben-Haim’s testimony is generally consistent with that of Special Agent
Wilson. Mr. Wilson interviewed Dr. Ben-Haim at his residence in Upper
Montclair, New Jersey. Tr. 527 (Wilson); see Staff Exh. 8, OI Exh. 22. Dr. Ben-
Haim told Mr. Wilson that Dr. Elamir said that a Dr. Moskowitz of UMDNJ
had expressed interest in doing outside work and, therefore, Dr. Moskowitz
would serve as the RSO and Authorized User. Tr. 527 (Wilson). Dr. Ben-Haim
told Mr. Wilson that he met with Dr. Moskowitz after calling and making an
appointment with him. Tr. 528 (Wilson). Mr. Wilson testified that Dr. Ben-
Haim retrieved a daily planner which had an entry for February 16, 1996, that
read, ‘‘H-141, Dr. Moskowitz 10:30, 982-6022.”" Tr. 528, 554 (Wilson); see B-H
Exh. 1.

Dr. Moskowitz did not recall ever meeting Aharon Ben-Haim until the day
of the hearing. Tr. 216-17 (Moskowitz). Upon cross-examination by Dr. Ben-
Haim (Tr. 217-27), when asked ‘‘And you’ve never seen me?’’, Dr. Moskowitz
asserted, ‘‘[a]s far as I was concerned, the only time I’ve ever seen you is today.”’
Tr. 217. Dr. Moskowitz did not recall giving his CV and papers to anyone or
remember an Israeli coming and meeting with him. Tr. 220-21 (Moskowitz).

When asked specifically about his recollection of February 16, 1996, Dr.
Moskowitz stated that he ‘‘would not have met somebody for an extended period
of time to discuss anything on that Friday’’ because that was President’s Day
weekend, and he was going away and, therefore, Friday was a precious time to
complete all the work he had to do. Tr. 217-18 (emphasis supplied).

When asked regarding a statement Dr. Moskowitz made to OI that there was
less than a 1% chance that he may have met with Dr. Ben-Haim at UMDNJ,
Dr. Moskowitz clarified that his statement was made in the context that Dr.
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Moskowitz may have met Dr. Ben-Haim at ‘‘another conference somewhere else
in the hospital,”” but not in the context of negotiating a position as an RSO. Tr.
220, 222; see Staff Exh. 8, OI Exh. 16 (‘‘Moskowitz allowed that there was less
than a 1% chance that he may have met with [Dr.] Ben-Haim at UMDNJ’).
Dr. Moskowitz testified that the only face he could conceive of meeting was
different from Dr. Ben-Haim’s. Tr. 231. Dr. Moskowitz stated that Dr. Ben-
Haim has a ‘‘unique sort of facial appearance’” and that Dr. Moskowitz should
have remembered if he had seen him. Dr. Moskowitz conceded, however, that
under the pressure of a rushed Friday, he may have given Dr. Ben-Haim a CV.
Tr. 243.

Dr. Moskowitz did state that Dr. Baker of the UMDNIJ might have given
out his qualifications to a group with whom Dr. Baker, the Chairman of the
Department of Radiology, was negotiating. Tr. 223. Dr. Moskowitz explained
that Dr. Baker and his coordinator had his CV and they had given it out to
different places for different purposes. Tr. 222. Dr. Moskowitz testified that he
did not know very much about the negotiations and was not privy to them. Tr.
225. Dr. Moskowitz’s testimony is consistent with Mr. Wilson’s: Mr. Wilson
testified that Dr. Moskowitz told the investigators that Dr. Baker would typically
hand out his CV. Tr. 524, 599. Thus, NMA could have received Dr. Moskowitz’s
CV without Dr. Ben-Haim’s having obtained it from Dr. Moskowitz. Dr.
Moskowitz, however, did state that it is possible that he gave Dr. Ben-Haim
his CV, although he does not recall. Tr. 232, 238-39, 243.

Dr. Moskowitz’s testimony is generally consistent with that of Special Agent
Wilson. Mr. Wilson and Mr. Davis interviewed Dr. Moskowitz a second time
after OI interviewed Dr. Ben-Haim in order to confront him regarding the
meeting that Dr. Ben-Haim spoke of. Tr. 525 (Wilson); see Staff Exh. 8, OI
Exh. 16. Mr. Wilson testified that Dr. Moskowitz had no recollection that a
meeting took place or of having provided his CV to Dr. Ben-Haim. Tr. 525. Dr.
Moskowitz told the OI investigators that, if he had been contacted by Dr. Ben-
Haim, he would have contacted Dr. Baker and made a note of the occurrence,
because Dr. Baker could conduct negotiations for the university and not Dr.
Moskowitz. Tr. 525-26. Dr. Moskowitz looked for documents relative to such a
notation and did not find any. Tr. 526. Mr. Wilson testified that Dr. Moskowitz
was ‘‘very adamant’’ that he had not met with Dr. Ben-Haim, but he did allow
that there was less than a 1% chance that he may have met Dr. Ben-Haim at
UMDNI. “‘[H]e highly doubted it.”” Tr. 526 (Wilson).

Mr. Wilson testified that the Office of Investigations believed Dr. Moskowitz
instead of Dr. Ben-Haim regarding the meeting because Dr. Moskowitz had no
vested interest in the outcome. Tr. 538; see Staff Exh. 8 at 22. Mr. Wilson
clarified that Dr. Moskowitz was not a subject or target of the investigation.
Tr. 559, 639 (Wilson). Mr. Wilson opined that there was no potential for Dr.
Moskowitz to have gained financially regarding the resolution of whether he met
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with Dr. Ben-Haim. Mr. Wilson was not aware of any threat to Dr. Moskowitz
that would be removed if the issue were resolved in his favor. Tr. 639 (Wilson).

Mr. Wilson added that Dr. Moskowitz was ‘‘antagonized that someone had
used his name’’ and that Dr. Moskowitz felt like a victim and wanted answers.
Tr. 597. When asked if that showed some vested interest, Mr. Wilson said, ‘‘a
little bit.”” Id.

Based on the above evidence, the Board is convinced that at no time prior
to speaking with Inspector Gibson was Dr. Moskowitz aware that he was listed
on either NMA’s license or license application as the RSO or Authorized User.
Regarding Dr. Ben-Haim’s defense that he met Dr. Moskowitz at UMDNI for the
purpose of having Dr. Moskowitz listed on NMA’s license application, however,
we find that Dr. Ben-Haim did indeed travel to the UMDNIJ, at the request of
Dr. Elamir, to obtain Dr. Moskowitz’s CV, but that at no time did Dr. Ben-
Haim and Dr. Moskowitz discuss proposed service as an RSO or Authorized
User. Our finding is based chiefly on the testimony of Dr. Ben-Haim, the
copy of Dr. Ben-Haim’s calendar in which he made a notation in the space for
February 16, 1996, regarding a meeting with Dr. Moskowitz at UMDNIJ (B-H
Exh. 1), together with our evaluation that Dr. Moskowitz had a motive for not
remembering the alleged meeting: his position at UMDNIJ was in danger and
he did not want to get involved in a potential regulatory violation.

We disagree with the Office of Investigations’ analysis that Dr. Moskowitz is
more credible than Dr. Ben-Haim regarding the purported meeting. It is clear,
as the Staff asserts (Staff Proposed Findings 72, at 21) that Dr. Ben-Haim had
a vested interest in stating that he met with Dr. Moskowitz that is evidenced by
these very proceedings. That is, Dr. Ben-Haim knew that, as the preparer of
NMA'’s license application, he might be subject to some action if the license
application were prepared fraudulently. On the other hand, Dr. Moskowitz,
although concerned that someone had used his name improperly and desirous
of having the matter set straight (as claimed by the Staff in Proposed Findings
172, at 21), knew it was against UMDNIJ policy for him to be negotiating
for extracurricular services and did not want to be connected with service for
another organization, particularly one with alleged regulatory violations, without
following proper UMDNJ channels. Indeed, Dr. Moskowitz admitted, at the
time of the hearing, that he had not had tenure at UMDNIJ and was not at that
institution any longer. Tr. 243.

Although we are finding that a meeting between Dr. Moskowitz and Dr.
Ben-Haim did take place, we also find, as the Staff observes (Staff FOF 975,
at 21-22), that the most that took place at the meeting was Dr. Moskowitz’s
handing his CV to Dr. Ben-Haim. As recounted by Dr. Ben-Haim (Tr. 795),
Dr. Moskowitz did not say that he would be the RSO or Authorized User on
NMA'’s license. In fact, Dr. Ben-Haim admitted that, other than handing him
the CV, Dr. Moskowitz did not imply in any way that he would be the RSO,
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although he did equate Dr. Moskowitz’s statement that he would read the scans
with being the Authorized User. We find that the receipt of the CV and Dr.
Moskowitz’s statement that he would interpret the scans is an inadequate basis
for Dr. Ben-Haim to conclude that Dr. Moskowitz would serve either as RSO
or Authorized User for NMA.

Regarding Dr. Ben-Haim’s defense concerning his attitude during the inspec-
tion, Mr. Gibson testified that he asked Dr. Ben-Haim about Dr. Elamir and Dr.
Moskowitz’s absence, and Dr. Ben-Haim informed him that the Licensee nor-
mally conducted work on Saturday and that Dr. Elamir had requested him to be
at the inspection. Tr. 87. Mr. Gibson asked Dr. Ben-Haim if Dr. Moskowitz
was ever at NMA, and Dr. Ben-Haim informed him that he did not know if Dr.
Moskowitz was ever there. Tr. 87 (Gibson). In that connection, however, Dr.
Ben-Haim maintained that he was never at the facility on Saturdays, when all
nuclear work was performed, and thus did not know whether Dr. Moskowitz
was there or not. Tr. 790 (Ben-Haim).

On the day of the inspection, about an hour prior to the inspection, Dr.
Elamir asked Dr. Ben-Haim to be present. Ben-Haim, ff. Tr. 786, at 2. When
Mr. Gibson asked him who the RSO was, Dr. Ben-Haim advised ‘‘without any
hesitation’’ that it was Dr. Moskowitz. Id. Dr. Ben-Haim was not aware that
Mr. Gibson had specifically asked for the RSO to be present at the inspection.
Ben-Haim, ff. Tr. 786, at 4.

We do not consider Dr. Ben-Haim’s statement to Mr. Gibson that Dr.
Moskowitz was the RSO to be of much assistance to his defense. The issue is
not whether Dr. Ben-Haim knew that Dr. Moskowitz was the RSO named on
the license but, rather, whether Dr. Ben-Haim knew that Dr. Moskowitz was not
performing his role at NMA.

Dr. Ben-Haim testified that, after NMA’s operations started, he was ‘‘con-
vinced that Dr. Elamir was in contact with Dr. Moskowitz and had no way of
knowing he was not.”” Tr. 790; see Ben-Haim, ff. Tr. 786, at 1-2. However, Dr.
Ben-Haim admitted on cross-examination that he never saw Dr. Moskowitz at
NMA. Tr. 838, 828-29. As of December 1996, Dr. Ben-Haim knew that Dr.
Moskowitz had not been to NMA. Tr. 839 (Ben-Haim). Dr. Ben-Haim further
admitted that during the time NMA was in operation he had no communication
with Dr. Moskowitz. Tr. 837.

Dr. Ben-Haim was concerned that Dr. Moskowitz had not been to NMA. Tr.
790, 839, 860 (Ben-Haim). Specifically, in his direct testimony, Dr. Ben-Haim
stated:

3

I hadn’t seen any signed — any signature of [Dr. Moskowitz’s] in the log book, and I had
asked [Dr. Elamir] specifically. I told him actually, ‘This has to be signed. He has to review
the procedures and I don’t see anything.” Dr. Elamir nodded. Our encounters were very
brief. So he nodded and said, ‘Okay, okay.’

74



Tr. 790. Further, when asked by the Board whether he thought he ‘‘ought to
see that there’s an AU that’s going to show up,”” Dr. Ben-Haim stated, ‘‘I was
concerned about this.”” Tr. 860. Dr. Ben-Haim admitted that he expected to see
some tangible evidence that an Authorized User and RSO had been to NMA.
Tr. 861.

As part of his defense, Dr. Ben-Haim testified that in August 1996 he prepared
a form regarding dose calibrator geometry correction for the Victoreen Dose
Calibrator. Tr. 833. He indicated that he signed the form as the one who
performed the calibration and that he left a place open for the RSO to sign. Tr.
834. Dr. Ben-Haim added that the form actually shows the word ‘‘RSO’’ at the
signature line, and Dr. Moskowitz did not sign it. Tr. 834-35. Dr. Ben-Haim
admitted that he knew that Dr. Moskowitz had not signed the form. Tr. 838.
See Ben-Haim Exh. 4.

Dr. Ben-Haim testified that when he told Dr. Elamir that the procedures
needed to be reviewed by an RSO, Dr. Elamir told him, ‘‘I have somebody else.’’
Tr. 862. When questioned by the Board as to why Dr. Ben-Haim did not advise
Dr. Elamir that NMA needed a license amendment, Dr. Ben-Haim testified,
““‘Somehow it did not click.”” Tr. 862. Dr. Ben-Haim’s testimony differs from
what he said at his deposition. On cross-examination, Dr. Ben-Haim admitted
that during his deposition he had said he asked Dr. Elamir why the RSO had
not come in and signed, and that the extent of Dr. Elamir’s response was merely
to nod. Tr. 891-92.

Dr. Ben-Haim admitted that his only bases for assuming during the time
NMA was in operation that Dr. Moskowitz was acting as Authorized User and
RSO were (1) that Dr. Elamir told Dr. Ben-Haim that Dr. Moskowitz was the
RSO and (2) that Dr. Moskowitz had given Dr. Ben-Haim his CV. Tr. 866.

Dr. Ben-Haim did not follow up to see to it that the RSO and Authorized
User were functioning. He admitted, ‘‘I thought, ‘“Well, it’s just the beginning.
Let’s see how things develop. . . . I don’t want to make waves.””” Tr. 863
(Ben-Haim).

Based on the above evidence, the Board finds that Dr. Ben-Haim knew, at
least by December 1996 (see Tr. 839 (Ben-Haim)), that Dr. Moskowitz was
not performing the role as RSO or Authorized User for NMA. Even though
we conclude that a meeting with Dr. Moskowitz took place and Dr. Ben-Haim
left that meeting believing that Dr. Moskowitz would be NMA’s RSO and
Authorized User, the Board rejects all inferences that Dr. Ben-Haim adhered to
his belief that Dr. Moskowitz was acting as the RSO and Authorized User up
until the NRC’s inspection. We find it incredible that Dr. Ben-Haim, who saw no
evidence that Dr. Moskowitz had been to NMA, who had no communication with
Dr. Moskowitz, and who knew that an essential record had not been reviewed
by Dr. Moskowitz, did not conclude that Dr. Moskowitz was not serving as
NMA’s RSO and Authorized User.
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Dr. Ben-Haim’s admitted concern that Dr. Moskowitz had not been to NMA,
and his conveyance of that concern to Dr. Elamir demonstrates that Dr. Ben-
Haim knew, at least by December 1996, that something was wrong regarding
Dr. Moskowitz’s fulfilling any of the required duties of the RSO. Dr. Elamir’s
purported response that he had ‘someone else’” simply reinforces this conclusion.
Thus, Dr. Ben-Haim clearly knew by December 1996 that Dr. Moskowitz was
not acting as RSO and Authorized User.

5. Summary of Common Findings. In summary, we conclude the following:
(1) Dr. Ben-Haim was NMA’s consultant for the preparation of NMA’s materials
license application and for ensuring the safe use of radioactive material and
compliance with the Commission’s requirements; (2) Dr. Ben-Haim knew that
Dr. Moskowitz was named in the license application and on the license as
NMA’s only RSO and Authorized User; (3) Dr. Moskowitz did not perform the
role of RSO or Authorized User at NMA and did not delegate the duties of the
RSO or Authorized User to Dr. Ben-Haim; and (4) Dr. Ben-Haim knew, at least
by December 1996, that Dr. Moskowitz was not performing the role of RSO
and Authorized User for NMA.

I. The RSO Violation
1. NRC Requirements

The Order states that Dr. Ben-Haim violated 10 C.F.R. § 30.10 by causing
NMA to be in violation of 10 C.F.R. §§35.21, 35.13 and NMA License Con-
dition 12. These requirements were presented and explained by Mr. Kinneman,
Mr. DelMedico, and Dr. Siegel. Dr. Siegel was offered by the Staff as an ex-
pert witness. Tr. 356-57. We find Dr. Siegel qualified to testify as an expert
regarding medical facilities that use nuclear material, such as NMA, and as an
expert regarding application of the NRC’s regulations.

Under 10 C.F.R. §30.10, a contractor to a licensee may not knowingly
cause the licensee to be in violation of any Commission requirement. Tr.
486 (Kinneman). Specifically, 10 C.F.R. §30.10 provides that any contractor,
including a supplier or consultant, who knowingly provides to any licensee
information or other things, may not engage in deliberate misconduct that causes
or would have caused, if not detected, the licensee to be in violation of any rule,
regulation, or order, or any term, condition, or limitation of any license issued
by the Commission. Tr. 480, 481 (Kinneman).

Deliberate misconduct by a person means an intentional act or omission
that the person knows would cause a licensee to be in violation of any rule,
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regulation, or order, or any term, condition, or limitation of any license issued
by the Commission. Tr. 480-81 (Kinneman); 10 C.F.R. §30.10(c)(1). In this
regard, Mr. DelMedico testified that deliberately is the same as intentional. Tr.
750. A question was raised regarding whether a finding of careless disregard
of requirements, as discussed in NUREG-1600, could also apply in this case.
Tr. 701-02. Mr. DelMedico answered that a violation of 10 C.F.R. §30.10,
as alleged here, requires a finding of deliberate misconduct and that careless
disregard is not a violation of 10 C.F.R. § 30.10. Tr. 702-04, 776.

Under 10 C.F.R. §35.21, a licensee must appoint an RSO who meets the
specific responsibilities spelled out therein. Tr. 279 (Kinneman). These duties
include: investigating overexposures, accidents, spills, losses, thefts; establish-
ing and collecting in one binder (or file) written policies and procedures for
authorizing the purchase of radioactive material; receiving and opening pack-
ages; storing byproduct material; keeping an inventory; using byproduct ma-
terial safely; taking emergency action if control of byproduct material is lost;
performing periodic radiation surveys; performing checks of survey instrumen-
tation; disposing of byproduct material; and training staff who work or frequent
areas where byproduct material is used and stored. Tr. 280 (Kinneman); 10
C.F.R. §35.21(b).

An RSO can instruct someone else to carry out the physical actions described
in 10 C.F.R. §35.21, but the RSO may not delegate the responsibility for ensur-
ing that they are carried out. Tr. 279-80 (Kinneman); see 10 C.F.R. §35.21(a)
(““The licensee, through the [RSO], shall ensure that radiation safety activities
are being performed in accordance with . . . regulatory requirements’’). Neither
may the RSO delegate the performance of assessments that the RSO is expected
by virtue of training and experience to perform. Tr. 280 (Kinneman).

In the case of a medical facility, the individual in whom the responsibility for
ordering byproduct material is embodied is the RSO. The RSO has the authority
to delegate that responsibility to an individual working under the RSO’s direction
and supervision. The delegation is usually accomplished by a memorandum of
delegation. Tr. 368-69 (Siegel).

Many of the activities of the RSO are carried out by a physicist or other
consultant; however, in order for that to happen, the RSO must be active and
must delegate those duties to the physicist or other person who carries them out.
Tr. 290 (Kinneman).

Section 35.13(c) of the Commission’s regulations provides that a licensee
shall apply for and must receive a license amendment before it changes RSOs.
10 C.F.R. §35.13(c). As previously noted, License Condition 12 of NMA’s
license states that the RSO for this license is Dr. Moskowitz. Staff Exh. 1.

The Board finds that Dr. Ben-Haim’s actions would constitute a violation of
10 C.F.R. §30.10 if he deliberately caused NMA to fail to appoint an RSO and
have the RSO perform the duties delineated in 10 C.F.R. §35.21. In addition,
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Dr. Ben-Haim would be in violation of 10 C.F.R. §30.10 if he deliberately
caused NMA to change RSOs without a license amendment. Finally, Dr. Ben-
Haim would be in violation of 10 C.F.R. § 30.10 if he deliberately caused NMA
to operate without Dr. Moskowitz as RSO. Thus, we find that NMA would be
in violation of all three requirements if Dr. Ben-Haim performed the functions
of the RSO without the delegation of the requisite authority by Dr. Moskowitz.

2. Staff Claims

The Staff claims that Dr. Ben-Haim performed the functions of the RSO and
admitted to OI that he was the de facto RSO. This occurred during a second
interview of Dr. Ben-Haim by Special Agent Davis at NMA on April 22, 1997,
during which Dr. Ben-Haim discussed the role of the RSO, among other things.
Tr. 549 (Davis); see Staff Exh. 8, OI Exh. 23 (OI interview of Dr. Ben-Haim).

The purpose of the second interview was to compare the doses of technetium-
99m that were sent to NMA from Medi-Physics with the individual patient
records. Tr. 542 (Davis). Dr. Ben-Haim went over the records with Mr. Davis
and thoroughly explained what happens from the time a physician requests a
bone scan until the time the procedure is performed. Tr. 543-44 (Davis).

During the conversation, Mr. Davis mentioned the RSO and the tone of the
conversation changed: Dr. Ben-Haim questioned the reasons for OI'’s many
interviews. Tr. 545 (Davis). Dr. Ben-Haim stated to Mr. Davis, ‘‘So I might
have made some mistakes . . . I was here at NMA when I was needed, I set
it all up, this was just one job, I have many other things to do.”” Tr. 546 (Davis).
Mr. Davis testified that Dr. Ben-Haim informed him about the role of the RSO
and additionally remarked that he was the de facto RSO. Tr. 549, 550 (Davis).
Mr. Davis was absolutely certain that ‘‘Dr. Ben-Haim stated that in doing his
work at NMA that he was the de facto RSO.”” Tr. 549, 550 (Davis). At the end
of the interview, Dr. Ben-Haim repeated that one of his mistakes was ‘‘acting
as the de facto RSO.”’ Tr. 550, 580 (Davis).

Mr. Davis acknowledged on cross-examination that this was his first assign-
ment at NRC’s Region I OI office, and that a lot of things were new to him;
however, he did not believe it was possible that he confused what was said.
Tr. 564-65. He ‘‘remembered specifically’’ that Dr. Ben-Haim told him that he
acted as the RSO for NMA. Tr. 578-79. Mr. Davis testified that he did not have
any preconceptions regarding Dr. Ben-Haim’s role at NMA before the second
interview. Tr. 584.

Further, Dr. Ben-Haim told Mr. Davis that he should have been the RSO; that
he had applied to be certified for an RSO but that he was turned down. Tr. 577-
78. Mr. Davis understood that to mean that Dr. Ben-Haim should have been the
RSO for NMA but was not. Tr. 601 (Davis). In that connection, Dr. Ben-Haim
testified that the agent asked why he was not the RSO, and Dr. Ben-Haim replied

78



that he had applied for another facility and was rejected. ‘‘Therefore, I knew I
could not be the RSO and did not apply.”” Tr. 804 (Ben-Haim); Ben-Haim, ff.
Tr. 786, at 4.

Dr. Ben-Haim denied having admitted acting as the de facto RSO for NMA.
He testified that he said he was a ‘‘Radiation Safety conscious consultant
physicist.”” Tr. 798, 804; Ben-Haim, ff. Tr. 786, at 4. On cross-examination, Dr.
Ben-Haim again denied telling Mr. Davis that he was acting as a de facto RSO.
He admitted, however, that he told Mr. Davis that there was an overlapping
between the RSO and physicist’s work and that ‘‘de facto [he was] doing [some
of] the things that the RSO could do.”” Tr. 838 (Ben-Haim).

In light of the foregoing evidence, we find that the conversation of April 22,
1997, between Special Agent Davis and Dr. Ben-Haim occurred but incorporated
details beyond those reported by Mr. Davis. We could not find in the record any
substantial basis for attributing to Mr. Davis any bias that would discredit his
testimony. Neither do we find any substantial evidence of confusion on the part
of Mr. Davis as to what was said. Therefore, we conclude that Dr. Ben-Haim
admitted to OI that he was the de facto RSO for NMA for certain activities.

More important, it appears that Dr. Ben-Haim in fact performed many of
the duties of an RSO. He acknowledged that there may have been duties that
he performed that may have overlapped with those of the RSO. These duties
included ‘‘radiation safety, as far as anything that has to do with instrumentation,
mainly the way wipe tests are conducted.”” Tr. 858-59. In addition, these
overlapping duties were ‘‘[t]Jo make sure that nobody has access to a lab and is
not exposed unnecessarily, none of the public’’ and ‘‘monitoring of the facilities,
of the workplace, for the personnel.”” Tr. 859. When asked who was filling the
functions of an Authorized User or RSO during the time NMA was in operation,
Dr. Ben-Haim stated, ‘‘[t]he overlapping functions that the physicist has to do,
I was trying, to the best of my ability, to help with.”” Tr. 877.

Dr. Ben-Haim did perform several other activities at NMA: he performed
certain equipment tests, such as the accuracy, constancy, and geometry checks
for the dose calibrator (Tr. 815, 831); he found a nuclear technician to work at
NMA (Tr. 835); he gave information to Ms. Smoligova regarding where to get
technetium-99m and the specific radiopharmaceuticals and millicurie amounts
that she should order (Tr. 835, 840-41); he made sure the laboratory had a key
and was kept locked (Tr. 836); he made sure the NRC license was posted (Tr.
836); he told NMA personnel to get personal monitoring badges in December
1996 (Tr. 837).

As set forth earlier, as part of his defense, Dr. Ben-Haim testified that he
prepared a form for NMA’s dose calibrator geometry correction check; that
the geometry correction check, which only needed to be performed one time,
was prepared prior to the start of NMA’s operations; and that Dr. Ben-Haim
performed the measurements, prepared the graphs, signed the form, and left the
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line blank where the RSO was to sign. Tr. 8§14-15, 834-35; BH Exh. 4. He
did not sign that place of the form. Tr. 822. Dr. Ben-Haim did admit that to
do so would have been blatantly false. Tr. 835. He also acknowledged that Dr.
Moskowitz had never delegated the authority of the Authorized User or RSO to
him. Tr. 826.

Based on the foregoing evidence, the Board finds that Dr. Ben-Haim per-
formed many of the functions of the RSO, even though he knew Dr. Moskowitz
had not delegated this authority to him. Dr. Ben-Haim characterized these ac-
tivities as overlapping functions that a physicist could do as well as the RSO.
Dr. Ben-Haim, however, did not receive delegation from Dr. Moskowitz for any
activities for which he would need a delegation from the RSO and Dr. Ben-Haim
knew, at least by December 1996, that Dr. Moskowitz was not performing the
duties of the RSO. By regulation, as explained above, the RSO is responsible for
ensuring that these duties are carried out. Therefore, by engaging in activities,
which included some functions of the RSO, he facilitated NMA’s conducting
operations without the involvement of the RSO named on the license.

Dr. Ben-Haim called our attention to the Dose Calibrator Geometry Correc-
tion wherein he did not sign as the RSO for NMA. We do not give this evidence
much weight in that it tends to prove not that Dr. Ben-Haim did or did not act
as the RSO but rather that he knew he was not the RSO. The Staff need not
show that Dr. Ben-Haim conducted RSO activities under a false claim that he
was the RSO.

We find Dr. Ben-Haim caused NMA to fail to have the duties delineated in
10 C.F.R. § 35.21 performed by the RSO, at least beginning in December 1996.
In addition, by acting as the de facto RSO, he caused NMA to change RSOs
without the required license amendment. Finally, Dr. Ben-Haim caused NMA
to operate without Dr. Moskowitz as RSO.

As noted earlier, Mr. Wilson conducted an OI interview with Marina Geylik-
man at Harlem Hospital in the Nuclear Medicine Department. Tr. 531. Ms. Gey-
likman had said her duties at NMA involved receiving deliveries of technetium-
99m, performing surveys and wipe tests of the delivery container, and preparing
the patients for injection of technetium-99m. Tr. 532. Ms. Geylikman told Mr.
Wilson that Dr. Ben-Haim set the procedures for those activities in place and
explained them to her. Tr. 532 (Wilson). She described Dr. Ben-Haim as *‘her
supervisor at [NMA] for the radioisotopes of technetium-99m and how to go
about using those.”” Tr. 532, 612 (Wilson).

Mr. Wilson testified that he asked Ms. Geylikman if she knew who the RSO
at Harlem Hospital was and she clearly knew who that person was. Tr. 532-33,
612-13. Mr. Wilson testified that Ms. Geylikman likened the RSO’s duties at
Harlem Hospital to what Dr. Ben-Haim did for NMA. Tr. 533. In case of an
emergency, she was told by Dr. Ben-Haim to page him. She added that she had
to page Dr. Ben-Haim on several occasions. Tr. 538-39, 613 (Wilson). (Dr.
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Ben-Haim, of course, claimed that he was not physically present at the facility
on Saturdays, when Ms. Geylikman was performing her services. Tr. 790 (Ben-
Haim).) The investigators understood Ms. Geylikman to mean that, if there
was a problem regarding any of the procedures that Dr. Ben-Haim established,
she would contact Dr. Ben-Haim. Tr. 561 (Wilson). Mr. Wilson testified that
the focus of his questions revolved around nuclear medicine procedures — ‘in
context, she was discussing nuclear medicine procedures put in place by Dr.
Ben-Haim, and she said when there were problems encountered, she paged
him.”” Tr. 613; see also Tr. 591. According to Mr. Wilson, Ms. Geylikman did
not state that the problems for which she was to call Dr. Ben-Haim were limited
to equipment problems. Tr. 640.

Ms. Geylikman testified that she came to NMA every Saturday when she
was needed. Tr. 176. She would perform a wipe test on the package, open the
package, and measure the dose for the patient. She testified that the material
came already premeasured in a syringe but that she had to measure it before
injecting the patient. After injecting the patient, she would perform the scan
and develop the film. Tr. 177-78 (Geylikman).

During her testimony, Ms. Geylikman stated that at NMA she considered Dr.
Ben-Haim to be ‘‘a supervisor, just regarding this machine.”” Tr. 179. She said
that Dr. Ben-Haim instructed her how to operate the machine and that it was
the same machine that she had in West Orange where she previously worked
with Dr. Ben-Haim. Id. Ms. Geylikman testified that no one at NMA explained
to her the procedures for the scans because it is a common procedure for each
nuclear medicine facility. Tr. 180. When asked if anyone instructed her on the
wipe test, Ms. Geylikman replied that Dr. Ben-Haim showed her these things in
West Orange, but not at NMA. Id. She testified that the forms, likewise, were
the same as in West Orange and that she did not need any instruction. Tr. 181.

Ms. Geylikman testified that most of the time she was alone at NMA when
she performed her duties. Tr. 191. Ms. Geylikman testified that Dr. Ben-
Haim told her to contact him in the event of an emergency — “‘if I could
not, for example, do the scan, if the machine stopped . . . .”> Tr. 181. She
acknowledged, however, that if there were an emergency with a patient, she
would have to call a doctor. Id. When asked about her statements to OI, she
did not recall her response to Ol — ‘‘Maybe I just misunderstood [the questions]
because Dr. Ben-Haim routinely did this in the West Orange office.”” Tr. 184.

We find that the interview of Ms. Geylikman, as reported by Special Agent
Wilson in his testimony and in the OI Report, occurred as Mr. Wilson stated. We
could not find in the record any substantial basis for attributing to Mr. Wilson
any bias that would discredit his testimony. Neither do we find any substantial
evidence of confusion on the part of Mr. Wilson as to what was said. We are
somewhat mystified by the inconsistency between what Ms. Geylikman told OI
and what she said in her testimony. While the record is devoid of any evidence of
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bias on the part of Ms. Geylikman, we find that Ms. Geylikman misunderstood
what OI was asking. We, therefore, accept what she testified under oath as the
truth regarding her knowledge of Dr. Ben-Haim’s activities. Nevertheless, we
find nothing in Ms. Geylikman’s testimony that would alter our finding that Dr.
Ben-Haim performed certain of the functions of the RSO at NMA without a
delegation from Dr. Moskowitz, the RSO named on the license.

The essence of Ms. Geylikman’s testimony is that Dr. Ben-Haim did not
instruct her on performing wipe tests or filling out the forms because Dr. Ben-
Haim had instructed her in these matters in a separate facility. We find this
inconsistent with Dr. Ben-Haim’s own proposal to Dr. Elamir wherein he says
he will ‘‘assure continuous monitoring of the laboratory,”” “‘train your staff,”’
and ‘‘establish the necessary radiation health procedures.”” Further, we find this
possibly inconsistent with Dr. Ben-Haim’s admission to OI that he was the de
facto RSO with respect to some functions and his testimony that he did many
of the things the RSO could do. He had identified one such overlapping duty as
‘‘radiation safety . . . mainly wipe tests.”” For these reasons, the preponderance
of the evidence leads us to conclude that Dr. Ben-Haim performed certain of
the duties of the RSO at NMA without a delegation from Dr. Moskowitz, the
RSO named on the license.

3. Staff Analysis

Mr. Kinneman testified that Dr. Ben-Haim’s actions caused the Licensee to
be in violation of 10 C.F.R. §35.21. Tr. 280. Mr. Kinneman found it hard to
conclude that Dr. Ben-Haim would not have realized in his position as a physicist
that there should have been some evidence that the RSO gave Dr. Ben-Haim a
delegation of authority and gave him some direction to do those RSO duties. Tr.
293-94. Mr. Kinneman testified that Dr. Ben-Haim was associated with NRC
activities over a period of time, was involved with various communications with
the NRC over a period of time, was apparently knowledgeable of what was going
on at the facility even though not present at all times. Tr. 303. Mr. Kinneman
testified that on balance it appeared that Dr. Ben-Haim and Dr. Elamir had or
should have had the information they needed to conclude that NMA was not in
compliance with the NRC’s requirements and yet the activities continued. Tr.
303. According to Mr. Kinneman, Dr. Ben-Haim reasonably should have known
that the RSO did not exist because Dr. Ben-Haim did visit on some periodic
basis, he had some contact with NMA, he is not unknowledgeable about how
licensees operate, and, in fact, he was to advise the Licensee on such matters as
compliance with the NRC’s regulations. Tr. 336.

The Board adopts the Staff’s analysis as stated above, at least with respect to
the period from December 1996 on, and concludes that Dr. Ben-Haim’s actions
in acting as NMA’s RSO during the period from December 1996 through early
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February 1997 were intentional and, therefore, constituted a violation of 10
C.FR. §30.10. In so doing, we emphasize our prior finding that Dr. Ben-
Haim, by virtue of his knowledge of the NRC’s regulations and the fact that
he personally prepared NMA'’s license application, including the provisions
involving the RSO, knew the requirements that he caused NMA to violate.

4. Summary of Findings

In summary, we conclude: (1) Dr. Ben-Haim deliberately brought about the
use of licensed material at NMA even though he knew that the RSO named on
the NMA license did not perform the duties delineated in 10 C.F.R. §35.21;
(2) Dr. Ben-Haim knew, at least by December 1996, that Dr. Moskowitz, the
RSO named on the license, was not functioning as the RSO and that, therefore,
a license amendment was required for NMA to continue to operate. Thus, Dr.
Ben-Haim deliberately caused NMA to operate without an RSO and without
a license amendment to change the RSO; and (3) Dr. Ben-Haim deliberately
caused NMA to operate without Dr. Moskowitz as RSO. Specifically, we find
that Dr. Ben-Haim deliberately performed certain of the functions of the RSO,
even though he knew Dr. Moskowitz had not delegated this authority to him.
Therefore, Dr. Ben-Haim violated 10 C.F.R. § 30.10.

J. The Authorized User Violation
1. NRC Requirements

The Order states that Dr. Ben-Haim violated 10 C.F.R. § 30.10 by causing
NMA to be in violation of 10 C.F.R. §§35.53(c)(3), 35.11(a) and (b), and NMA
License Condition 13. These NRC requirements were presented and explained
by Mr. Kinneman, Dr. Siegel, and Mr. DelMedico.

Mr. Kinneman testified that 10 C.F.R. § 35.53(c) requires that the Licensee
retain a record of the measurement of each dosage, including prescribed dosage,
of a photon-emitting radionuclide prior to medical use. Tr. 276; see 10 C.F.R
§35.53(a) and (c). The prescribed dosage is defined in 10 C.F.R. §35.2 and
means the quantity of radiopharmaceutical activity as documented in (1) a written
directive or (2) the diagnostic clinical procedures manual or in any appropriate
record in accordance with the directions of an Authorized User. Tr. 276-77
(Kinneman); 10 C.F.R. § 35.2.

Dr. Siegel testified that Part 35 requires a written directive, or explicit
prescription, for two specific circumstances: (1) any time a dose of I-131
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exceeding 30 microcuries is to be administered to a patient; and (2) for any
therapeutic administration of a radiopharmaceutical. Tr. 360-61, 363.

According to Mr. Kinneman, the diagnostic clinical procedures manual is a
collection of written procedures that includes each diagnostic procedure that has
been approved by the Authorized User. Tr. 277. Dr. Siegel also testified that
the clinical diagnostic procedures manual is a compilation of the procedures
performed in a laboratory that contains information about what drug is used for
the test, what the dose of the drug is, the route of administration of that drug,
and then all of the other details about how the test is performed; how long to
wait after injection before imaging; what kind of camera to use; what kind of
collimator to use; what specific pictures to take and in what specific sequence.
Tr. 361.

Dr. Siegel testified that the NRC regulations require that the Authorized User
must be the one who approves the procedures manual. Tr. 362, 363. The
Commission’s regulations define a diagnostic clinical procedures manual as a
“‘collection of written procedures that describes each method . . . by which
the licensee performs diagnostic clinical procedures; where each diagnostic
clinical procedure has been approved by the authorized user and includes the
radiopharmaceutical, dosage, and route of administration.”” See 10 C.F.R. § 35.2
(emphasis added). Dr. Siegel testified that it is not permissible for a physicist
who is not a physician to put into effect a diagnostic clinical procedures manual
without the approval of the Authorized User. Tr. 370-71.

Thus, a prescribed dosage has to be in a written directive, a diagnostic clinical
procedures manual, or in any other written record from the Authorized User.
““The real key is that [it] has to be the authorized user that directs the dosage.”’
Tr. 277 (Kinneman). Dr. Siegel likewise testified, ‘‘the ultimate authorization to
actually give [a] dose to a patient has to come from the authorized user.”” Tr.
430.

In response to whether it is permissible to administer a diagnostic radiophar-
maceutical to a patient without a physician’s prescription, Dr. Siegel testified
that there is an implicit prescription that underlies the performance of all di-
agnostic nuclear medicine procedures, that for the vast majority of diagnostic
administrations an explicit written prescription is not required, and the directions
can range from an oral instruction from the Authorized User to the technolo-
gist to reliance on an implicit prescription contained in the clinical diagnostic
procedures manual. Tr. 360, 361, 363. Dr. Siegel added that the procedures
manual functions as the implicit prescription and that, based on the procedures
established in a given laboratory, there may be authorization for the technolo-
gists to perform the test in accordance with the procedures manual as if they had
received an explicit written prescription from the Authorized User. Tr. 361-62.

Mr. Kinneman testified that ‘‘Authorized User’’ is defined in 10 C.F.R. § 35.2
and means a physician, a dentist, or a podiatrist who meets the requirements that
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are specified in that regulation. Tr. 277. The regulations in 10 C.F.R. §35.25
require that an Authorized User must provide supervision of employees or staff
that carry out licensed activities. Tr. 287 (Kinneman); 10 C.F.R. §35.25. The
Authorized User may instruct other people to carry out specific tasks, such as the
administration of the radioactive material to the patient; however, the Authorized
User must provide the supervision that is described in 10 C.F.R. §35.25. The
licensee must require that the supervised individual follow the instructions of the
supervising Authorized User. See Tr. 287 (Kinneman); 10 C.F.R. § 35.25(a)(2).

Section 35.11(b) of the Commission’s regulations provides that an individual
may receive, possess, use, or transfer byproduct material in accordance with
the regulations under the supervision of an Authorized User as provided in
section 35.25, unless prohibited by license condition. An individual is prohibited
from these activities except in accordance with a specific license or under the
supervision of an Authorized User. 10 C.F.R. §35.11(a). The Authorized User
specifies what the dose to the patient is to be and that the Authorized User
must authorize the person to order the radioactive material to be sent to the
facility. Tr. 308 (Kinneman). While the RSO could order the material on behalf
of the facility, the Authorized User must authorize the ordering of material for
use in the patients. Thus, the RSO cannot direct the amount to give to each
patient unless he is also the Authorized User. Tr. 310 (Kinneman). Therefore,
according to Mr. Kinneman, even if Dr. Ben-Haim were the RSO, he would be
precluded from authorizing the ordering of the dosage to give to a patient. Tr.
311.

Dr. Siegel testified that the physician who refers a patient for a diagnostic
nuclear medicine procedure is not allowed to prescribe the dosage of radioactive
material if the referring physician is not the Authorized User. Further, it would
not be ordinary for a referring physician to specify the dose for a diagnostic
procedure because the referring physician expects the test to be conducted
properly — the dose itself is not something the referring physician is concerned
about. Tr. 378-80 (Siegel).

Dr. Siegel testified that it is not permissible for a technologist to rely
on the direction of a physicist in placing the order for a specific amount
of a radiopharmaceutical. Tr. 370. Dr. Siegel further testified that while a
physicist may train a technologist in the ordering of the radiopharmaceutical,
the Authorized User and the RSO need to validate the instruction. Tr. 430-31.
“‘Otherwise the physicist is, in fact, acting as the RSO and the AU.”” Tr. 431.

As previously noted, NMA License Condition 13 provides that licensed
material is ‘‘only authorized for use by, or under the supervision of’’ the
Authorized User, Dr. Moskowitz. Staff Exh. 1. The Board finds that Dr.
Ben-Haim’s actions would constitute a violation of 10 C.F.R. §30.10 if he
deliberately caused NMA to fail to maintain a record of the measured amount
of each prescribed dosage. That is, if he caused NMA to fail to maintain a
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record of the quantity of radioactive material prescribed by the Authorized User
as required in 10 C.F.R. §35.53(c). Thus, we find that NMA would be in
violation of 10 C.F.R. §35.53(c)(3) if Dr. Ben-Haim determined the dosage to
be ordered and administered without the approval of the Authorized User.

The Board also finds that Dr. Ben-Haim would be in violation of 10 C.F.R.
§30.10 if he deliberately caused NMA to allow NMA personnel to receive,
possess, use, or transfer byproduct material without the supervision of the
Authorized User. Finally, Dr. Ben-Haim would be in violation of 10 C.F.R.
§30.10 if he caused NMA to operate without Dr. Moskowitz as Authorized
User. Thus, we find that NMA would be in violation of these two requirements
if Dr. Ben-Haim performed the functions of the Authorized User without the
supervision of Dr. Moskowitz.

2. Performance by Dr. Ben-Haim of Functions of Authorized User

Ms. Smoligova testified that, every Thursday or Friday, she ordered tech-
netium-99m for bone scans for the patients that came to NMA. Tr. 125. Ms.
Smoligova further testified that NMA performed bone scans only on Saturdays.
Tr. 127.

Ms. Smoligova testified that when she met Dr. Ben-Haim, Dr. Elamir asked
her if she could order some things for him, such as paper towels, injections, or
needles — ‘‘whatever they’re going to need.”” Tr. 127-28. She testified that Dr.
Elamir asked her if she could help Dr. Ben-Haim with ordering what he needed
for nuclear medicine but never told her that she would order nuclear materials.
Tr. 133, 138.

According to Ms. Smoligova, Dr. Ben-Haim told her to order the nuclear
materials. See, e.g., Tr. 139 (Q. ‘“Who told you to order the nuclear materials?’’
A. “‘Dr. Ben-Haim.””), Tr. 168 (Q. “‘Did I ask you to do the ordering?”’ A.
“Yes.”’), Tr. 140, 167. Ms. Smoligova testified that Dr. Ben-Haim asked her
after operations started if she was ordering the radiopharmaceuticals for the
patients, and she told him yes. Tr. 147.

Ms. Smoligova identified Staff Exh. 8(a) as what Dr. Ben-Haim gave her
regarding what she should order every Thursday or Friday for patients receiving
scans. Dr. Ben-Haim gave her the document with the procedures and dosages
written on it. Tr. 128-29 (Smoligova).

Staff Exh. 8(a) is a handwritten document that states at the top half:
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RADIOPHARMACY:
MEDI-PHYSICS
1-800-242-8004
BONE SCAN — MDP - 25 mC
HEART — MYOVIEW
2 SINGLE DOSES
1 X8 mCi 1 X25 mCi

Staff Exh. 8(a). The bottom half contains telephone numbers and the name of
the Licensee. Id.

Ms. Smoligova testified that Dr. Ben-Haim only gave her that one note and
that he gave it to her prior to starting operations. Tr. 136. The note was not
wrinkled: ‘‘it was plain.”” Tr. 144 (Smoligova).

Ms. Smoligova testified that Dr. Ben-Haim told her that she should check
how many patients were scheduled and, accordingly, how many bone scans she
would need to order. Tr. 129-30. Ms. Smoligova testified that the receptionist
would tell her how many patients there would be. Tr. 141, 142. Ms. Smoligova
was certain Dr. Ben-Haim told her to order nuclear material for bone scans at
25 millicuries. She ordered the nuclear medicine because she was told to order
the radiopharmaceuticals. Tr. 130, 131 (Smoligova).

Ms. Smoligova testified that when she dialed the number she provided her
name, Dr. Ben-Haim’s name, the name and address of NMA, and the order.
Tr. 145, 153. The first few times she told them that she was calling for Dr.
Ben-Haim. Tr. 145, 153 (Smoligova). On subsequent calls she just told them
her name, the name and address of NMA, and the amount of unit doses needed
for Saturday. She testified that she would say ‘‘bone scan, MDP 25 millicurie’’
and the amount of unit doses she needed. Tr. 153-54. They also asked her the
time the patient was due in for the procedure. Tr. 154.

Ms. Smoligova’s testimony is consistent with Dr. Siegel’s statement that
the procedure for ordering a radiopharmaceutical from a commercial nuclear
pharmacy is simply to place a telephone call and request a dose. See Tr. 368,
410. Dr. Siegel testified that a radiopharmacy will not accept an order unless it
has first been provided with a copy of a byproduct materials license. Tr. 368,
410.

Ms. Smoligova testified that Dr. Ben-Haim said that if there was a problem
with the ordering she was to contact him. Tr. 130. When asked if Dr. Ben-Haim
told her he was in charge or in control, she testified that he was in charge of
the ordering. Tr. 160. When asked what she thought Dr. Ben-Haim’s function
was at NMA, she answered, ‘‘[a]s a supervisor of the place which was open for
nuclear medicine, for patients to get bone scans.”” Tr. 169.

Ms. Smoligova ordered the radiopharmaceuticals several times a month. Tr.
162 (Smoligova). She testified that she saw Dr. Ben-Haim ‘‘quite often, at least
from the beginning every week,”’” although she never saw him when patients
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were there, i.e., on Saturdays. Tr. 169-70. Dr. Ben-Haim confirmed he was not
at the facility on Saturdays. Tr. 790.

Dr. Siegel and Mr. Kinneman testified regarding the characterization and
import of Staff Exh. 8(a), which Dr. Ben-Haim wrote and gave to Ms. Smoligova.
Dr. Siegel testified that Staff Exh. 8(a) would be incomplete as a diagnostic
procedures manual because not only does a diagnostic procedures manual have
to specify the drug that is to be used for a particular test and the dosage
to be administered, but also the route of administration. Tr. 365, 367. Dr.
Siegel testified that even if the route of administration had been included in the
document, it would have been ‘‘the barest bones clinical diagnostic procedures
manual one could conceive of.”” Tr. 367. In fact, Dr. Siegel testified that he never
saw anything that could be properly characterized as a diagnostic procedures
manual from NMA. Tr. 396.

Dr. Siegel testified that if that paper were posted on the wall of a nuclear
medicine laboratory and there was nothing anywhere else in the laboratory
that even looked remotely like a procedures manual or instructions, one might
logically conclude that it was intended to be something like a procedures manual.
Tr. 403. As for whether it would be considered less as a manual if kept in a
drawer rather than being posted, Dr. Siegel did not think so, since the physical
state of a manual could be variable: it could be posted on the wall; kept in a
book on a shelf; kept in a drawer; or kept on a computer. Tr. 429 (Siegel).

Dr. Siegel testified that if the document was essentially the only informa-
tion/instruction that had been provided to the ordering technologist and the
nuclear medicine technologist who actually performed the studies, then the doc-
ument operationally represented the delegation of authority to order the radioac-
tive materials, in which case it would put Dr. Ben-Haim in the position of having
acted as the RSO. Tr. 397-98. Dr. Siegel testified that it also became the appar-
ent set of instructions on how to perform the study, which put Dr. Ben-Haim in
the position of having acted as the Authorized User. Tr. 398.

Dr. Ben-Haim testified that the piece of paper on which the information
was written was ‘‘arbitrarily qualified as a prescription’” by the Staff. He
testified that there was no signature, no date, no name of patient, it was not
meant to be presented to a pharmacy or a doctor, it was not specific to one
radiopharmaceutical. He characterized it as general information, as it might
appear on any pamphlet, and did not engage anybody. Tr. 811; Dr. Ben-Haim,
ff. Tr. 786, at 5. See also Tr. 813, Dr. Ben-Haim, ff. Tr. 786, at 6 (‘‘it is
information only’’).

Dr. Siegel did not consider the document to represent a prescription. Tr.
387. He testified that if the 25-millicurie dose were administered, based on
Staff Exh. 8(a), one would conclude that it was the prescribed dose and that
the person who wrote the document would have prescribed it. Tr. 365-66. The
person who prepared the note would need to be an Authorized User. Tr. 366.
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Mr. Kinneman likewise characterized the document as *‘the closest thing that we
have to a prescribed dosage’’ as defined in the regulations. Tr. 324. Dr. Siegel
added that the physical status of the instructions regarding what doses to order
and whether someone had written a telephone number on it is not relevant and
does not render the instructions invalid. Tr. 380-81.

Regarding the characterization of Staff Exh. 8(a), we find that this document
contains written instructions regarding the radiopharmaceuticals and dosages
to be ordered and administered to patients for medical uses. The Board does
not find that this document is an explicit prescription, as one would typically
receive from a doctor to be filled by a pharmacist; nor does the Board find that
it is a clinical diagnostic procedures manual, as defined in the Commission’s
regulations. We find, instead, that this document is an instruction on the quantity
of radioactive material to be ordered. We also find that the physical status of
the prescribed dosage in the instant situation has no relevance to its nature and
effect. That is, whether the document was wrinkled and was later annotated
with extraneous information by Ms. Smoligova did not render it ineffectual in
conveying instructions regarding the dose of radioactive material to be ordered
and administered. Indeed, Ms. Smoligova ordered radioactive material based on
that document.

Ms. Smoligova’s testimony, as set forth above, is fully consistent with the
information she provided to Special Agent Wilson. When Mr. Wilson conducted
an interview with Ms. Smoligova, she said that her duties were primarily
magnetic resonance imaging duties and that she had one duty regarding nuclear
medicine: the ordering of radioisotopes on Friday so that they could be used on
Saturday. Ms. Smoligova further told Mr. Wilson that she took direction from
Dr. Ben-Haim on ordering the radioisotopes. Tr. 534-35 (Wilson). Further, she
told OI that Dr. Ben-Haim had given her something in writing to cause her to
order the radioisotopes each and every week. Mr. Wilson received a copy of the
document (Staff Exh. 8(a)) on the day of the interview. Tr. 535-36. Finally, Ms.
Smoligova informed OI that Dr. Ben-Haim told her if there were any problems
or emergencies regarding her ordering duties she should contact him. Tr. 536-37
(Wilson).

Special Agent Wilson testified that, during OI’s first interview with Dr.
Ben-Haim, the OI investigators asked him how the technetium-99m was being
ordered, and Dr. Ben-Haim ‘‘really couldn’t answer them. He didn’t have an
answer of how it was being ordered.”” Tr. 530. During Dr. Ben-Haim’s second
interview, Mr. Davis showed Dr. Ben-Haim a copy of the document received
from Ms. Smoligova (Staff Exh. 8(a)). According to Mr. Davis, Dr. Ben-Haim
recognized the document and identified the top portion as his handwriting. Tr.
547.

Mr. Davis testified that they discussed the process of ordering the technetium-
99m. Tr. 544. Mr. Davis testified that Dr. Ben-Haim said that a nurse or a
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secretary from one of Dr. Elamir’s businesses would call the receptionist at
NMA and give the name of an individual who was scheduled to have a bone
scan on Saturday. That name would be placed in a log and, at a later time, the
order would be called into Medi-Physics by Ms. Smoligova. Tr. 544.

Mr. Davis testified that ‘‘in handing this document to Smoligova, Dr. Ben-
Haim admitted to me that he was giving her the authorization to order the
[technetium-99m] when it was needed.”” Tr. 547-48. Further, that Dr. Ben-Haim
told him ‘‘the Authorized User on the license is the only individual that would
be able to delegate this duty’’ and that the Authorized User on NMA’s license
was Dr. Moskowitz. Tr. 548. Mr. Davis testified that Dr. Ben-Haim admitted
that he had not received the authority to delegate from Dr. Moskowitz and that
Dr. Ben-Haim told him, ‘‘It was impractical to always abide by the small rules.”’
Tr. 548, 549 (Davis).

Mr. Davis also testified that Dr. Ben-Haim stated that he ‘‘owed Dr. Elamir
an apology’’ and that he was ‘‘aware that his actions were a mistake’” and that
he placed the Licensee in jeopardy. Tr. 548-49. Dr. Ben-Haim repeated at the
end of the interview that one of his mistakes was ‘‘overseeing and delegating
the authority to order the doses of [technetium-99m].”” Tr. 550, 580 (Davis).
These sentiments are consistent with those expressed by Dr. Ben-Haim in his
proposed findings.

However, in his direct testimony, Dr. Ben-Haim stated that he did not admit
to OI giving Ms. Smoligova any authorization to order the radiopharmaceuticals.
Dr. Ben-Haim, ff. Tr. 786, at 3, 5. Dr. Ben-Haim testified he was not aware
that his actions were a mistake and placed the Licensee in jeopardy and denied
that he said that he owed Dr. Elamir an apology. Tr. 802; Dr. Ben-Haim, ff. Tr.
786, at 3.

Dr. Ben-Haim testified that Ms. Smoligova received only one single piece of
paper and not ‘‘notes’” and that she did not take direction from Dr. Ben-Haim for
ordering the Tc-99m. Tr. 803; Dr. Ben-Haim, ff. Tr. 786, at 4. Dr. Ben-Haim
testified that Dr. Elamir designated Ms. Smoligova as the person in charge of
ordering the radiopharmaceuticals from the pharmacy and that Dr. Elamir asked
Dr. Ben-Haim to write down for her the pertinent information, which he did.
Tr. 808, 809; Dr. Ben-Haim, ff. Tr. 786, at 3, 5.

Dr. Ben-Haim testified that he ‘‘did not know that the Authorized User on
the license is the only individual who, with respect to NMA, can delegate the
ordering duty.”” Tr. 802. See also Tr. 802, 853, 854; Dr. Ben-Haim, ff. Tr. 786,
at 3. Dr. Ben-Haim testified that common practice, as documented in the OI
report of interview of John Carr, contradicts this. Tr. 802; Dr. Ben-Haim, ff. Tr.
786, at 3. We do not find Dr. Ben-Haim’s argument credible because he was
familiar with the NRC’s regulations and NMA’s license: he held himself out
in the medical community as having knowledge of the NRC’s requirements; he
compiled and prepared NMA’s license application; and he made it a practice to
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know the NRC requirements in his consultant work. Tr. 822-23. In addition,
as more fully discussed below, Mr. Carr’s statement to OI did not pertain to the
requirements placed on NMA and, thus, is inapposite to any discussion of them.

John Carr, Facility Manager, MPI Pharmacy Services, Medi-Physics, Inc.,
told Ol that, prior to filling NMA’s first order for nuclear material, Medi-Physics
requested that a copy of NMA'’s license be faxed to Medi-Physics. See Staff
Exh. 8, OI Exh. 25 (OI interview of John Carr). Mr. Carr told OI this was
“‘standard operating procedure for MPL.”’ Id. Mr. Carr stated that NMA called in
their orders on Friday, for Saturday delivery, and that the ‘‘only requirement MPI
has, by law, before delivering Tc-99 to a customer, is that the customer prove it
has a valid materials license.”” He added: *‘In this case, MPI was in possession
of an NRC materials license for NMA that appeared to be legitimate.”” Id.

Dr. Ben-Haim admitted he faxed a copy of the license on October 18,
1996, to Mr. Carr in order for NMA to be able to buy radioactive material.
Tr. 863-64. Dr. Ben-Haim testified that he had no doubt in his mind at the
time he sent Mr. Carr the license that there was an Authorized User and an
RSO. Tr. 865. Upon cross examination, Dr. Ben-Haim testified that he wrote
‘‘Radiopharmacy,”” ‘‘Medi-Physics,”” the 800 number, ‘‘bone scan,”’” a nuclear
diagnostic procedure, ‘‘MDP,”” and ‘“25 millicuries’’ on the note he gave to Ms.
Smoligova. Tr. 840-41. See Staff Exh. 8(a). Dr. Ben-Haim also testified that
he wrote ‘‘Heart,”” ‘‘Myoview,”” and ‘two single doses,”” *‘8 millicuries’” and
25 millicuries.”” Tr. 841. Dr. Ben-Haim admitted he gave this information
to Ms. Smoligova, although he objected to the characterization that they were
instructions to her. Tr. 844. Dr. Ben-Haim admitted, however, that he knew
she would use the information to order the radiopharmaceuticals. See Tr. 844
(Q. ““Isn’t it a fact that you knew she would use this information to order the
radiopharmaceuticals?’” A. ““Yes.””).

Dr. Ben-Haim maintained that he did not tell her or authorize her to order
the radiopharmaceuticals. Tr. 844. He added that, since he did not have the
authority, ‘‘I could not authorize and did not authorize.”’ Tr. 8§11; Dr. Ben-Haim,
ff. Tr. 786, at 5. He also denied that he himself ordered the radiopharmaceuticals.
Tr. 844-45 (Q. ““Well, did you order the radiopharmaceuticals?”’ A. ‘*‘No, I
did not.”’). However, following admission of Staff Exh. 15, when asked by the
Board whether he placed the first order, Dr. Ben-Haim testified: ‘‘No, I don’t
remember if I placed the first order. It’s possible, possible, but I did not give
my — John Carr knew me from — and I ordered from West Orange. He knew
me and there was a license and I thought at that time that I could order and [
may have ordered. I don’t recollect.”” Tr. 886 (emphasis added).

During his cross-examination, Dr. Ben-Haim was confronted with a letter
dated October 17, 1996. Tr. 846-49. Staff Exh. 15. Dr. Ben-Haim admitted
that it was a three-paragraph letter that he wrote and faxed to Dr. Elamir on
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October 17, 1996. Tr. 847. Dr. Ben-Haim admitted that he sent the letter two
days before the first delivery of technetium-99m to NMA. Tr. 848.
Paragraphs two and three of the letter state:

2. Please let me know asap whether we have patients on Saturday, how many and what
tests, so I may notify the technician and order the radiopharmaceuticals.

3. We will have to decide who will place the orders and coordinate the logistics in the
future.

Staff Exh. 15.

Dr. Ben-Haim testified that ‘“‘we’’ in the letter meant NMA and did not refer
to himself. Tr. 849, 870. When asked, ‘‘By ‘we,’ it means you and Elamir?”’
Dr. Ben-Haim replied, ‘‘No, not me. I meant NMA. I didn’t mean a person.”’
Tr. 870. When asked who would be speaking for the corporation, Dr. Ben-Haim
replied, ‘‘Elamir would decide.”” Tr. 870. Dr. Ben-Haim maintained that he was
not the one who authorized the ordering and did not implement the ordering.
Tr. 884.

Dr. Ben-Haim admitted that, in paragraph 2 of the letter, it was his plan to
see to it that the radiopharmaceuticals were to be ordered and that, in paragraph
3, he was one of the people who was going to help decide the ordering process.
Tr. 850. He admitted that, in writing the letter, it was either his intent to order
the radiopharmaceuticals or tell the technician to order the radiopharmaceuticals.
Tr. 869.

Dr. Ben-Haim had only known Dr. Elamir about a week before he became
the consultant for NMA. He agreed that he had far greater knowledge about
nuclear materials than Dr. Elamir had. Tr. 850. He also admitted that Dr. Elamir
had little experience with NRC requirements. Tr. 826. Finally, Dr. Ben-Haim
admitted that Dr. Moskowitz did not delegate the authority of the Authorized
User or RSO to him. Tr. 826.

3. Board Analysis

We find that the overwhelming weight of the evidence supports a finding
that Dr. Ben-Haim directed Ms. Smoligova, an MRI technologist, to order a
specific radiopharmaceutical in 25-millicurie-unit doses for nuclear diagnostic
procedures. The Board bases its finding on the testimony of Ms. Smoligova that
Dr. Ben-Haim gave her written instructions on how much radioactive material
to order, the specific radiopharmaceutical, and from what source, together with
her testimony that he told her to place the orders. Further, Dr. Ben-Haim
admitted that he knew that Ms. Smoligova would use the information to order
the radiopharmaceuticals.
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Dr. Ben-Haim stated in his defense that he did not know the only individual
who could delegate the ordering duty was the Authorized User. We do not
accept that Dr. Ben-Haim, who was knowledgeable of the NRC’s regulations
and who personally put together the license application for NMA, was not aware
of this requirement. Dr. Ben-Haim further stated that OI’s report of John Carr’s
interview contradicts the requirement. We find nothing in John Carr’s interview
that supports Dr. Ben-Haim’s statement. Indeed, there is a difference between
what a radiopharmacy must do to comply with state and federal requirements and
what a nuclear diagnostic facility must do to satisfy NRC requirements. Finally,
we reject as circular reasoning Dr. Ben-Haim’s assertion that, since he did not
have the authority to authorize the ordering, he did not authorize the ordering.
Certainly, he did not need to have the authority to order the material in order to
cause the material to be ordered without the knowledge of, or direction from,
the Authorized User, which is the essence of the 10 C.F.R. § 30.10 violation.

The Board was also persuaded by the testimony of Special Agent Davis
regarding his interview with Dr. Ben-Haim on April 22, 1997. As previously
noted, we find nothing in the record before us to suggest that Mr. Davis
either was biased or (with respect to the Authorized User matter) misunderstood
the conversation. We therefore find, despite Dr. Ben-Haim’s protests to the
contrary, that he admitted to OI that he authorized Ms. Smoligova to order
the radiopharmaceuticals, that he knew the Authorized User on the license was
the only person who could delegate that duty, and that Dr. Moskowitz had not
delegated that duty to him. We also find that Dr. Ben-Haim told Mr. Davis that
“‘[i]t was impractical to always abide by the small rules’’ and that this was a true
reflection of Dr. Ben-Haim’s state of mind.

Finally, we find that Dr. Ben-Haim’s October 17, 1996 letter to Dr. Elamir
sufficiently demonstrates Dr. Ben-Haim’s intent to bring about the ordering of
radiopharmaceuticals. The record does not reflect whether, at the time that
letter was written, Dr. Ben-Haim knew that there was no functioning Authorized
User. The October 17, 1996 letter issues instructions of the type an experienced
physicist would know an Authorized User would issue or approve, but it does
not reflect knowledge that NMA was operating without an Authorized User. In
fact, the Staff’s August 27, 1997 Order did not include October 1997 during
the period when either the Authorized User or RSO violations assertedly took
place.

In the October 17, 1996 letter, Dr. Ben-Haim wrote that he needed to know
the number of patients coming in on Saturday and the tests to be performed so
that he might ‘‘notify the technician and order the radiopharmaceuticals.”” We
find that, based on this information, he determined the 25-millicurie standard
dosage (although not the dosage subsequently administered to each patient) and
authorized its ordering and subsequent use. We do not accept his arguments
that the letter means anything other than what it says.
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Ms. Geylikman, the nuclear medicine technologist who performed the bone
scans, testified that the radioactive material as it was ordered was always 25
millicuries and that it came in unit doses of 25 millicuries for each patient. Tr.
191-92. She stated that 25 millicuries is a standard dose for an injection and
that she would be the one who would determine precisely how much to give the
patient. Tr. 199-200. She added that it makes some difference if the person is
large or small and that she knew how to adjust for the difference. Tr. 188, 192.
Ms. Geylikman, however, also testified that she did not determine how much
radioactive material to inject, but that each patient came with a doctor’s order
that said ‘‘what to do, what kind of scan to do, and how much is supposed to
be.”” Tr. 191, 198-99. Ms. Geylikman clarified in response to our questioning
that the doctors’ orders did not specify the amount of radioactive material to
inject. In this regard, the Board asked whether, when the patients came to NMA
bearing doctors’ orders for bone scans, it was she who determined the amount
of radioactive material to inject. She replied, ‘‘Actually, yes. And the same at
hospital, it’s the same. We know the standard order, the standard dose between
20 and 25, maybe 22, 23. It doesn’t matter.”” Tr. 200.

The Board then asked, ‘‘And you made some record of [dosage] for each . . .
patient?”’

Ms. Geylikman, replied, ‘‘Yes.”’

‘“‘And the amount?”’

“Yes.”’

‘‘But that would not be on a prescription as such?”’

“No.”” Tr. 202.

Ms. Geylikman’s clarification is consistent with Dr. Siegel’s testimony that
the referring physician would not likely specify the dose for a diagnostic
procedure. See Tr. 378-80. With respect to altering doses, Dr. Siegel testified
that it is not infrequent that nuclear medicine facilities have a procedure that says
something to the effect that if a dose of 25 millicuries is specified, an acceptable
dose is that number plus or minus 10%. Tr. 369. Further, that a facility would
create a policy on what allowable dose ranges are and that in many facilities
the allowable range is not in writing. Tr. 416-17; Tr. 370 (Siegel). He testified
that a technologist is not authorized to determine the range, but that the only
one who is authorized to write the prescription, which includes decisions about
deviations from standard doses as specified in the clinical procedures manual,
is the Authorized User. Tr. 370, 374. The decision to use 10 millicuries, 15
millicuries, or 20 millicuries is a decision made either on a patient-by-patient
basis, by the Authorized User, or made on a laboratory-by-laboratory basis
where they wish to be in the dose range. Tr. 373, 374 (Siegel).

Dr. Siegel further testified that nuclear medicine technologists are not con-
sidered licensed practitioners and would be unable to write a prescription and,
therefore, would be unable to vary the dose based on their own medical judg-
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ment (Tr. 375). He added that it is not permissible for a technologist to rely on
the direction of a physicist who is not a physician in administering an amount
to the patient (Tr. 370).

Based on the above testimony of Ms. Geylikman, we find that she injected
the radioactive material into the patients using 25 millicuries as a standard dose
because the material was ordered in unit doses of 25 millicuries and that is how
the nuclear pharmacy provided it. And they came in unit doses of 25 millicuries
because Dr. Ben-Haim determined that dosage and had them ordered as such.
We find that Dr. Ben-Haim deliberately brought about the use of radioactive
material at NMA without the authorization or involvement of the Authorized
User.

Mr. Kinneman testified that as part of his responsibilities he had to review the
information contained in the OI report and determine what actions needed to be
taken as a result (Tr. 107; see Staff Exh. 8). He reached his conclusions based
on the OI report, and he assisted in preparing the order against Dr. Ben-Haim
(Tr. 107-08 (Kinneman)).

Mr. Kinneman viewed 10 C.F.R. § 35.53(c)(3) to have been violated when Dr.
Ben-Haim provided the information and direction to the individuals who actually
did order the doses and who administered the doses to the patients (Tr. 278-79).
Stated otherwise, Dr. Ben-Haim directed the individual who ordered the dose,
and the dose was waiting for the nuclear medicine technician to administer it to
the patient (Tr. 327-28 (Kinneman)). Therefore, since there was no Authorized
User, the activities had occurred in the absence of the Authorized User. Tr. 279
(Kinneman). Mr. Kinneman added that Dr. Ben-Haim should have known that
there was no RSO or Authorized User at NMA (Tr. 445, 446). Mr. Kinneman
concluded that there was intention to continue without the RSO and Authorized
User (Tr. 448).

Mr. DelMedico testified that Dr. Ben-Haim violated 10 C.F.R. §30.10 if
he knew the instructions he was providing would bring about the possession
of byproduct material at NMA and he knew that before NMA could possess
byproduct material the approval of Dr. Moskowitz was needed. Tr. 683-84.

The Board adopts most of the Staff’s analysis. Dr. Ben-Haim was responsible
for ordering byproduct material, and he knew that it would be administered
without there being an Authorized User assigned to the facility. Dr. Ben-Haim
was also aware of the normal doses that would be administered, but he was not
aware of the particular doses that would be administered to individual patients.
That amount was determined by the technician, Ms. Geylikman, and was based
on her own past practice.

In short, we conclude that Dr. Ben-Haim’s actions in determining the doses to
be ordered without the involvement of the Authorized User was intentional and,
therefore, constituted a violation of 10 C.F.R. § 30.10. His knowledge that doses
in this general range would be administered to patients without an Authorized
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User also violates 10 C.F.R. § 30.10, even though he did not direct and was not
aware of particular doses administered. In this regard, we emphasize our earlier
finding that Dr. Ben-Haim was knowledgeable and held himself out to have
expertise in the NRC’s requirements and that he personally read and prepared
NMA'’s license application. He, therefore, knew what the requirements were
when he caused NMA to violate them.

4. Summary of Findings on Authorized User Violation

In summary, we conclude that Dr. Ben-Haim caused NMA to be in violation
of 10 C.F.R. §35.53(c)(3), by causing NMA to fail to maintain a record of the
quantity of radioactive material prescribed by the Authorized User, through his
actions of deliberately determining the dosages to be ordered, and the general
ranges of what would be administered to patients, without the Authorized User
having prescribed any dosage. Since no Authorized User was involved in the
determination of the dosage, there was no prescribed dosage as defined in 10
C.F.R. §35.2. That some records were kept, at the behest of Dr. Ben-Haim,
is not in itself to be condemned — indeed, it may serve as an ameliorative
factor even though those records were not prescribed by the Authorized User,
as required. Thus, the records that NMA kept did not fulfill the requirements
of 10 C.F.R. §35.53(c)(3), which requires the record to include the ‘‘prescribed
dosage.”’

We also find that Dr. Ben-Haim intentionally caused NMA to allow NMA
personnel to receive, possess, use, and transfer byproduct material without the
supervision of the Authorized User in violation of 10 C.F.R. §35.11(a) and (b).
Finally, we find that Dr. Ben-Haim intentionally caused NMA to operate without
any Authorized User, a clear violation of NMA’s license, if not from the start
of operations, at least from December 1996 on. Therefore, we conclude that
Dr. Ben-Haim violated 10 C.F.R. §30.10 by deliberately causing NMA to be
in violation of the above requirements.

K. The Appendix K Violation

We address separately that aspect of the Order that alleges that Dr. Ben-Haim
caused NMA to be in violation of a provision of its license that sets forth both
an RSO and an Authorized User responsibility. This ‘‘Appendix K’ violation
touches upon both roles and, therefore, we elected to address it separately from
those portions of our findings dealing specifically with the RSO and Authorized
User violations.

Under Condition 16 of NMA’s license, the Licensee is required to conduct
its program in accordance with the ‘‘statements, representations, and procedures
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contained in the documents, including any enclosures, listed below.”” Staff
Exh. 1. One such document is the license application. /d. License Condition 16
incorporates the application as a part of the license, ‘‘as part of the requirements
that the licensee must follow and as the basis for issuing the license.”” Tr. 82
(Kinneman).

Dr. Ben-Haim testified that he was familiar with the information in NMA’s
license application at supplemental Item 10, Radiation Safety Program. He
read Item 10.6, which states: ‘‘Ordering and receiving. We will establish and
implement a model guidance for ordering and receiving radioactive material
that was published in Appendix K to Regulatory Guide 10.8, Revision 2. Tr.
824; see Staff Exh. 2. He also read Appendix K, Regulatory Guide 10.2, Re-
vision 2 and attached it to NMA’s license application. Tr. 824. See Staff Exh. 2.
Dr. Ben-Haim read paragraph number 1 under the heading, ‘‘Model Guidance.’’
Tr. 825. That provision states:

The radiation safety officer, RSO, or a designee must authorize each order for radioactive
materials and ensure that the requested materials and quantities are authorized by the license
for use by the requesting authorized user and that possession limits are not exceeded.

See Staff Exh. 2.

Under the NMA license, Appendix K, only the RSO or a designee may autho-
rize each order for radioactive materials and ensure that the requested materials
and quantities are authorized by the license for use by the requesting Autho-
rized User and that possession limits are not exceeded. Tr. 285 (Kinneman).
See Staff Exh. 2. Mr. Kinneman testified that Dr. Ben-Haim’s actions caused
the Licensee to be in violation of this requirement because Dr. Ben-Haim pro-
vided the direction to the individual who actually ordered the licensed material
by saying how much should be ordered and where it should be ordered from.
Tr. 286.

Dr. Ben-Haim testified that Appendix K says that the RSO or a designee
can order, but that it does not specify whose designee. Tr. 808-09. ‘I do not
know that only the RSO or a designee of the RSO. It doesn’t say that. It says
or a designee.”” Tr. 808. Dr. Ben-Haim testified on cross-examination that he
“‘was not sure by whom’” and did not know what ‘‘designee’’” means. Tr. 825-26.
When asked whether he thought that designee meant Dr. Elamir, he stated that
he ‘‘did not know,”’ although he admitted that Dr. Elamir had little experience
with NRC requirements. Tr. 826.

We are unconvinced that Dr. Ben-Haim did not know that designee meant
anything other than a designee of the RSO. The subject of the sentence is clear
and lends itself to no other rational interpretation. We therefore find that Dr.
Ben-Haim deliberately caused the Licensee to be in violation of a condition of
its license and thus he violated 10 C.F.R. §30.10. In making our finding, we
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agree with the Staff that NMA’s license incorporates, by the terms of License
Condition 16, all parts of NMA’s license application, such that a violation of a
provision in the application constitutes a violation of the license.

III. SANCTION IMPOSED

Mr. R. Joseph DelMedico, a Senior NRC Enforcement Specialist in the
NRC’s Office of Enforcement, described the rationale for the sanction imposed
against Dr. Ben-Haim in the Staff’s Order. DelMedico, ff. Tr. 659, at 1-13. He
testified that the August 27, 1997 Order was issued to Dr. Ben-Haim because
the NRC Staff concluded that he deliberately caused NMA to be in violation of
NRC requirements and therefore violated 10 C.F.R. § 30.10(a). This conclusion
was based on the inspection report and OI Report. DelMedico, ff. Tr. 659, at
7; Tr. 668.

Mr. DelMedico testified that the Enforcement Policy, NUREG-1600, is the
Commission’s policy for exercising its authority to take actions to enforce its
regulatory requirements. DelMedico, ff. Tr. 659, at 4. See Staff Exh. 13. In his
view, according to the Enforcement Policy, enforcement actions may be taken
against individuals in situations including deliberately causing a licensee to be
in violation of NRC requirements, and recognizing a violation of procedural
requirements and deliberately not taking corrective action. DelMedico, ff.
Tr. 659, at 5. According to the Enforcement Policy, section VIII, orders to
unlicensed individuals may include provisions that would prohibit involvement
in NRC-licensed activities for a specified period of time and require the person
to tell a prospective employer or customer engaged in licensed activities that the
person has been subject to an NRC order. Id. at 7. The Enforcement Policy,
section VIII, further states that the particular sanction to be used for enforcement
actions involving individuals should be determined on a case-by-case basis. Id.
at 8.

Factors for deciding whether to issue an enforcement action to an unlicensed
individual (such as Dr. Ben-Haim) are set forth under section VIII of the
Enforcement Policy. Id. at 5. These factors are:

1. The level of the individual within the organization.

2. The individual’s training and experience as well as knowledge of the
potential consequences of the wrongdoing.

The safety consequences of the misconduct.

The benefit to the wrongdoer, e.g., personal or corporate gain.

5. The degree of supervision of the individual, e.g., how closely the
individual is monitored or audited, and the likelihood of detection.

6. The employer’s response, e.g., disciplinary action taken.

w
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7. The attitude of the wrongdoer, e.g., admission of wrongdoing, accep-
tance of responsibility.
8. The degree of management responsibility or culpability.
9. Who identified the misconduct.
DelMedico, ff. Tr. 659, at 5-6; Staff Exh. 13 (NUREG-1600), at 18.
Mr. DelMedico identified the following factors that were considered in
formulating the enforcement action against Dr. Ben-Haim:

Aharon Ben-Haim is a consultant who had contracted with the licensee to prepare for State
and NRC inspections, assure continuous monitoring of the laboratory in compliance with
NRC regulations, and assure that proper procedures were used in the handling of radioactive
material. It was apparent to the NRC Staff that Aharon Ben-Haim occupied a position
of specialized knowledge, trust, and authority in the eyes of [NMA], as well as any other
licensees for whom he might consult. This gave Aharon Ben-Haim the opportunity to have
broad influence over the degree of NRC compliance at such facilities.

Aharon Ben-Haim had experience in NRC compliance matters. In fact, he himself prepared
the NRC license application with commitments to follow a number of procedures that he
later caused the licensee to violate.

Since Aharon Ben-Haim was a consultant as opposed to an employee, his misconduct was
unlikely to receive a significant response from the licensee, such as demotion, probation,
or firing for cause. Presumably, if the licensee terminated Aharon Ben-Haim’s consulting
contract, he could still go on to consult at other facilities without the type of detailed check
on previous employment that would occur for the hiring of an employee.

There was tangible gain to Aharon Ben-Haim from his misconduct because the licensee’s
continued operation, even though it did not have a radiation safety officer or authorized user,
would allow Aharon Ben-Haim to continue to earn consulting fees.

The underlying licensee violations caused by Aharon Ben-Haim’s conduct continued in
duration from October 19, 1996 through January 25, 1997.

. . . Aharon Ben-Haim’s attitude toward the non-compliances caused by his actions was
that it was ‘‘impracticable to always abide by the small rules.”’

DelMedico, ff. Tr. 659, at 9-10.

According to Mr. DelMedico, if the factors weigh against an individual,
consideration is given to increasing the sanction for that individual; and if they
weigh in favor of an individual, consideration is given to reducing the sanction
based on that factor. Tr. 728-29. These factors do not necessarily carry equal
weight. Tr. 729 (DelMedico).

Regarding the gain Dr. Ben-Haim was expected to receive from engaging
in this particular misconduct, Mr. DelMedico found tangible gain because
the Licensee’s continued operation allowed Dr. Ben-Haim to continue to earn
consulting fees. Tr. 693. In particular, Dr. Ben-Haim’s agreement with NMA
provided for a yearly fee of $16,000 payable quarterly at the beginning of each
quarter. Tr. 693 (DelMedico); see Staff Exh. 8§, OI Exh. 7 at 2. When asked
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by the Board whether the Staff’s deliberation was influenced by the fact that
there were no safety consequences of Dr. Ben-Haim’s deliberate misconduct,
Mr. DelMedico testified that the Staff was concerned with the potential safety
consequences of an individual who could influence a wide number of licensees,
and that the Staff was more concerned with potential safety consequences than
actual safety consequences. Tr. 722.

Mr. DelMedico testified on cross-examination that the most important factor
is the attitude of the wrongdoer. Tr. 729-30. Regarding this factor, he stated
that the Commission has addressed the issue of attitude as follows:

The Commission believes that in addressing the issue of future involvement of an individual
in licensed activity, where safety is crucial, it is proper to consider the individual’s attitude
toward compliance with safety practices and regulations. Recognition and admission of
past errors indicates a more positive attitude than continuing denial or hostility, and thus
enhances the Commission’s reasonable assurance that licensed activities will be conducted
in a manner that protects public health and safety. However, attitude is only one factor and
is not controlling in the overall determination of appropriate action.

DelMedico, ff. Tr. 659, at 11; see Staff Exh. 14, at 40,676.

In the opinion of Mr. DelMedico, the second important factor is the severity
level of the underlying violations. Tr. 730. The violations that were caused by
Dr. Ben-Haim’s actions would be categorized at Severity Level II under section
IV of the Enforcement Policy. DelMedico, ff. Tr. 659, at 9. The severity level
of the violations, however, is one consideration of many. Tr. 755. Other factors
would have been whether Dr. Ben-Haim engaged in deliberate misconduct at
another facility or whether the deliberate misconduct was self-reported to the
NRC. Tr. 731 (DelMedico).

We find that the Staff considered factors appropriate in determining the
sanction to be imposed against Dr. Ben-Haim. But it appears not to have
considered, or at least to have de-emphasized, other relevant factors that we
regard as worthy of consideration in this case.

In particular, we are guided (as was the Staff) by the importance the
Commission places on the individual’s attitude toward compliance with the
Commission’s requirements. We believe that the evidence supports a finding
that Dr. Ben-Haim displayed a cavalier attitude toward compliance with the
Commission’s requirements and that he considered that it was ‘‘impractical to
always abide by the small rules.”” We observed during the course of the hearing
that Dr. Ben-Haim was not forthcoming in all aspects of his testimony, and
we determined that his attitude to that extent falls short of what is required
of a consultant to NRC licensees and applicants providing advice regarding
compliance with NRC requirements. For example, we find that portions of Dr.
Ben-Haim’s testimony were successfully impeached when he was confronted
with his October 17, 1996 letter. He had testified that he did not authorize
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the ordering of radioactive material and that his involvement in this regard was
minimal. Yet, the letter that he wrote to Dr. Elamir, which conveys a sense of
urgency, shows that he was an active and knowing participant in the ordering
of radiopharmaceuticals and, in fact, was the initiator of this activity.

The letter does not, on its face, reflect whether Dr. Ben-Haim knew at that
time whether Dr. Moskowitz was acting as RSO and Authorized User. Nor does
the record reflect how Dr. Elamir responded to the letter or, indeed, whether he
informed Dr. Ben-Haim on the status of the RSO or Authorized User. Thus,
we do not regard the letter as evidence of willful violation on the part of Dr.
Ben-Haim.

We also agree with the Staff that it was appropriate to consider that Dr.
Ben-Haim occupied a position of authority in the eyes of NMA and other
entities for whom he may have consulted. Further, Dr. Ben-Haim was not a
person unfamiliar with the Commission’s requirements — indeed, he prepared
the application for the very license that he caused NMA to violate. The Board
finds that the Staff correctly took these factors into account, as well as those
pertaining to the tangible gain to Dr. Ben-Haim from the violations, and the fact
that as a consultant, his conduct might otherwise go unchecked.

Under the Enforcement Policy, section IV.C, willful violations, which include
deliberate violations, are of particular concern to the Commission because its
regulatory program is based on licensees and their consultants acting with
integrity; and thus deliberate violations cannot be tolerated by the Commission.
DelMedico, ff. Tr. 659, at 9; Staff Exh. 14. The Commission relies on the
licensee and its contractors and its employees to conduct their operations with
integrity and in complete compliance with NRC regulations. It is a matter of
trust. Tr. 690 (DelMedico). To this end, Mr. DelMedico testified that ‘it
only takes once — one time of deliberate misconduct for the Commission to
lose confidence in the ability of the individual to conduct licensed activities in
compliance with Commission requirements.”” Tr. 719.

Mr. DelMedico further explained that there is a serious question as to how, in
the absence of having an inspector there daily or some other form of continuous
audit, the Commission can possibly have confidence that an individual who
engaged in deliberate misconduct, even if only one time, would not do the
same thing another time, either at the same facility or at another one. Tr. 715-
16. The Order against Dr. Ben-Haim concluded that the NRC could not have
confidence that licensed activities could be conducted safely and in compliance
with NRC requirements if Dr. Ben-Haim were to be permitted to be involved in
licensed activities. DelMedico, ff. Tr. 659, at 11-12. We agree with the Staff’s
assessment in this regard and find that the Commission has made it clear that it
cannot tolerate willful violations, even if committed only once.

Mr. DelMedico testified that the sanction in this case was established with a
view to three specific goals: (1) protection of the public health and safety by
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prohibiting a person who has been known to engage in deliberate misconduct
from involvement in NRC-licensed activities; (2) deterring other individuals
from engaging in deliberate misconduct that involves licensed activities; and (3)
rehabilitation of the individual. DelMedico, ff. Tr. 659, at 11-12. In his view,
the duration of a sanction against an individual who has engaged in deliberate
misconduct should be chosen with the intent that the sanction will restore the
Commission’s confidence in that individual’s ability to conduct licensed activities
with integrity and candor at the end of the sanction period. DelMedico, ff. Tr.
659, at 13.

According to Mr. DelMedico, a 5-year suspension from licensed activities
is a sufficient time such that, should Dr. Ben-Haim decide to become involved
in licensed activities in the future, he will appreciate the importance of strict
compliance with all Commission requirements. DelMedico, ff. Tr. 659, at 13.
This was the same period initially sought against Dr. Elamir, for essentially the
same enunciated rationale, but with respect to whom the Staff later settled for a
3-year suspension. Magdy Elamir, M.D., LBP-98-25, 48 NRC 226.

The Board recognizes that the Staff applied appropriate factors in assessing
its proposed penalty against Dr. Ben-Haim but believes that other factors also
need be considered. In the first place, Dr. Ben-Haim’s conduct resulted in
no safety consequences, only the potential for such consequences. One of the
explicit relevant factors identified by Mr. DelMedico — the third factor included
in Part VIII of NUREG-1600, Staff Exhibit 13, at 18 — was thus apparently
de-emphasized in the Staff’s assessment.

Further, it is unclear to us whether Dr. Ben-Haim’s knowledge of the violations
commenced prior to December 1996. Even though at that time Dr. Ben-Haim
was fully aware of the RSO and Authorized User violations, he should not, in
our view, be charged with knowing, intentional violations prior to that date. We
note that Mr. DelMedico evaluated the intentional conduct as commencing as
early as October 19, 1996 (DelMedico, ff. Tr. 659, at 10) but do not believe
the record supports an intentional violation prior to December 1996. Thus, the
two documents (Staff Exhs. 8(a) and 15) that the Staff relies on to demonstrate
intentional violations at the time they were written (October 1996) do not, in our
opinion, demonstrate a wilfulness or intent to violate NRC regulations at the time
the documents were written.

Further, the Staff has given no credence to Dr. Ben-Haim’s acknowledgment
of and apologies for his wrongdoing. Though late in coming, we believe that Dr.
Ben-Haim’s acknowledgement and apologies set forth in his proposed findings
are worthy of some recognition.

Finally, the Staff did not give adequate consideration to factor 8 outlined by
Mr. DelMedico, the degree of management culpability in the violations. Even
though Dr. Elamir was not technically knowledgeable in radiological matters,
it was clearly his business responsibility to hire an RSO and Authorized User.
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There is no record that he ever did so, although he apparently advised Dr. Ben-
Haim that he was negotiating for an RSO (Tr. 440 (Kinneman), 527 (Wilson)).
Further, only Dr. Elamir could know with certainty that there was no RSO in
the employ of NMA but there is no record that he ever explicitly informed Dr.
Ben-Haim of that critical fact. It was the Staff position that Dr. Ben-Haim had
the duty to infer that there was no functioning RSO present. However, such
inferences require information, and inferences adverse to an employer require a
high degree of certainty. Nevertheless, Dr. Ben-Haim made such an inference
sometime in December 1996 and approached Dr. Elamir. However, according
to uncontradicted testimony, Dr. Elamir was unresponsive. Thus, Dr. Ben-Haim
decided, wrongfully as it turned out, not to ‘‘make waves’’ and to let the matter
pass. From that point on, we find that he willfully permitted and acquiesced
in the continued operation of NMA contrary to NRC regulations. Perhaps he
should have acted more decisively with Dr. Elamir; however, Dr. Ben-Haim
was not a company officer and did not have the authority to order operations
to cease. Thus, it appears that Dr. Ben-Haim’s culpability was to some degree
subordinate to Dr. Elamir’s and accordingly less serious than asserted by the
Staff, even though still deserving of sanction.

Moreover, it appears that Dr. Ben-Haim was compromised by Dr. Elamir
at the inspection conducted by the Staff on January 29, 1997. The Staff had
informed Dr. Elamir prior to the inspection that it wanted either Dr. Elamir or
the RSO to be present at the inspection. Dr. Elamir requested Dr. Ben Haim to
attend but there is no record to reflect that Dr. Ben-Haim was informed that he
was appearing in the place of the RSO that was requested. Given that situation,
it is small wonder that the Staff came to believe that Dr. Ben-Haim had arrogated
the role of RSO to himself. We find that appearance resulted from the actions
or omissions of Dr. Elamir and was not evidence in itself that Dr. Ben-Haim
knowingly acted as RSO.

In addition, the Staff has compared Dr. Ben-Haim’s violations with those
for Severity Level II, which under the Enforcement Policy are applied both
to the imposition of orders (as here) and to the assessment of civil penalties.
NUREG-1600 (Staff Exh. 13). With respect to civil penalties, the Enforcement
Policy states that the gravity of the violation is the primary consideration but that
‘“‘ability to pay’’ may also be considered: ‘it is not the NRC’s intention that
the economic impact of a civil penalty be so severe that it puts a licensee out
of business.”” NUREG-1600, citing 60 Fed. Reg. at 34,387.

Similar considerations may be applied to suspension orders. Given the
circumstance that Dr. Ben-Haim was age 65 when the Order was issued and
would be age 70 at the end of the 5-year suspension, the suspension sought
by the Staff could very well be practically equated to a death sentence against
further involvement in nuclear activities. (An order barring further participation
could have been, but was not, sought.)
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Beyond that, the Commission has clearly indicated that the length of a
suspension is discretionary. Mr. DelMedico testified that penalties in cases such
as this could range anywhere from ‘‘no action at all’’ to a 10-year suspension
(Tr. 699.)

Comparing the proposed 5-year suspension of Dr. Ben-Haim with the 3-year
suspension recently approved by the Staff and sanctioned by a Licensing Board
comprised of the same Administrative Judges as this one with respect to Dr.
Elamir — see LBP-98-25, supra® — the 5-year period of time for the proposed
suspension of Dr. Ben-Haim is excessive. The following additional factors must
also be taken into account: (1) Dr. Ben-Haim’s age — 65 at the onset of the
suspension (see Exhs. BH-6, BH-8); (2) his admission of his mistakes and his
apology set forth in his proposed findings; (3) the fact that the violations resulted
in no safety consequences (only the potential for such consequences); (4) the fact
that the willful and intentional violations did not commence prior to December
1996; and (5) the fact that Dr. Ben-Haim’s violation was at least influenced
by Dr. Elamir. Based on these additional factors, we find that only a 3-year
prohibition from NRC-licensed activities is appropriate and justified, coupled
with the reporting requirements imposed by the Staff (which we do not modify)
for any NRC-licensed activities performed for 5 years following expiration of
the suspension. The suspension of Dr. Ben-Haim will expire July 31, 2000.

IV. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The Board has considered all of the evidence presented by the parties
pertaining to the Staff’s Order prohibiting Dr. Ben-Haim’s involvement in NRC-
licensed activities. Based upon a review of the entire record in this proceeding
and the proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law submitted by the
parties, and based on the findings of fact set forth herein, which are supported
by reliable, probative and substantial evidence in the record, the Board has
decided all matters in controversy and reaches the following conclusions.

Based on the foregoing findings of fact, the Board finds that Dr. Ben-Haim
caused NMA to be in violation of the following Commission regulations: 10
C.FR. §§35.11(a) and (b), 35.13, 35.21, 35.53(c)(3). The Board also finds that
Dr. Ben-Haim caused NMA to be in violation of License Conditions 12, 13, and
16. We find that these actions were deliberate on the part of Dr. Ben-Haim,
for the period beginning in December 1996, and, thus, he violated 10 C.F.R.
§30.10.

Swe acknowledge, however, that the 3-year suspension of Dr. Elamir was probably based in part on the fact
that there was a settlement among the parties in that proceeding but also note that the fact of settlement should
have little to do with the trust that the Commission may be able to place in the individual.
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Based on those violations and the testimony and documentary evidence
submitted in this proceeding, the Board finds that the Staff has sufficiently met
its burden of proof (except with respect to the length of the proposed suspension)
and has shown by a preponderance of the evidence that the Order should be
sustained (but modified to reduce the suspension from 5 to 3 years). Under
the Order, the Staff also has discretion to reduce further the suspension, upon
request by Dr. Ben-Haim.

V. ORDER

On the basis of the foregoing opinion, including findings of fact, conclusions
of law, and the entire record, it is, this 8th day of February 1999, ORDERED:

1. The Staff’s August 27, 1997, ‘‘Order Superseding Order Prohibiting In-
volvement in NRC-Licensed Activities (Effective Immediately),”” is MODIFIED
and, as so modified, SUSTAINED.

2. This Initial Decision is effective immediately and, in accordance with 10
C.F.R. §2.760 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice, shall become the final
action of the Commission forty (40) days from the date of its issuance, unless
any party petitions for Commission review in accordance with 10 C.F.R. §2.786
or the Commission takes review sua sponte. See 10 C.F.R. §2.786.

3. Within fifteen (15) days after service of this Decision, any party may
seek review of this Decision by filing a petition for review by the Commission
on the grounds specified in 10 C.F.R. § 2.786(b)(4). The filing of the petition for
review is mandatory for Dr. Ben-Haim to exhaust his administrative remedies
before seeking judicial review. 10 C.F.R. § 2.786(b)(2).

4. The petition for review shall be no longer than ten (10) pages and shall
contain the information set forth in 10 C.F.R. §2.786(b)(2). Any other party
may, within ten (10) days after service of a petition for review, file an answer
supporting or opposing Commission review. Such an answer shall be no longer
than ten (10) pages and, to the extent appropriate, should concisely address the
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matters in 10 C.F.R. §2.786(b)(2). A petitioning party shall have no right to
reply, except as permitted by the Commission.

THE ATOMIC SAFETY AND
LICENSING BOARD

Charles Bechhoefer, Chairman
ADMINISTRATIVE JUDGE

Dr. Jerry R. Kline
ADMINISTRATIVE JUDGE

Dr. Peter S. Lam
ADMINISTRATIVE JUDGE

Rockville, Maryland
February 8, 1999

[Appendix A has been omitted from this publication but can be found in the
NRC Public Document Room, 2120 L Street, NW, Washington, DC 20555.]
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Cite as 49 NRC 107(1999) LBP-99-5

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

ATOMIC SAFETY AND LICENSING BOARD PANEL

Before Administrative Judges:

Peter B. Bloch, Presiding Officer
Richard F. Cole, Special Assistant

In the Matter of Docket No. 40-8681-MLA-4
(ASLBP No. 98-748-03-MLA)
(Re: Material License Amendment)

INTERNATIONAL URANIUM (USA)
CORPORATION
(Receipt of Material from
Tonawanda, New York) February 9, 1999

The Presiding Officer affirmed the grant of a license to Applicant to receive
Ashland 2 material from Tonawanda, New York. He rejected the argument of the
State of Utah that ‘‘the Amendment does not comply with Commission Guidance
because the material is not byproduct material and must therefore be disposed
of at an appropriate facility rather than being subject to ‘sham disposal.””’
Instead, the Presiding Officer reasoned that the material being received by IUSA
is ore because it ‘‘is processed primarily for its source material content when
the extraction of source material is the principal reason for processing the ore.
Under those circumstances, the material falls within the NRC’s jurisdiction over
the uranium fuel cycle.”’

BYPRODUCT MATERIAL: ORE; 42 U.S.C. §2014e(2)

Under 42 U.S.C. §2014e(2) the phrase ‘‘processed primarily for its source
material content’” should be given its natural meaning. The adverb ‘‘primarily’’
modifies the verb ‘‘processed.”” Therefore, ore is processed primarily for its
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source material content when the extraction of source material is the principal
reason for processing the ore. Under those circumstances, the material falls
within the NRC’s jurisdiction over the uranium fuel cycle.

BYPRODUCT MATERIAL: ORE; ALTERNATE FEED GUIDANCE

The Proposed Position and Guidance on the Use of Uranium Mill Feed Ma-
terial Other Than Natural Ores, 57 Fed. Reg. 20,525, 20,533 (1992) (‘‘Alternate
Feed Guidance’’) makes it clear that if source material is extracted from a ma-
terial at a licensed uranium mill, then the material is considered to be ‘‘ore,”’
providing that it does not contain hazardous waste and that it is processed so
that a useable product, uranium, is extracted from it.

INITIAL DECISION
(Denying the Relief Requested by the State of Utah)

The State of Utah’s Written Presentation pursuant to 10 C.F.R. §2.1233
is titled, ‘‘Brief in Opposition to International Uranium (USA) Corporation’s
Source Material License Amendment,”” December 7, 1998 (Brief). This brief
and the responses to it! form the basis for the determination of whether the
State’s concerns should be sustained or dismissed.

The license amendment Utah complains of, Amendment 6, allows the Interna-
tional Uranium (USA) Corporation (IUSA) to process as an alternate feedstock
at its mill certain uranium-bearing material from the Ashland 2 site located
in Tonawanda, New York. The Ashland 2 site is administered by the Army
Corps of Engineers (‘“‘USACE’’) under the Department of Energy’s (‘‘DOE’s’’)
Formerly Utilized Sites Remedial Action Program (FUSRAP).2

The State’s principal argument is that the Amendment does not comply with
Commission guidance because the material is not byproduct material and must
therefore be disposed of at an appropriate facility rather than being subject to
“‘sham disposal.’’ It maintains that ‘‘11e.(2) byproduct material requires that the
ore be ‘processed * * * primarily for its source material content’ and thus would
not permit . . . sham disposals.”” (Emphasis in original.) Brief at 4-5, citing

!'The International Uranium (USA) Corporation’s (IUSA) Reply was filed on January 19, 1999, and the Staff
of the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission’s (Staff) Reply was filed on January 29, 1999.

2 The FUSRAP program was established by the Atomic Energy Commission (‘‘AEC’’) in 1974, to clean up and
control radioactive contamination at sites associated with activities that were previously carried out on behalf of
the Manhattan Engineering District, its successor the AEC, and other related entities during the early days of
the nation’s nuclear program. See generally U.S. Department of Energy, The Formerly Utilized Sites Remedial
Action Program (FUSRAP): Building Stakeholder Partnerships to Achieve Effective Cleanup, DOE/EM-0233
(April 1995).
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Proposed Position and Guidance on the Use of Uranium Mill Feed Material Other
Than Natural Ores, 57 Fed. Reg. 20,525, 20,533 (1992) (‘ ‘Proposed Guidance’”).

I conclude that the State misconstrues the Atomic Energy Act, which defines
as byproduct materials ‘‘the tailings or wastes produced by the extraction or
concentration of uranium or thorium from any ore processed primarily for its
source material content.”” Atomic Energy Act of 1954 as amended, 42 U.S.C.
§2014e(2).

The State interprets ‘‘processed primarily for’’ to require a test of motive or
purpose. It argues that the IUSA is processing this material primarily for the
fee it is being paid for receiving the material and it attempts to show that the
fee exceeds the amount of money that will be recovered by extracting uranium
from the material.

While the State’s argument has some superficial appeal, the phrase  ‘processed
primarily for its source material content’’ should be given its natural meaning.
The adverb ‘‘primarily’’ modifies the verb, ‘‘processed.”” Therefore, ore is
processed primarily for its source material content when the extraction of
source material is the principal reason for processing the ore. Under those
circumstances, the material falls within the NRC’s jurisdiction over the uranium
fuel cycle.* Accordingly, when the extraction of uranium is the principal reason
that ore is processed, it meets the test of this section and is byproduct material.*
If, on the other hand, the material were processed primarily to remove some
other substances (vanadium, titanium, coal, etc.) and the extraction of uranium
was incidental, then the processing would not fall within the statutory test and it
would not be byproduct material within the meaning of the Atomic Energy Act.
That is, the adverb, ‘‘primarily,”” applies to what is removed from the material
by the process and not to the motivation for undertaking the process.

This reading is consistent with the Uranium Mill Tailings Radiation and
Control Act of 1978, as amended (UMTRCA), 2(b)(2), 42 U.S.C. § 7901, which
states that a purpose of that Act is

to regulate mill tailings during uranium or thorium ore processing at active mill operations
and after termination of such operations in order to stabilize and control such tailings in a safe
and environmentally sound manner and to minimize or eliminate radiation health hazards to
the public.

Moreover, the legislative history of the definition of byproduct material incorpo-
rated into Section 11e(2) of the Atomic Energy Act shows that it was intended
to focus on the nuclear fuel cycle. NRC Chairman, Joseph M. Hendrie, testified:

3 See Chairman Hendrie’s remarks on p. 110.

4 There are two reasons to remove uranium: the value of the material that is removed and the reduced expense
of disposing of the material. Ordinarily, material processed at a nuclear fuel cycle facility would be considered
to be processed primarily to remove uranium.
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[T]he intent of the language is to keep NRC’s regulatory authority primarily in the field of the
nuclear fuel cycle. Not to extend this out into such things as phosphate mining and perhaps
even limestone mining, which are operations that do disturb the radium-bearing crust of the
Earth and produce some exposures, but those activities are not connected with the nuclear
fuel cycle. . . .

Uranium Mill Tailings Radiation Control Act of 1978: Hearings on H.R. 11698,
H.R. 12229, H.R. 12938, H.R. 12535, H.R. 13049, and H.R. 13650 Before
the Subcomm. on Energy and Power of the House Comm. on Interstate and
Foreign Commerce, 95th Cong. 343-44 (1978) (statement of Joseph N. Hendrie,
Chairman of Nuclear Regulatory Commission).

This definition of byproduct material reaches a sound practical result in this
case. The State of Utah describes the transaction in this case, at 6-8 of its Brief,
as follows:

The Ashland 2 material is located on a U.S. Army Corps of Engineer’s (‘‘USACE” or
““Corps’’) Formerly Utilized Site Remedial Action Program (‘‘FUSRAP’’) site at Tonawanda,
New York. ICF Kaiser is the Corps’ prime contractor for the cleanup of the FUSRAP
Tonawanda site. As discussed in Mr. Herbert’s Testimony, the State obtained a copy of
ICF Kaiser’s request, price analysis, and summary of waste disposal alternatives submitted
to the Corps in support of the award of a contract to IUSA ‘‘for material handling and
disposal services’’ for the Ashland 2 material. See Exhibit 3 attached to Mr. Herbert’s
testimony.[*] According to ICF Kaiser’s Price Analysis, ICF Kaiser conducted a market
survey to ‘‘determine the firms who regularly provide material handling and waste disposal
services.”” All the firms identified, with the exception of IUSA, are permitted as waste
disposal facilities (i.e., Envirocare, Envirosafe, Laidlaw, and Waste Control Specialists).

Under the contract, ICF Kaiser will pay transportation costs to deliver the Ashland 2 material
to the White Mesa mill. I[USA will collect a material handling and disposal fee of $90/cubic
yard of Ashland 2 material received at the mill. IUSA initially estimated that the Ashland 2
material would contain a maximum of 25,000 dry tons. However, IUSA has now informed
the State that the amount of Ashland 2 material it will receive will be as much as 45,000 cubic
yards. Herbert Testimony at 6. Based on this latest estimate of the amount of material IUSA
will receive, the material handling and disposal fees total $4,050,000. Herbert Testimony
at 9. Additionally, Mr. Herbert used the current market price of yellowcake and various
estimates of Ashland 2’s uranium concentration to calculate possible value of uranium that
could be processed from the Ashland 2 material. Without waste-specific density data, Mr.
Herbert used the assumption that the density of the Ashland 2 material ranges from 80 to
100 Ibs/cubic foot. Herbert Testimony at 6.

5The State has independently obtained a copy of the signed contract between IUSA and ICF Kaiser. TUSA
has asserted to the State that this contract should be treated as confidential. As the information in the contract
is not inconsistent with the information that ICF Kaiser presented to the Corps, the State will forego, for now,
introducing the IUSA-ICF Kaiser contract into evidence in this proceeding. However, [USA has itself disclosed
contract cost information to NRC in the Ashland 2 license amendment request. See Attachment 3 thereto (USACE
Value Engineering Proposal for Ashland 1 and Ashland 2).
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The range of potential uranium values, based on weight percent of uranium-238 listed in
Tonawanda FUSRAP documents, is as follows:

Value Density Uranium Content
$ 68,040 80 Ibs/cubic foot 0.008 percent
$ 85,050 100 Ibs/cubic foot 0.008 percent
$221,130 80 Ibs/cubic foot 0.026 percent
$276,413 100 Ibs/cubic foot 0.026 percent
$493,290 80 Ibs/cubic foot 0.058 percent
$616,613 100 Ibs/cubic foot 0.058 percent

Herbert Testimony at 8. Thus, the gross value from uranium extraction — which does not
take into account the costs of extracting the material — ranges from $68,000 to a little more
than $600,000 depending on the actual density of the material and its total uranium content.
Id.

I conclude that the scenario presented by the State of Utah is a good practical
argument for permitting the milling of uranium contained in the Ashland 2
materials. First, IUSA produced the lowest bid for recycling these materials.
Why? As the State of Utah has explained, IUSA would remove some uranium
from the materials and would make at least a small profit on that activity.
Second, from an environmental standpoint, it is preferable to extract uranium
before burying waste materials that contained it. Third, even the State of Utah
projects a net profit from the milling activity. Hence, it is reasonable to predict
that the milling will actually occur. Since the milling will occur, it is not a
‘‘sham’’ as the State has argued. It is real.

Here is the way that ITUSA expressed this same point on page 55 of its Reply:

TUSA will be recycling substantial quantities of a valuable material. As already discussed,
even based on the conservative numbers calculated by the State, IUSA is likely to recover
between 8,000 to 70,000 pounds of uranium from its processing of the Ashland 2 material.
In all likelihood, if IUSA were not processing the Ashland 2 material this substantial
quantity of valuable uranium would be lost to disposal. Recovering and recycling such
a substantial quantity of valuable uranium is an important benefit, and provides an additional
justification for TUSA’s certification.” This was perceived to be a benefit by USACE, the
agency administering remediation of the Ashland 2 site, which is one of the reasons why

61t seems to me that the only ‘‘sham’’ that stops material from being byproduct material is if it is not actually
milled. If it is milled, then it is not a sham.

"Indeed, as EPA has noted, recycling can be legitimate and beneficial even if it is not profitable. See generally
63 Fed. Reg. at 28,556.
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TUSA was chosen by USACE and committed contractually to process the Ashland 2 materials
for the recovery of uranium;3

Second, by recovering uranium from the Ashland 2 material, IUSA’s processing makes the
material less radioactive, thereby reducing the hazards associated with its ultimate disposition
and, in effect, making it safer for disposal. This was also perceived to be a benefit by the
USACE and hence is another reason that IUSA was chosen to and contractually committed
to process the Ashland 2 materials for the recovery of uranium;

Third, recycling the Ashland 2 material provides a benefit to the government, and therefore to
the public at large, by allowing the FUSRAP program to reduce its inventories of unwanted
materials and accomplish environment clean-up in a manner that is environmentally sound,
that is cost efficient, and that allows for the recovery of a valuable product that would
otherwise be disposed;

Fourth, the Ashland 2 materials are 1le.(2) byproduct materials that originated from
conventional ores and are therefore chemically, radiologically and physically similar to the
existing Mill tailings and should be expected to be able to be processed for the recovery of
uranium at the Mill; and,

Finally, IUSA has a history of successfully extracting uranium from alternate feed materials
and has developed credibility with the NRC, not only for being technically competent, but
also for fulfilling its proposals to recover uranium from alternate feeds.

The Alternate Feed Guidance is not supportive of the position, taken by the

State

of Utah, that material is to be considered byproduct only if the primary

economic motivation is to remove uranium rather than to dispose of waste. For

example, on page 4 of its Brief, the State quotes the following out of context:

the potential of converting material that would have to be disposed of as [Low Level
Radioactive Waste (‘‘LLW’’)] or mixed waste into ore, for processing and disposal as 11e.(2)
byproduct material. The possibility of converting such wastes to 11e.(2) byproduct material
can be very attractive to owners of such material. . . . An owner of such material could
pay a mill operator substantially less to process it for its uranium content and dispose of the
resulting 11e.(2) byproduct material than to dispose of the material as waste at an appropriate

facility.

8Thus, in its value engineering proposal for disposition of the Ashland 2 material, the USACE specifically listed
among the advantages associated with IUSA’s processing of the material:

ADVANTAGES
1. Conforms to Congressional and regulatory mandates which encourage use of recycling.
2. Reduces radioactivity of the material to be disposed of.

3. Recycles uranium and other minerals.

7. Actual cost savings for treatment and disposal versus cost of direct disposal can only be greater than
projected in this proposal, depending upon the actual content of recoverable uranium or other minerals
found in the waste stream.

See USACE Value Engineering Proposal, Proposal No. C-11, originally included with ITUSA’s license amendment
application, by letter from Michelle R. Rehmann to Joseph J. Holonich (May 8, 1998). [See IUSA Response,

Exh.7.]
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Proposed Position and Guidance on the Use of Uranium Mill Feed Material
Other Than Natural Ores, 57 Fed. Reg. 20,525, 20,533 (1992) (*‘Alternate Feed
Guidance’’).

I find the interpretation of the State of Utah to be misleading because this
same Alternate Feed Guidance, at 20,532-33, makes it clear that if source
material is extracted from a material at a licensed uranium mill, then the material
is considered to be ‘‘ore,”’ providing that it does not contain hazardous waste®
and that it is processed so that a useable product, uranium, is extracted from
it. Accordingly, I conclude that IUSA meets the requirements of statute and
guidance. It is not involved in a sham. It is milling ore and its license was
appropriately granted to it.'°

ORDER

For all the foregoing reasons and upon consideration of the entire record in
this matter, it is, this 9th day of February 1999, ORDERED that:

1. The relief requested by the State of Utah in its December 7, 1998, ‘‘Brief
in Opposition to International Uranium (USA) Corporation’s Source Material
License Amendment’’ is denied.

2. This Decision is reviewable under 10 C.F.R. §2.1253, pursuant to the
procedures set forth in 10 C.F.R. §§2.786 and 2.763. The petition for review
must be filed within 15 days of the service of this Decision..

Peter B. Bloch, Presiding Officer
ADMINISTRATIVE JUDGE

Rockville, Maryland

9 The State of Utah has satisfied itself that the Ashland 2 material does not contain hazardous waste. Utah Brief
at 3. The adequacy of the Staff’s safety review is irrelevant. Curators of the University of Missouri, CLI-95-1,
41 NRC 71, 121 (1995).

10The State has failed to show any material respect in which the Staff’s environmental review of this license
amendment was deficient. The assertion that the State’s regulations may be more stringent than the NRC’s does
not demonstrate the inadequacy of the environmental review.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

ATOMIC SAFETY AND LICENSING BOARD

Before Administrative Judges:

G. Paul Bollwerk, lll, Chairman
Dr. Jerry R. Kline
Dr. Peter S. Lam

In the Matter of Docket No. 72-22-ISFSI
(ASLBP No. 97-732-02-ISFSI)

PRIVATE FUEL STORAGE, L.L.C.
(Independent Spent Fuel Storage
Installation) February 17, 1999

In this proceeding concerning the application of Private Fuel Storage, L.L.C.
(PFS), under 10 C.F.R. Part 72 to construct and operate an independent spent
fuel storage installation (ISFSI), the Licensing Board approves a notice of
withdrawal, with prejudice, submitted by Intervenors Castle Rock Land and
Livestock, L.C., and Skull Valley Company, Ltd., and denies the request of
Intervenor State of Utah to adopt their contentions as late-filed.

RULE